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Minimum: $10,000,000 (10,000 Trust Units)
Maximum: $30,000,000 (30,000 Trust Units)
(the “Offering”)
This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of up to 30,000 units (each, a “Trust Unit”) of REALnorth Opportunities
Fund (the “Trust”), an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust governed by the laws of the Province of British
Columbia and created pursuant to the Trust Declaration (herein defined), at a price of $1,000 per Trust Unit
(the “Offering Price”). Purchasers are required to acquire a minimum of ten Trust Units. Additional
subscriptions may be made of single Trust Units.
The Trust was established primarily for the purpose of investing in revenue-producing and development properties
including industrial and commercial opportunities, as well as multi-family and other residential real estate
opportunities in Western Canada’s North.
Price: $1,000 per Trust Unit
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Proceeds to
the Trust(3)
$940
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$9,400,000
$28,200,000

The Offering Price was determined by negotiation between the Co-Lead Agents (herein defined) and the Trust. No
third-party valuation was obtained.
A commission and fees will be paid to the Agents (herein defined) and any sub-agents in connection with this Offering,
at a rate equal to 6% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (the “Agents’ Commission”). As a further incentive to the
Agents or any sub-agents, the Master GP (herein defined) has agreed to pay to the Agents or any sub-agents a trailer fee
equal to 10% of any amounts realized by the Master GP in respect of its Incentive Management Interest (herein
defined). The Agents may, but are not obligated to, assign all or part of their compensation entitlements to sub-agents
effecting sales of Trust Units. Pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement (herein defined), the Agents’
Commission and expenses incurred with respect to the Offering will be borne entirely by the Master LP (herein
defined) (see “Plan of Distribution – Agency Agreement”).
Before deduction of the balance of the expenses of the Offering, inclusive of agents’ fees and expenses, estimated at
$375,000, which, in any event, will not exceed the lesser of either 1.5% of the maximum Offering or 2.0% of the gross
proceeds of the Offering.
Purchasers are required to acquire a minimum of ten Trust Units. Additional subscriptions may be made of single Trust
Units.

Unless an amendment to the Final Prospectus (herein defined) is filed and the British Columbia Securities
Commission, as principal regulator pursuant to Part 3 of Multilateral Instrument 11-102 – Passport System, has

issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities will cease within 90 days after the date of the
Receipt for the Final Prospectus. If an amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the principal regulator has
issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities will cease within 90 days after the date of the
receipt for such amendment, unless a further amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the principal regulator
has issued a receipt for the further amendment. In any case, the total period of distribution must not end more than
180 days from the date of the Receipt for the Final Prospectus.
There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell
securities purchased under this Prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the securities in the secondary
market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities and the extent of
issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”.
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Trust does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied
to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the
Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of
America.
The Trust Declaration restricts the ability of the Trust or Trust Unitholders (herein defined) to transfer Trust
Units to any person after the issuance of Trust Units pursuant this Offering, other than to Permitted
Transferees (herein defined) or on redemption by the Trust. Furthermore, the Trust Declaration restricts the
ability of the Trust, Trust Unitholders, the Agents or any other person from listing or trading the Trust Units
on a stock exchange or any Public Market (herein defined).
An investment in the securities offered by this Prospectus must be considered speculative as the securities are
subject to certain risk factors as set out under the heading “Risk Factors”. An investment in Trust Units is
appropriate only for Purchasers who have the capacity to absorb a loss of some or all of their investment.
The return on an investment in the Trust Units is not comparable to the return on an investment in a fixed-income
security. Cash distributions, including a return of a Trust Unitholder’s original investment, are not guaranteed and
their recovery by an investor is at risk and the anticipated return on investment is based upon many performance
assumptions. Although the Trust intends to distribute its available cash to the holders of Trust Units, such cash
distributions may be reduced or suspended. The ability of the Trust to make cash distributions and the actual
amount distributed will depend on the operations of the Properties acquired by the Investments LP (herein defined)
and Developments LP (herein defined), and will be subject to various factors including those referenced under the
heading “Risks of Real Estate Ownership” and “Risks of Property Development” in the “Risk Factors” section of
this Prospectus. In addition, the market value of the Trust Units may decline if the Trust is unable to meet its cash
distribution targets in the future, and that decline may be significant. See “Risk Factors”.
It is important for Purchasers to consider the particular risk factors that may affect the real estate market
generally and therefore the stability of the distributions to Trust Unitholders (see “Risk Factors” for a more
complete discussion of these risks and their potential consequences).
Subject to the qualifications and assumptions discussed under the heading “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax
Considerations”, the Trust Units will, on the date of each Closing (herein defined), be qualified for investment by
RRSPs (herein defined) and similar Plans (herein defined). If the Trust ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust, a
Trust Unit will cease to be a qualified investment for RRSPs and similar Plans. Adverse tax consequences will
generally apply to a Plan, and/or an annuitant or holder thereunder, if the Plan acquires or holds property that is not a
qualified investment for the Plan, or in respect of a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF (each as herein defined), it acquires or
holds property that is a prohibited investment (see “Eligibility for Investment”).
The after-tax return from an investment in Trust Units to Trust Unitholders who are subject to Canadian income tax
will depend, in part, on the composition for tax purposes of distributions paid by the Trust (portions of which
distributions may be fully or partially taxable or may be tax deferred returns of capital). Subject to the SIFT Rules
(herein defined) and various other tax considerations (see “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax
Considerations”), income (i.e. return on capital) is generally taxed in the hands of a Trust Unitholder as ordinary
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income, capital gains, or dividends. Amounts in excess of the income of the Trust that are paid or payable by the
Trust to a Trust Unitholder (i.e. return of capital) are generally non-taxable to a Trust Unitholder (but reduce the
Trust Unitholder’s adjusted cost base in the Trust Unit for purposes of the Tax Act (herein defined)). The extent to
which distributions will be tax deferred in the future will depend in part on the extent to which the Trust can reduce
its taxable income by claiming available non-cash deductions such as capital cost allowances (see “Principal
Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”).
The Trustees (herein defined), the Master GP and its Directors (herein defined) and officers, the Investments GP and
its directors and officers and the Developments GP and its directors and officers are subject to various potential
conflicts of interest arising from the relationships among and between each of them and their affiliates
(see “Trustees, Directors and Officers – Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)”).
No person is authorized by the Trust to provide any information or to make any representation other than as
contained in this Prospectus in connection with this issue and sale of the securities offered by the Trust.
The Trust Units offered hereunder are offered on a “commercially reasonable best efforts” basis in each of the
provinces of Canada except Quebec until the earlier of the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015 by
Dundee Securities Ltd. and Scotia Capital Inc., as co-lead agents, BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., Canaccord Genuity
Corp., GMP Securities L.P., National Bank Financial Inc., Burgeonvest Bick Securities Ltd., Raymond James Ltd.
and Integral Wealth Securities Limited, subject to: (a) prior sale, if, as and when issued and delivered by the Trust in
accordance with the conditions of the Agency Agreement referred to in “Plan of Distribution”; (b) the approval of
certain legal matters by Clark Wilson LLP on behalf of the Trust; and (c) the approval of certain legal matters by
Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP on behalf of the Agents. The Agents may enter into co-brokerage/selling group
agreements with other investment dealers to market the Trust Units offered hereunder. Assuming that the minimum
Offering is achieved, it is expected that the initial Closing will occur on or about December 30, 2014, or such other
date as the Trust and the Co-Lead Agents may agree. One or more additional Closings may occur until the earlier of
the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015.
Registration, issuances, redemptions and Permitted Transfers of Trust Units will be effected only through the
book entry only system administered by the CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“CDS”). A
Purchaser of Trust Units will receive only customer confirmation from the registered dealer which is a CDS
participant and from or through which Trust Units are purchased. Beneficial owners of Trust Units will not
have the right to receive physical certificates evidencing their ownership of such securities. See “Plan of
Distribution”.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Certain terms and abbreviations used in this Prospectus are defined below:
“affiliate” has that meaning set forth in the CBCA;
“Agency Agreement” means an agreement dated as of December 22, 2014 among each of the Trust, the Master GP
and the Agents;
“Agents” means, collectively, the Co-Lead Agents, BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., GMP
Securities L.P., National Bank Financial Inc., Burgeonvest Bick Securities Ltd., Raymond James Ltd. and Integral
Wealth Securities Limited;
“Asset Management Agreement” means an agreement dated as of September 12, 2014 among Pure Commercial
and the Master LP pursuant to which Pure Commercial will provide certain services relating to the Master LP and
the Properties;
“Asset Management Fee” means an annual fee equal to 1.0% of the Net Asset Value payable monthly from
property revenues on the last day of each month during the term of the Asset Management Agreement in an amount
equal to approximately 0.083% of the Net Asset Value at the beginning of each such month;
“associate” has that meaning set forth in the Securities Act (British Columbia), as amended from time to time;
“Available Cash Flow (Master LP)” means, for any period, all amounts received by the Master LP in such period,
whether by way of distributions, dividends, interest or otherwise, from and in respect of its direct and indirect
investment in the Properties and which either:
(i)

arise from or are related to the Investment Properties; or

(ii)

represent profits arising from the Development Properties,

less reasonable reserves determined by the Master GP to be necessary to operate the affairs of the Master LP in a
prudent and businesslike manner;
“Business Day” means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the Province of British
Columbia;
“Canada Five-Year Yield” means on any date the yield to maturity on such date (expressed as a percentage),
assuming semi-annual compounding, which a non-callable Government of Canada bond would carry if issued in
Canadian dollars in Canada at 100% of its principal amount on such date with a term to maturity of approximately
five years, which Canada Five-Year Yield shall be determined by a major Canadian investment dealer selected by
the Trust;
“Carefree Net Lease” means a lease in which the tenant pays not only for the use of the premises but also for the
landlord’s operating costs, including taxes, maintenance and insurance. In the case of some of such leases, the tenant
is also required to pay a nominal monthly fee in respect of property management;
“Cash Flow (Trust)” means, for any Distribution Period:
(i)

the sum of all cash amounts received by the Trust for or in respect of such Distribution Period,
including the amounts received as a limited partner holding Master LP Units in the Master LP
pursuant to the terms of the Master LP Agreement and all other income, interest, distributions,
dividends, proceeds from the investment in the Master LP, returns of capital and repayments of
indebtedness, as well as all amounts received by the Trust in any prior Distribution Period to the
extent not previously distributed; less
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(ii)

all costs and expenses of the Trust that, in the opinion of the Trustees, may reasonably be
considered to have accrued and become owing in respect of, or which relate to, such Distribution
Period or a prior Distribution Period if not accrued in such prior period; and less

(iii)

any reserves reasonably established by the Trustees for the payment of costs and expenses of the
Trust, whether accrued or not; and less

(iv)

all amounts payable in cash that relate to the redemption or repurchase of Trust Units and that
have become payable by the Trust in such Distribution Period or prior Distribution Period,

provided that any funds borrowed by the Trust or the proceeds of the issuance of Trust Units or other securities of
the Trust and related transactions in connection therewith will not be included in the calculations of Cash Flow
(Trust) in respect of any Distribution Period;
“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act, as amended from time to time;
“Closing” means each closing of the Offering;
“Co-Lead Agents” means Dundee Securities Ltd. and Scotia Capital Inc.;
“Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement” means an agreement dated as of November 14, 2014 between the Trust
and the Master LP pursuant to which the Master LP has agreed to bear all of the costs of this Offering incurred by
the Trust, as a cost of issuing Master LP Units;
“Debt Securities” means debt securities of any subsidiary of the Trust that may be created and issued from time to
time, that are subordinated and unsecured, have a maturity of five years or less, are prepayable at any time at the
option of the Trust prior to maturity, and pay an annual rate of interest equal to the Canada Five-Year Yield, payable
monthly in arrears;
“Development Properties” means the lands and premises located in Western Canada’s North or interests therein to
be acquired, owned, developed and/or operated by the Developments LP;
“Developments GP” means REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) GP Ltd., the general partner of
Developments LP;
“Developments LP” means REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) Limited Partnership, a British Columbia
limited partnership established by the Master LP and the Developments GP pursuant to the laws of the Province of
British Columbia and the Developments LP Agreement for the identification, acquisition, ownership, development
and operation of the Development Properties;
“Developments LP Agreement” means the agreement establishing the Developments LP made as of August 28,
2014 between the Master LP and the Developments GP, as may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented by
the initial Closing or otherwise from time to time;
“Developments LP Unit Value” means, on a particular date:
(i)

the aggregate value of the real estate assets of the Developments LP on the last day of the most
recent calendar quarter that ends prior to such date; plus

(ii)

the aggregate value of the cash and other working capital assets of the Developments LP on such
date; less

(iii)

the aggregate of:
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A.

the aggregate value of the Developments LP’s liabilities on such date (including the
aggregate amount of any Mortgage Loans outstanding on such date); and

B.

the amount to which the Developments GP would be entitled under the Developments LP
Agreement (to the extent not taken into account in (iii)(A) above) if the Developments LP
were terminated and liquidated on such date,

divided by the number of outstanding Developments LP Units on such date;
“Developments LP Units” means limited partnership units of the Developments LP;
“Directors” means the directors of the Master GP as constituted from time to time;
“Distributable Cash (Developments LP)” means, for any period, the difference between the sum of the gross
revenues and other proceeds received by the Developments LP from the operation of the Development Properties
less the aggregate of all operating expenses, any other costs or expenses payable by the Developments LP, and
reasonable reserves determined by the Developments GP to be necessary to operate the Development Properties) in
a prudent and businesslike manner;
“Distributable Cash (Investments LP)” means, for any period, the difference between the sum of the gross
revenues and other proceeds received by the Investments LP from the operation of the Investment Properties less the
aggregate of all operating expenses, any other costs or expenses payable by the Investments LP, and reasonable
reserves determined by the Investments LP to be necessary to operate the Investment Properties in a prudent and
businesslike manner;
“Distribution Period” means each quarter of each calendar year, being any of the periods ending on March 31, June
30, September 30 and December 31 in each year, or such other periods as determined by the Trustees from time to
time;
“Final Prospectus” means the final version of this Prospectus which will be filed by the Trust with the securities
commissions or other securities regulatory authorities in the Qualifying Jurisdictions;
“GDP” means gross domestic product;
“Incentive Management Interest” means an allocation and distribution to be made to the Master GP in the manner
described under “Description of the Business of the Trust – Distributions of Distributable Cash – The Master LP”;
“Initial Limited Partner” means In Re Capital Inc., the initial limited partner of the Master LP;
“Investment” has the meaning given to it in section 122.1(1) of the Tax Act;
“Investment Properties” means the lands and premises located in Western Canada’s North or interests therein to be
acquired, owned and operated by the Investments LP;
“Investments GP” means REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) GP Ltd., the general partner of Investments LP;
“Investments LP” means REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) Limited Partnership, a British Columbia limited
partnership established by the Master LP and the Investments GP pursuant to the laws of the Province of British
Columbia and the Investments LP Agreement for the identification, acquisition, ownership and operation of the
Properties;
“Investments LP Agreement” means the agreement establishing the Investments LP made as of August 28, 2014
between the Master LP and the Investments GP, as may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented by the
initial Closing or otherwise from time to time;
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“Investments LP Unit Value” means, on any particular date:
(i)

the aggregate value of the real estate assets of the Investments LP on the last day of the most
recent calendar quarter that ends prior to such date; plus

(ii)

the aggregate value of the cash and other working capital assets of the Investments LP on such
date; less

(iii)

the aggregate of:
(A)

the aggregate value of the Investments LP’s liabilities on such date (including the
aggregate amount of the Mortgage Loans outstanding on such date);

(B)

the amount to which the Investments GP would be entitled under the Investments LP
Agreement (to the extent not taken into account in (iii)(A) above) if the Investments LP
were terminated and liquidated on such date; and

(C)

the amount which would be payable to the Investments GP (other than amounts included
in (iii)(A) above) if the Investments LP were terminated on such date,

divided by the number of outstanding Investments LP Units on such date;
“Investments LP Units” means limited partnership units of the Investments LP;
“Lender” means a lender and mortgagee of any of the Mortgage Loans;
“LNG” means liquefied natural gas;
“Master GP” means REALnorth Opportunities Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada;
“Master GP Catch-up Return” means an allocation and distribution to be made, subject to the payment of the
Minimum Return and a full return of Net Equity, to the Master GP from the Master LP in an amount equal to
20/80ths of the total payments made to the date of such allocation and distribution to the limited partners holding
Master LP Units in respect of the Minimum Return, thereby providing the Master GP with a 20% share of the total
amounts allocated and distributed to the limited partners and Master GP by the Master LP up to such date;
“Master LP” means REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership, a British Columbia limited partnership
established by the Initial Limited Partner and the Master GP pursuant to the laws of the Province of British
Columbia and the Master LP Agreement;
“Master LP Agreement” means the agreement establishing the Master LP made as of July 31, 2014 between the
Initial Limited Partner and the Master GP, as may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented by the initial
Closing or otherwise from time to time;
“Master LP Units” means limited partnership units of the Master LP;
“Minimum Return” means a minimum return to the limited partners holding Master LP Units equal to 7% per
annum, on a cumulative, non-compounded basis, calculated on the limited partners’ Net Equity in the Master LP,
which amount represents a cumulative preferential entitlement of the limited partners holding Master LP Units to
distributions and allocations of Available Cash Flow (Master LP) and Other Receipts (Master LP) in priority to any
distributions or allocations of the Master GP Catch-up Return to the Master GP;
“Mortgage Loans” means one or more mortgages, charges, pledges, hypothecs, liens, security interests or other
encumbrances of any kind or nature whatsoever of the Properties to be granted by the Investments LP or
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Developments LP (or, if a Property is held by a subsidiary or nominee entity on behalf of the Investments LP or
Developments LP, by such entity) to one or more Lenders, the proceeds of which will be used to finance the
acquisition, ownership, development and operation of such Properties, as applicable;
“Net Asset Value” means the greater of:
(i)

the total cash proceeds received by the Trust from the Offering; and

(ii)

the difference between: (A) the total purchase price of the Properties, including all fees and
expenses and cash reserves, less (B) the outstanding Mortgage Loans;

“Net Equity” means in the case of the Master LP, total proceeds received by the Master LP from subscriptions for
Master LP Units, less any amount previously distributed to the limited partners in repayment of their net equity as
calculated pursuant to the Master LP Agreement;
“Net Realized Capital Gains” means the net realized capital gains of the Trust for any taxation year of the Trust
determined as the amount, if any, by which the aggregate of the capital gains of the Trust realized in such year
exceeds the aggregate of the capital losses of the Trust realized in such year and each amount determined by the
Trustees in respect of any net capital loss for a prior taxation year that the Trust is permitted by the Tax Act to
deduct in computing the taxable income of the Trust for such year multiplied by the reciprocal of the fraction
applicable in determining the proportion of a capital gain for such prior taxation year that is a taxable capital gain;
“Non-Residents” means non-residents of Canada within the meaning of the Tax Act and includes partnerships that
are not “Canadian partnerships” within the meaning of the Tax Act;
“Offering” means the offering of a minimum of 10,000 Trust Units at the Offering Price for gross proceeds of
$10,000,000 and a maximum of up to 30,000 Trust Units at the Offering Price Unit for gross proceeds of
$30,000,000;
“Offering Price” means $1,000 per Trust Unit;
“Operating Expenses” means all amounts paid or payable on account of expenses in the operation of the Properties;
“Ordinary Resolution” means a resolution of the unitholders, limited partners or shareholders of an entity, as the
case may be, approved by more than 50% of the votes cast by those persons who vote in person or by proxy at a
duly convened meeting of the respective entity, or a written resolution signed by unit holders, limited partners or
shareholders of an entity, entitled, in the aggregate, to more than 50% of the aggregate number of votes of those
persons;
“Other Receipts (Master LP)” means, for any period, all amounts received by the Master LP in such period which
do not arise from Available Cash Flow (Master LP);
“percentage return on invested capital” means, in respect of a property, the total cash distributed plus
amortization of mortgage plus capital appreciation, over the term of the investment (i.e., years) divided by the
number of years, with the quotient then divided by the amount of capital invested, as represented by the following
formula:

percentage return on invested capital

=

[(total cash distributed plus amortization of mortgage plus
capital appreciation)/ number of years]
capital invested

“Permitted Transferee” means in respect of a Trust Unit, the Trust, any Plan of which such Trust Unitholder is the
annuitant, beneficiary or holder, and any person that is related to or affiliated with such Trust Unitholder for the
purposes of the Tax Act; and in respect of a Master LP Unit, the Master LP and any person that is related to or
affiliated with such holder of the Master LP Unit for purposes of the Tax Act;
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“Permitted Transfers” means, notwithstanding the transfer prohibitions in the Trust Declaration and the Master LP
Agreement, transfers of Trust Units and Master LP Units, as the case may be, permitted or accomplished by
operation of law or pursuant to the redemption provisions contained in the Trust Declaration and the Master LP
Agreement, respectively, including any transfer by a Trust Unitholder and a holder of Master LP Units, as the case
may be, to a Permitted Transferee;
“person” means a natural person, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, joint
stock company, trust, unincorporated association, limited liability company, joint venture or other entity or
governmental or regulatory authority or entity, and pronouns have a similarly extended meaning;
“Plans” means RRSPs, RESPs, TFSAs, RRIFs, registered disability savings plans and deferred profit sharing plans,
as those phrases are defined in the Tax Act, and “Plan” means any of them;
“Principals” means Stephen Evans, James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield, Mark Hewett, Erik Dekker, Robert King
and Randy Cockrill, who, in aggregate, beneficially own the Master GP;
“Properties” means any of either or both of the Investment Properties and the Development Properties; and
“Property” means any one of them;
“Property GPs” means the Investments GP and the Developments GP;
“Proportionate Share” means, for each limited partner, that fraction which,
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the case of the Master LP:
(A)

has as its denominator the aggregate number of Master LP Units issued and outstanding;
and

(B)

has as its numerator the number of Master LP Units held by such limited partner;

in the case of the Developments LP:
(A)

has as its denominator the aggregate number of Developments LP Units issued and
outstanding; and

(B)

has as its numerator the number of Developments LP Units held by such limited partner;
and

in the case of the Investments LP:
(A)

has as its denominator the aggregate number of Investments LP Units issued and
outstanding; and

(B)

has as its numerator the number of Investments LP Units held by such limited partner;

“Prospectus” means this prospectus and any amendments hereto;
“Public Market” means over-the-counter (OTC) bulletin board, quotation and trade reporting system, or alternative
trading system, including any U.S. or foreign marketplace, (including the Alternative Investment Market of the
London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc) or any other public market,
trading system or organized facility on which securities that are qualified for public distribution are listed or traded,
other than a facility that is operated solely to carry out the issuance of the Trust Units or their redemption,
acquisition or cancellation by the Trust;
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“Purchaser” means a purchaser of Trust Units;
“Pure Commercial” means Pure Commercial Real Estate Advisors Inc.;
“Qualifying Jurisdictions” means each of the provinces of Canada, except Quebec;
“Receipt” means a receipt for the Final Prospectus issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission as
principal regulator pursuant to Part 3 of Multilateral Instrument 11-102 - Passport System;
“Related Party” means, with reference to any entity, any of the following: (i) any person who participates in the
management of such entity; (ii) any person who participates in the management of a Property; (iii) a promoter or an
affiliate of a promoter; (iv) an affiliate of a person mentioned in (i), (ii) or (iii), or a person with whom any such
affiliate is associated, including limited partnerships or other real estate entities set up by any such persons; or (v)
any trustee, director or officer of a person mentioned in (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), as well as the persons with whom he or
she is associated;
“REIT” means a real estate investment trust pursuant to the Tax Act;
“Resident” means a person who is not a Non-Resident;
“RESPs” means registered education savings plans as defined in the Tax Act;
“RRIFs” means registered retirement income funds as defined in the Tax Act;
“RRSPs” means registered retirement savings plans as defined in the Tax Act;
“Securities” means the Trust Units;
“SIFT Rules” means the rules applicable to “SIFT trusts” and “SIFT partnerships” (each as defined in the Tax Act)
in the Tax Act as described in “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – The SIFT Rules”;
“Special Resolution” means a resolution of the unitholders, limited partners or shareholders of an entity, as the case
may be, approved by not less than 75% of the votes cast by those persons who vote in person or by proxy at a duly
convened meeting of the respective entity, or a written resolution signed by the unitholders, limited partners or
shareholders of an entity, entitled, in the aggregate, to not less than 75% of the aggregate number of votes of those
persons;
“subsidiary” includes, with respect to any person, a company, partnership, limited partnership, trust or other entity
controlled, directly or indirectly, by such person, company, partnership, limited partnership, trust or other entity;
“Sunstone Funds” means the Sunstone series of investment funds organized by Sunstone Realty Advisors Inc. and
its predecessors which have collectively raised over $350 million;
“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended from time to time;
“TFSAs” means tax-free savings accounts as defined in the Tax Act;
“Transforce” means Transforce Inc.;
“Transforce Property” means the lands and premises located 3851 22nd Avenue, Prince George, British Columbia,
which was acquired by the Investments LP on September 12, 2014;
“Trust” means REALnorth Opportunities Fund, an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust established
pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia;
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“Trust Declaration” means the Trust Declaration establishing the Trust made as of August 27, 2014 among the
Trustees, James Speakman as settlor, and all persons who become holders of Trust Units as provided therein, as may
be amended, restated, modified or supplemented by the initial Closing or otherwise from time to time;
“Trust Income” means the income of the Trust for any taxation year of the Trust determined as the amount by
which the income of the Trust for such year computed in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act, other than
paragraph 82(1)(b) and subsection 104(6) thereof, and taking into account such other amounts and adjustments as
are determined in the discretion of the Trustees regarding the calculation of income for the purposes of determining
the “taxable income” of the Trust, exceeds each amount determined by the Trustees in respect of any non-capital
loss for a prior taxation year that the Trust is permitted by the Tax Act to deduct in computing the taxable income of
the Trust for such year; provided, however, that capital gains and capital losses will be excluded from the
computation of Trust Income and, if an amount has been designated by the Trust under subsection 104(19) of the
Tax Act, such designation will be disregarded;
“Trust Notes” means promissory notes of the Trust that may be created and issued from time to time, that are
subordinated and unsecured, have a maturity of five years or less, are prepayable at any time at the Trust’s option
prior to maturity, and pay an annual rate of interest equal to the Canada Five-Year Yield, payable monthly in arrears;
“Trust Property” means all of the property and assets of the Trust held in trust by the Trustees pursuant to the Trust
Declaration;
“Trust Unit” means a redeemable unit of beneficial interest in the Trust;
“Trust Unitholder” means a holder of record of any Trust Unit;
“Trustees” means Stephen Evans, William Randall and Antony Kalla, and any successors thereto;
“Western Canada” means the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan; and
“Western Canada’s North” means the northern portion of Western Canada.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS
An investor should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus and is not entitled to rely on parts of the
information contained in this Prospectus to the exclusion of others. The Trust, the Master GP and the Agents have
not authorized anyone to provide investors with additional or different information. The Trust is not, and the Agents
are not, offering to sell the Trust Units in any jurisdictions where the offer or sale of such Trust Units is not
permitted. The information contained in this Prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus, regardless
of the time of delivery of this Prospectus or of any sale of the Trust Units. The Trust’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may have changed since the date of this Prospectus.
For investors outside Canada, none of the Trust, the Master GP or any of the Agents has done anything that would
permit the Offering or possession or distribution of this Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose
is required, other than in Canada. Investors are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions
relating to the Offering and the possession or distribution of this Prospectus.
This Prospectus includes a summary description of certain material agreements of the Trust. See “Material
Contracts”. The summary description discloses all attributes material to an investor in Trust Units but is not
complete and is qualified by reference to the terms of the material agreements, which will be filed with the Canadian
securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such
material agreements.
Any graphs and tables demonstrating the historical performance of any Properties, geographical areas, or industries
contained in this Prospectus are intended only to illustrate past performance and are not necessarily indicative of
future performance.
This Prospectus does not contain historical financial statements in respect of the Transforce Property, which was
acquired indirectly by the Trust in a sale-leaseback transaction with the vendor of the property prior to the initial
Closing. The vendor owned and used the Transforce Property in conjunction with its logistics business and not with
a view of earning a return from the property through rental income. Accordingly, the Trust considers the acquisition
of the Transforce Property to be an acquisition of an asset (see “Development of the Business of the Trust – The
Transforce Property”).
As evidenced by their execution of the certificates attached to this Prospectus, the Trust, the Master LP and the
Agents do not believe that financial statements, other than the financial statements included herein, are necessary for
this Prospectus to otherwise contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the offering of the
Trust Units, and, accordingly, no such statements are included. The Trust, the Master GP and the Agents made their
determination on the basis that: (i) this Prospectus includes financial statements of the Master LP as of September
30, 2014, which include the acquisition of the Transforce Property; and (ii) this Prospectus includes a detailed
description of the lease in respect of the Transforce Property, which together with the other information in this
Prospectus relating to the Transforce Property, the Trust and the Trust’s business following the initial Closing,
provides investors with full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the offering of Trust Units.
MEANING OF CERTAIN REFERENCES
All references to dollars or “$” are to Canadian dollars unless otherwise expressly noted herein.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to the “Trust” in this Prospectus refer to the Trust and its
subsidiaries, including the Master LP, the Investments LP and the Developments LP, on a consolidated basis.
References to “management” in this Prospectus means the persons performing functions for the Trust similar to
those performed by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of a company. In the case of the Trust,
such functions will be performed by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Master GP. Any
statements in this Prospectus made by or on behalf of management are made in such persons’ capacities as officers
of the Master GP and not in their personal capacities.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of the views given under the heading “Principal Canadian Federal
Income Tax Considerations” and “Eligibility for Investment”, a reference to “Trust” is a reference to REALnorth
Opportunities Fund only and is not a reference to any of its subsidiary entities.
Numerous terms used in this Prospectus are defined under “Glossary of Terms”.
MARKETING MATERIALS
The following marketing materials (as such term is defined in National Instrument 41-101 —General Prospectus
Requirements) filed with the securities commission or similar authority in each of the provinces of Canada, except
Quebec are specifically incorporated by reference into this prospectus:
(a)

template version of the management presentation dated November 21, 2014 (the “Management
Presentation”); and

(b)

template version of an indicative term sheet dated November 21, 2014 (the “Term Sheet”).

The Management Presentation and the Term Sheet are not part of this prospectus to the extent that the contents of
the template versions of such marketing materials have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in
this prospectus.
The Management Presentation and the Term Sheet are available under the Trust’s profile on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of the foregoing marketing materials.
In addition, any template version of any other marketing materials filed with the securities commission or similar
authority in each of the provinces of Canada, except Quebec, in connection with this Offering, after the date hereof,
but prior to the termination of the distribution of the securities under this prospectus, is deemed to be incorporated
by reference herein.
MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA
This Prospectus includes market and industry data and projections that were obtained from third-party sources,
industry publications and publicly available information as well as industry data prepared by management on the
basis of its knowledge of the commercial real estate markets in which the Trust will operate (including
management’s estimates and assumptions relating to the industry based on that knowledge).
Management’s knowledge of the commercial real estate industry in Western Canada’s North has been developed
through its experience and participation in the industry. Management believes that its industry data is accurate and
that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness
of this data. Third-party sources, which include CBRE Canada and Statistics Canada, generally state that the
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there can be no assurance
as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although management believes it to be reliable, none of
the Trust, the Master LP nor the Agents has independently verified any of the data from management or third-party
sources referred to in this Prospectus, or analyzed or verified the underlying studies or surveys relied upon or
referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements contained in this Prospectus constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of
securities laws. Forward-looking information may relate to the Trust’s future outlook and anticipated events or
results and may include statements regarding the financial position, business strategy, budgets, litigation, projected
costs, capital expenditures, financial results, taxes, plans and objectives of or involving the Trust and its affiliates.
Particularly, statements regarding future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities for the Trust
or the real estate industry are forward-looking statements. In some cases, forward-looking information can be
identified by such terms such as “may”, “might”, “will”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “occur”, “expect”, “plan”,
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“anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “likely”, “schedule”, or the negative
thereof or other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. Some of the specific forwardlooking statements in this Prospectus include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to the following:
(a)

the Trust’s intention with respect to, and ability to execute, its internal and external growth
strategies;

(b)

the Trust’s capital expenditure requirements and capital expenditures to be made by the Trust and
the Master LP;

(c)

the Trust’s distribution policy and the distributions to be paid to Trust Unitholders;

(d)

the distributions to be paid to holders of Master LP Units, Investments LP Units and/or
Developments LP Units;

(e)

use of the net proceeds to be received by the Trust upon each Closing;

(f)

the allocation of the net proceeds received by the Master LP from the issuance of Master LP Units
between Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units;

(g)

the debt strategy of each of the Trust, the Master LP, the Investments LP and the Developments
LP;

(h)

the Trust’s, the Master LP’s, the Investments LP’s and/or the Developments LP’s access to
available sources of debt and/or equity financing;

(i)

future compensation and governance practices by the Trust;

(j)

future legislative and regulatory developments which may affect the Trust, the Master LP, the
Investments LP and/or the Developments LP;

(k)

the expected tax treatment of the Trust and its distributions to Trust Unitholders;

(l)

the Trust’s ability to meet its stated obligations;

(m)

the Trust’s ability to expand its asset base and make accretive acquisitions; and

(n)

the ability of the Trust to qualify as a “mutual fund trust”, as defined in the Tax Act, and as a “real
estate investment trust”, as defined in the SIFT Rules.

The Trust has based these forward-looking statements on factors and assumptions about future events and financial
trends that it believes may affect its financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs,
including that the Canadian economy will remain stable over the next 12 months, that inflation will remain relatively
low, that interest rates will remain stable, that tax laws remain unchanged, that conditions within the real estate
markets in which the Trust intends to operate, including competition for acquisitions, will be consistent with the
current climate, that the Canadian capital markets will provide the Trust with access to equity and/or debt at
reasonable rates when required and that the Principals will continue their involvement with the Trust.
Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are based upon assumptions that management
of the Trust believes are reasonable based on information currently available to management, there can be no
assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
necessarily involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the Trust’s control, that
may cause the Trust’s or the industry’s actual results, performance, achievements, prospects and opportunities in
future periods to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These risks
and uncertainties include, among other things, the factors discussed under “Risk Factors”.
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The forward-looking statements made in this Prospectus relate only to events or information as of the date on which
the statements are made in this Prospectus. Except as required by law, the Trust and the Master LP undertake no
obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, after the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.
Investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT
In the view of KPMG LLP (“KPMG”), in its capacity as tax advisor to the Trust, and in the opinion of Cassels,
Brock & Blackwell LLP (“Cassels Brock”), in its capacity as counsel to the Agents, provided that on the date of
each Closing, the Trust qualifies as a “mutual fund trust” within the meaning of the Tax Act, the Trust Units will be
“qualified investments” under the Tax Act for trusts governed by Plans on such date.
If at any time the Trust does not qualify or ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the Trust Units will not be, or
will cease to be, qualified investments for Plans at that time. Trust Notes, Master LP Units or Debt Securities that
may be issued by the Trust to holders of Trust Units, on or in connection with an in specie redemption of Trust
Units, will not be qualified investments for Plans. Where a Plan acquires a Trust Note, Master LP Unit or Debt
Security that is not a qualified investment, or acquires or holds a Trust Unit that is not, or that ceases to be, a
qualified investment, adverse tax consequences will arise to the Plan and/or its annuitant or beneficiary thereunder,
or holder thereof. In light of the foregoing, Plans that propose to invest in Trust Units should consult their own tax
advisors before deciding to purchase Trust Units and again before deciding to exercise the redemption rights
attached to such Trust Units.
Notwithstanding that Trust Units may be qualified investments for a trust governed by TFSA, RRSP or RRIF, the
holder of a TFSA or annuitant of a RRSP or RRIF, as the case may be, will be subject to a penalty tax if the Trust
Units are a “prohibited investment” as defined in the Tax Act for the TFSA, RRSP or RRIF. A Trust Unit will
generally not be a “prohibited investment” for trusts governed by a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF unless the holder of the
TFSA or the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, as applicable, does not deal at arm’s length with the Trust for purposes
of the Tax Act or has a “significant interest” as defined in the Tax Act in the Trust. A holder or annuitant will have a
significant interest in the Trust at a particular time if the holder or annuitant alone or together with persons not
dealing at arm’s length with the holder or annuitant own 10% or more of the fair market value of the outstanding
Trust Units at that time. In addition, Trust Units will not be a “prohibited investment” if the Trust Units are
“excluded property” as defined in the Tax Act. Holders of a TFSA and annuitants of a RRSP or RRIF should consult
their own tax advisors in regards to the application of these rules in their particular circumstances.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
The following is a summary of the principal features of this Offering and should be read together with the more
detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Reference is made to
the “Glossary of Terms” for the meanings of defined terms used in this summary.
REALnorth Opportunities Fund
REALnorth Opportunities Fund (the “Trust”) is an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust formed under and
governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and resident in Canada. The Trust was established
primarily for the purposes of indirectly acquiring, developing, owning and operating a diversified portfolio of
revenue-producing real estate properties in the Western Canada’s North.
An investment in the units (each, a “Trust Unit”) of the Trust will be an indirect investment in the acquisition,
development, ownership and operation of the Properties and any returns on and of capital payable to limited partners
holding Investments LP Units and/or Developments LP Units will ultimately flow through to Trust Unitholders (see
“Corporate Structure – Investment Structure”).
Investment Highlights
The Trust has targeted Western Canada’s North for the purpose of investing in revenue producing and development
properties which management believes provide attractive return potential. The Properties may include industrial and
commercial opportunities, as well as multi-family and other residential real estate opportunities.


Western Canada’s Northern Resources and Infrastructure Projects Continue to Drive Canada’s
Economic Growth. Management believes Canada’s current and future growth will depend on
economically diverse provinces such as British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. Western Canada, and
Western Canada’s North in particular, is expected to be a main driver of GDP nationally due to the vast
number of demand generators connected in part to large reserves of natural gas and oil, resources including
timber and base metals, major infrastructure projects, positive migration trends along with a growing
tourism industry. Natural Resources Canada confirms the natural resource sector accounted for 19% of
Canadian GDP in 2013 and employed approximately 1.8 million people. Over the next ten years, it
anticipates over $675 billion will be invested into resource projects. Management believes that these factors
have created a significant opportunity to acquire real estate with attractive return potential in Western
Canada’s North.



Unique Opportunity to Invest in Real Estate in Western Canada’s North. Management believes that
the Trust is currently the only investment vehicle which offers investors exclusive exposure to real estate in
Western Canada’s North. Bolstered by rich resources and planned infrastructure projects, management
believes that this is an opportune time for investors to gain real estate exposure to this dynamic and
important economic region.



Young and Growing Population in Western Canada’s North to Support Rising Real Estate Values.
Many cities in Western Canada’s North have favourable demographics and are expected to continue to
experience strong population growth in the future which management believes will support rising real
estate values. Several key cities including Fort St. John, British Columbia; Fort McMurray, Alberta and
Grande Prairie, Alberta have median ages in the low 30s. Management believes a younger population base
is important as it leads to a more robust economy, including a more active housing market and a stronger
tax base through higher employment and consumer spending. Management also believes there can be
strong parallels drawn between the success the Fort McMurray real estate market has experienced over the
past 15 years and other markets anticipated to benefit from a growing resource-based economy.



Experienced Management Team with a Strong Track Record of Creating Value. The management
team will be led by Stephen Evans, James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield, Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill.
Investors will have the benefit of management’s breadth of experience in all facets of real estate, including
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acquisitions, asset management, property development, property management, lease administration and
finance.
Management of the Trust has a strong track record of creating value in real estate. Stephen Evans has
established several publicly listed real estate platforms and has raised over $1.8 billion in equity capital
across these platforms. He is the co-founder of the Sunstone funds, co-founder and co-CEO of Pure
Industrial Real Estate Trust (“PIRET”), CEO of Pure Multi-Family REIT LP (“Pure Multi-Family”),
director of WesternOne Inc. (which owns modular builder Britco) and of American Hotel Income
Properties REIT LP. PIRET is a publicly-listed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) which has raised
approximately $800 million in equity financing since its initial public offering (“IPO”) in 2007 and has
acquired a portfolio of over 150 properties in Canada having a total fair market value of approximately $1.4
billion. Pure Multi-Family completed its IPO in 2012 and currently has a portfolio of approximately 4,500
luxury apartment units located in strong growth markets of the southwestern United States.
James Redekop has over 25 years of experience in residential and commercial development in British
Columbia through Redekop Development Corp. Randy Cockrill is a real estate acquisition, development
and financing consultant with over 15 years of experience, much of which relates to northern British
Columbia. Brian R. Canfield is a senior partner of Farris, Vaughan, Wills & Murphy LLP, a law firm with
offices in Vancouver, Kelowna and Victoria and has extensive experience with all aspects of real estate
development, including in Northern British Columbia. Mark Hewett is a Senior Investment Advisor, Senior
Vice President and Portfolio Manager with an engineering background and brings an understanding of
issues that Northern British Columbian communities have with respect to pipelines and specifically natural
gas.


Proven Ability to Develop Real Estate. Management of the Developments LP has real estate
development expertise with the ability to undertake commercial, residential and bare land development,
construction and expansion opportunities. James Redekop has over 25 years of experience in residential
and commercial development in British Columbia. Randy Cockrill has over 15 years of experience in real
estate development, much of which relates to northern British Columbia. Further, Stephen Evans and
William Randall have complementary real estate experience in developing real estate. In addition,
management of the Developments LP has established a relationship with one of the largest modular
construction companies in North America. Such relationship provides access to a cost-controlled
construction process, rather than having to rely upon local labour and trades, which management believes
has the potential to become short in supply and correspondingly expensive.



Alignment of Interest Between Management and Trust Unitholders. The Master GP believes that
individual investors should have the same investment opportunities as institutions, pension funds and high
net worth individuals. With this goal in mind, an investment in Trust Units has been structured to align the
interests of the Master GP with those of the Trust Unitholders. Accordingly, Trust Unitholders are entitled,
by way, and to the extent, of the Trust’s investment in Master LP Units to a minimum non-compounded
annual return of 7% of the Net Equity then outstanding and a return of capital before any amount is paid to
the Master GP on account of the Incentive Management Interest (see “Description of the Securities
Distributed – The Master LP”).



Prudent Use of Financial Leverage. The current real estate debt financing market offers long-term debt
financing at attractive interest rates which the Property GPs intend to fully utilize in order to increase the
return on equity. The Property GPs expect to target properties that could generate a positive return on
invested capital of not less than 10% per annum, with a target goal in excess of 15% per annum for an
Investment Property and 14% per annum, with a target goal in excess of 18% per annum, over the term of
the investment in the case of a Development Property. As well, the Property GPs will target an overall
loan-to-value ratio (of mortgage loans) at no more than 70% of the purchase price of the Properties as a
whole, plus the amount of any property improvement reserve account approved by the Lenders. However,
if deemed appropriate by the Property GPs, having regard to all of the circumstances including the potential
value of the Properties identified for investment, the Property GPs may cause the overall loan-to-value ratio
of the Mortgage Loans to exceed this threshold.
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Structure of the Offering
The Trust will invest the proceeds from the issuance of Trust Units in the acquisition of Master LP Units. The
Master LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance to the Trust of Master LP Units in Investments LP Units and
Developments LP Units. The Investments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Investments LP Units
in the acquisition of Investment Properties and the Developments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of
the Developments LP Units in the acquisition and development of Development Properties (see “Corporate
Structure – Investment Structure”). As a result, an investment in Trust Units will be an indirect investment in the
acquisition, development, ownership and operation of the Properties and any returns on and of capital payable to
limited partners holding Investments LP Units and/or Developments LP Units will ultimately flow through to Trust
Unitholders.
The Trust
The securities being distributed pursuant to this Prospectus are Trust Units. The Offering consists of a minimum of
10,000 Trust Units and a maximum of 30,000 Trust Units, at a price of $1,000 per Trust Unit (see “Plan of
Distribution”). Purchasers are required to acquire a minimum of ten Trust Units. Additional subscriptions
may be made of single Trust Units. Assuming that the minimum Offering is achieved, it is expected that the initial
Closing will occur on or about December 30, 2014, or such other date as the Trust and the Co-Lead Agents may
agree.
The Trust is an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust formed and governed by the laws of the Province of
British Columbia and created pursuant to the Trust Declaration. It was established, among other things, for the
purpose of:
(a)

acquiring Master LP Units;

(b)

temporarily holding cash and investments for the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of
the Trust, paying amounts payable by the Trust in connection with the redemption of any Trust
Units, and making distributions to Trust Unitholders;

(c)

investing its funds in property (other than real property or interests in real property or an
immovable or a real right in an immoveable);

(d)

acquiring, holding, maintaining, improving, leasing or managing of real property (or interests in
real property) or any immovable (or real right in immovable) that is capital property of the Trust;
and

(e)

in connection with the undertaking set out above, reinvesting income and gains of the Trust and
taking other actions besides the mere protection and preservation of the Trust Property.

The principal business of the Trust will be to issue Trust Units and to acquire and hold Master LP Units.
The Master LP
The Master LP is a limited partnership formed pursuant to and governed by the laws of the Province of British
Columbia and created by the Master LP Agreement. The Master LP was established, among other things, to:
(a)

issue Master LP Units and acquire Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units; and

(b)

temporarily hold cash and investments for the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of
the Master LP and making distributions to the holders of the Master LP Units.

The principal business of the Master LP will be to issue Master LP Units and to acquire and hold Investments LP
Units and Developments LP Units. Neither the Trust Declaration nor the Master LP Agreement contain any target
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allocation between Investment Properties and Development Properties. The allocation of the net proceeds received
by the Master LP from the issuance of Master LP Units between Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units
will be determined by the Master GP from time to time based upon the individual economic fundamentals of the
prospective investment opportunities. The directors and officers of the Master GP will determine the composition of
the portfolio of properties, which at this time, is unknown. Prospective investors will rely on the discretion and
ability of the Master GP to determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which may include industrial,
commercial and residential (multi-family and other) investment properties and/or development properties, and in
negotiating the pricing and other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition of such properties (see “Risk
Factors”).
The Investments LP
The Investments GP is a company engaged in identifying investment opportunities in revenue-producing real estate
located in Western Canada’s North. In order to take advantage of such investment opportunities, the Investments
GP has established the Investments LP pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia for the purposes of
owning and operating a diversified portfolio of quality, revenue-producing properties in Western Canada’s North (or
proportionate interests in such Properties). The principal business of the Investments LP will be to issue
Investments LP Units, to invest the proceeds from such issuance in the acquisition of Investment Properties and to
own and operate such Properties. In order to accommodate the expected requirements of Lenders and to segregate
any risks of ownership between Properties, the Investments GP intends to have each of the Properties owned by a
separate underlying entity established and owned by the Investments LP.
The Developments LP
The Developments GP is a company engaged in identifying investment opportunities in developing revenueproducing real estate located in Western Canada’s North. In order to take advantage of such investment
opportunities, the Developments GP has established the Developments LP pursuant to the laws of the Province of
British Columbia for the purposes of developing, owning and operating a diversified portfolio of quality, revenueproducing properties in Western Canada’s North (or proportionate interests in such Properties). The principal
business of the Developments LP will be to issue Developments LP Units, to invest the proceeds from such issuance
in the acquisition of Development Properties, and to develop such Development Properties. In order to
accommodate the expected requirements of Lenders and to segregate any risks of ownership between Properties, the
Developments GP intends to have each of the Properties owned by a separate underlying entity established and
owned by the Developments LP.
Distributions of Distributable Cash
Any amounts payable to the limited partners of the Investments LP and the Developments LP in respect of any
distributions of Distributable Cash (Investments LP) and Distributable Cash (Developments LP), respectively, and
the repayment of the Net Equity invested by the Master LP in Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units,
will, as a result, and to the extent, of the Trust’s indirect investment in the Investments LP Units and the
Developments LP Units, ultimately be distributed to Trust Unitholders.
The Investments LP
Distributable Cash (Investments LP) shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Investments GP, as
follows:
(a)

to the Investments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash (Investments LP), to
a maximum of $100; and

(b)

to the limited partners of the Investments LP, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share, the balance of the Distributable Cash (Investments LP).
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The Investments GP shall, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Investments LP from any Distributable Cash (Investments LP).
The Developments LP
Distributable Cash (Developments LP) shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Developments
GP, as follows:
(a)

to the Developments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash (Developments
LP), to a maximum of $100; and

(b)

to the limited partners of the Developments LP, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share, the balance of the Distributable Cash (Developments LP).

The Developments GP will, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Developments LP from any Distributable Cash (Developments LP).
The Master LP
Available Cash Flow (Master LP) and Other Receipts (Master LP) shall be distributed, as cash flow permits, as
follows:
(a)

first, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in an amount equal to the Minimum Return. The Minimum Return will be
calculated at 7% per annum on the limited partners’ Net Equity on a cumulative, non-compounded
basis such that in the years when the Minimum Return is not available from cash flow, it will
accumulate and be paid from cash flow in subsequent years;

(b)

second, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in repayment of their Net Equity;

(c)

third, to the Master GP, an amount equal to the Master GP Catch-up Return;

(d)

fourth, 80% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 20% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a) and
(d) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 10% annual return on
their Net Equity;

(e)

fifth, 70% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 30% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a), (d),
and (e) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 15% annual return
on their Net Equity; and

(f)

thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 35% to the Master GP.

The amounts payable above to the Master GP are referred to herein as the “Incentive Management Interest”.
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Investment Objectives
The Investments LP’s and Developments LP’s primary investment objectives are as follows:
(a)

to own and/or develop, as applicable, a diversified portfolio of quality, revenue-producing
properties in Western Canada’s North, with positive cash flow;

(b)

to provide periodic cash flow distributions upon full investment of the net proceeds allocated to
the purchase price of Properties; and

(c)

to enhance the potential for long-term growth of capital through organic growth in rental rates,
combined with an overall reduction in capitalization rates.

Guidelines for Property Acquisitions
The net proceeds of the offering of Trust Units will be used by the Investments LP and Developments LP in the
acquisition of Properties in accordance with the following general guidelines:
(a)

assuming all 30,000 Trust Units offered under this Prospectus are issued, and subject to the
unanimous decision of the board of directors of the Investments GP or the Developments GP, as
applicable, not more than 50% of the net proceeds from such issuance (being the gross proceeds
less the amount paid by the Master LP pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement on
account of the Agents’ Commission and the expenses of this Offering) will be applied to the
acquisition by the Investments LP or Developments LP, respectively, of any one Property;

(b)

in the event that less than 30,000 Trust Units are issued, it may be necessary to apply more than
50% of the net proceeds to the acquisition of any one Property, including applying up to 100% of
the net proceeds to the acquisition of as little as one Property (after the creation of a reasonable
reserve for renovation and upgrading of the Property, and the creation of a reasonable working
capital reserve);

(c)

upon purchase, each Investment Property would be expected to generate a positive return on
invested capital in such Property of not less than 10% per annum, with a target goal in excess of
15% per annum. Investment Properties will be expected to generate cash flow immediately upon
acquisition. The Investments GP will be able to waive this minimum requirement for such
Properties which they believe provide unique value added opportunities through replacement of
management, re-leasing or similar initiatives; and

(d)

upon the completion of its development, each Development Property would be expected to
generate a positive return on invested capital in such Property of not less than 14% per annum,
with a target goal in excess of 18% per annum, over the term of the investment. The
Developments GP does not anticipate the realization of any returns until development is
completed. Development Properties will be expected to have ongoing capital requirements,
lengthy completion timelines and delays of three to four years, or longer, depending on the project,
before generating cash flow. See “Risk Factors”.

Property Dispositions
All or a portion of the proceeds from the disposition of any Properties sold by the Investments LP and/or the
Developments LP within 24 months of the initial Closing of the Offering may be reinvested in additional Properties or
such other investments at the discretion of the Master GP. In the case of such reinvestment, the Trust Unitholders will
not be entitled to receive any portion of the proceeds of such dispositions.
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Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement
Pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement, the Master LP will ultimately bear all costs and expenses in
respect of this Offering. Therefore, all proceeds of this Offering, net of expenses, will ultimately be invested in the
Investments LP and Developments LP in the purchase, development, ownership and operation of the Properties, and
in the payment of the costs shown in the table in “Use of Proceeds”.
Asset Management Agreement
Pursuant to the Asset Management Agreement, Pure Commercial has agreed to provide certain financial, real estate
and management services to the Master LP, including, but not limited to, the following:
(a)

providing overall management, financial and business planning for the Master LP, including
overseeing the operations of the Properties;

(b)

establishing appropriate legal and accounting systems for the proper control of the Properties;

(c)

maintaining ongoing liaison with the Lenders of the Mortgage Loans and using best efforts to
arrange a refinancing of the Mortgage Loans at the expiration of their terms and any subsequent
refinancings;

(d)

conducting ongoing analysis of market conditions to monitor the Master LP’s investment in the
Properties; and

(e)

advising the Master LP with respect to the disposition of the Properties, and negotiating and
carrying out the disposition of the Properties on such terms and conditions and at such times as
Pure Commercial may determine.

In consideration of the provision of such services, the Master LP will pay the Asset Management Fee to Pure
Commercial (see “Executive Compensation – The Master LP and the Master GP – Management Agreements”).
Plan of Distribution
The Trust Units offered hereunder are offered on a “commercially reasonable best efforts” basis in each of the
provinces of Canada except Quebec until the earlier of the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015.
There will be no initial Closing unless a minimum of 10,000 Trust Units are sold. Assuming that the minimum
Offering is achieved, it is expected that the initial Closing will occur on or about December 30, 2014, or such other
date as the Trust and the Co-Lead Agents may agree. One or more additional Closings may occur until the earlier of
the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless an amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the British Columbia
Securities Commission, as principal regulator pursuant to Part 3 of Multilateral Instrument 11-102 – Passport
System, has issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities will cease within 90 days after the
date of the Receipt for the Final Prospectus. If an amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the principal
regulator has issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities will cease within 90 days after
the date of the receipt for such amendment, unless a further amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the
principal regulator has issued a receipt for the further amendment. In any case, the total period of distribution must
not end more than 180 days from the date of the Receipt for the Final Prospectus.
Sales commissions (the “Agents’ Commission”) will be paid to the Agents at a rate equal to 6% of the gross
proceeds of the Offering. As a further incentive to the Agents or any sub-agents, the Master GP has agreed to pay to
the Agents or any sub-agents a trailer fee equal to 10% of any amounts realized by the Master GP in respect of its
Incentive Management Interest. The Agents may, but are not obligate to, assign all or part of their compensation
entitlements to sub-agents effecting sales of Trust Units. Pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement the
Agents’ Commission and expenses will be ultimately borne entirely by the Master LP.
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Use of Proceeds
Assuming that the maximum Offering of 30,000 Trust Units is sold, the gross proceeds to the Trust will be
$30,000,000. The Trust will use these proceeds to buy Master LP Units. The Trust may also temporarily hold cash
and investments for the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of the Trust, paying amounts payable by the
Trust in connection with the redemption of any Trust Units, and making distributions to Trust Unitholders.
The Master LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance to the Trust of Master LP Units in Investments LP Units
and Developments LP Units. The Investments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Investments LP
Units in the acquisition of Investment Properties and the Developments LP will invest the proceeds from the
issuance of the Developments LP Unit in the acquisition and development of Development Properties
(see “Corporate Structure – Investment Structure”). Neither the Trust Declaration nor the Master LP Agreement
contain any target allocation between Investment Properties and Development Properties. The allocation of the net
proceeds received by the Master LP from the issuance of Master LP Units between Investments LP Units and
Developments LP Units will be determined by the Master GP from time to time based upon the individual economic
fundamentals of the prospective investment opportunities. The directors and officers of the Master GP will
determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which at this time, is unknown. Prospective investors will
rely on the discretion and ability of the Master GP to determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which
may include industrial, commercial and residential (multi-family and other) investment properties and/or
development properties, and in negotiating the pricing and other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition
of such properties (see “Risk Factors”).
Assuming that the maximum Offering of 30,000 Trust Units is sold, the gross proceeds of $30,000,000, plus
Mortgage Loans, will be used to: pay the Agents’ Commission of $1,800,000; pay the other expenses of this
Offering estimated at $375,000, which, in any event, will not exceed the lesser of either 1.5% of the maximum
Offering or 2.0% of the gross proceeds of the Offering; pay the aggregate purchase price of as yet unidentified
Investment Properties; pay the aggregate acquisition and development costs of as yet unidentified Development
Properties; pay due diligence, documentation and financing costs relating to the purchase and development of such
Properties; create reserves for renovation and upgrading of such Properties; and create reasonable working capital
reserves for such Investment Properties (see “Use of Proceeds”).
Assuming that the minimum Offering of 10,000 Trust Units is sold, the gross proceeds of $10,000,000, plus
Mortgage Loans, will be used to: pay the Agents’ Commission of $600,000; pay the other expenses of this Offering
estimated at $375,000, which, in any event, will not exceed the lesser of either 1.5% of the maximum Offering or
2.0% of the gross proceeds of the Offering; pay the aggregate purchase price of as yet unidentified Investment
Properties; pay the aggregate acquisition and development costs of as yet unidentified Development Properties; pay
due diligence, documentation and financing costs relating to the purchase and development of such Properties;
create reserves for renovation and upgrading of such Properties; and create reasonable working capital reserves for
such Investment Properties (see “Use of Proceeds”).
There is no maximum time period for the full investment of the net proceeds of the Offering in Properties and the
timing of such investment will depend upon the Property GPs’ identification of Properties meeting their criteria for
acquisition. Pending their investment in the acquisition of Properties, the proceeds from the issuance of Trust Units
and other funds not fully invested in Properties from time to time will be held in cash and bank deposits.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, management expects that the term of investment in respect of Investment Properties
and/or Development Properties, as applicable, will be approximately five years. Further, while the ownership of
Investment Properties will be expected to generate cash flow immediately upon acquisition, Development Properties
will usually have ongoing capital requirements, lengthy completion timelines and delays of three to four years, or
longer, depending on the project, before generating cash flow.
Development projects have lengthy project completion timelines. Development Properties in which capital is
invested may not provide a return for a period of three to four years after the initial investment. These extended
timelines present the possibility that markets will deteriorate between the time of the initial investment and the
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return of capital or project completion which could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s business, financial
condition or results of operation.
Redemption of Trust Units
Trust Units will be redeemable at any time on the demand of the Trust Unitholders, subject to applicable law and
certain other conditions. The price per Trust Unit payable upon redemption will be equal to either:
(a)

where the Trustees have lifted the prohibitions as contained in the Trust Declaration for Trust
Units to be listed or traded, and where the Trust Units have consequently become listed on a stock
exchange or similar market, an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 95% of the market price of the
Trust Units during the ten trading day period after the redemption date; and (ii) 100% of the
closing market price of the Trust Units on the redemption date; or

(b)

where the Trust Units are not listed on a stock exchange or similar market, 95% of the aggregate
of:
(i)

the Master LP Unit Value, being:
A.

the aggregate Investments LP Unit Value of the Investments LP Units held by
the Master LP on the last day of the most recent calendar quarter that ends prior
to the redemption date, plus the aggregate value of cash, working capital or
other assets of the Investments LP on the redemption date; plus

B.

the aggregate Developments LP Unit Value of the Developments LP Units held
by the Master LP on the last day of the most recent calendar quarter that ends
prior to the redemption date, plus the aggregate value of cash, working capital or
other assets of the Developments LP on the redemption date; plus

C.

the aggregate value of the cash, working capital, and other assets of the Master
LP on the redemption date, other than Investments LP Units and Developments
LP Units the value of which is accounted for under (b)(i)A and (b)(i)B above;
less

D.

the aggregate of:
I.

the aggregate value of the Master LP's liabilities on the redemption
date;

II.

the amount which would be payable to the Master GP if the Master LP
were terminated and then liquidated on the redemption date; and

III.

the amount which would be payable to Pure Commercial (other than
amounts included in subsection (b)(i)D.I, above) if the Asset
Management Agreement were terminated on such date; plus

(ii)

the aggregate value of the cash, working capital, and other assets of the Trust on the
redemption date, other than Master LP Units, the value of which is accounted for under
(b)(i), above; less

(iii)

the aggregate value of the Trust’s liabilities on the redemption date,

divided by the number of outstanding Trust Units on the redemption date.
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The redemption price per Trust Unit multiplied by the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption will be paid to
a Trust Unitholder by way of a cash payment no later than the last day of the calendar month following the calendar
quarter in which the Trust Units were tendered for redemption, provided that:
(a)

the total amount payable by the Trust by cash payment in respect of the redemption of Trust Units
for that calendar quarter will not exceed $100,000;

(b)

the total amount payable by the Trust by cash payment in respect of the redemption of Trust Units
in any twelve month period ending at the end of that calendar quarter will not exceed 3/4 of 1% of
the aggregate subscription price of all Trust Units that were issued and outstanding at the start of
such twelve month period; and

(c)

in the event the Trust Units are listed on a stock exchange or similar market, the normal trading of
the Trust Units is not suspended or halted on any stock exchange on which the Trust Units are
listed for trading on the redemption date or for more than five trading days during the ten day
trading period commencing immediately after the redemption date.

If any of the conditions in paragraphs (a) to (c) above precludes the payment of the redemption price in cash (and the
Trustee does not, in its sole discretion, waive such limitation in respect of all Trust Units tendered for redemption in
any particular calendar quarter), the redemption price shall be paid and satisfied by way of any of the following
methods to be selected by the Trustee, using its sole discretion:
(a)

the issuance and delivery of a number of Trust Notes, each in the principal amount of $100,
having an aggregate principal amount equal to the redemption price per Trust Unit multiplied by
the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption; or

(b)

a distribution in specie to the Trust Unitholder of a number of Master LP Units with an aggregate
value (having regard to the Investments LP Unit Value and the Developments Unit Value at that
time) equal to the aggregate redemption price of the Trust Units tendered for redemption, which
number of Master LP Units is expected (in the event that the Trust’s only property consists of
Master LP Units and the Trust has no liabilities) to be equal to the number of Trust Units tendered
for redemption; or

(c)

a distribution in specie to the Trust Unitholder of a number of Debt Securities (each in the
principal amount of $100) having an aggregate principal amount equal to the redemption price per
Trust Unit multiplied by the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption.

Management
The Trustees are Stephen Evans (Chair of the Trustees), Antony Kalla and William Randall. The Directors and
officers of the Master GP are Stephen Evans (Chair of the Board), James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield (President),
Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill (non-director, Vice President, Operations). The directors and officers of the
Investments GP are Stephen Evans (President), Robert King, Brian R. Canfield (Secretary), Mark Hewett and Randy
Cockrill (non-director, Vice President, Operations). The directors and officers of the Developments GP are Stephen
Evans (President), James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield (Secretary), Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill (non-director,
Vice President, Operations) (see “Trustees, Directors and Officers”).
Risk Factors
These securities are speculative in nature. Purchasers should consider the following risk factors before purchasing
Trust Units:
This is a Partial Blind Pool Offering – The net proceeds of the Offering will ultimately be invested in the
acquisition of one or more Properties, including one or more Development Properties. However, not all of the
specific Properties in which the net proceeds will be invested have yet been determined. Depending on the return on
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investment achieved on the Properties that may be acquired with the net proceeds of the Offering, the Trust
Unitholders’ return on their investments in the Trust Units will vary.
Reliance on Management – Prospective purchasers assessing the risks and rewards of this investment should
appreciate that they will, in large part, be relying on the good faith and expertise of Stephen Evans, James Redekop,
Brian R. Canfield, Mark Hewett, Robert King and Randy Cockrill as Trustees, directors and officers of the Trust, the
Master GP, the Developments GP and the Investments GP, as applicable.
Potential Conflicts of Interest – None of the Principals is in any way limited or affected in his ability to carry on
other business ventures for his own accounts and for the accounts of others, and each is now, and intends in the
future to be, engaged in the development of, investment in and management of other real estate properties. None of
these persons will have any obligation to account to the Trust or the Trust Unitholders for profits made in such other
activities (see “Trustees, Directors and Officers – Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)”).
No Market for Trust Units or the Underlying Securities – There currently is no market for the Trust Units and it is
expected that there will be no market for the Trust Units.
Less than Full Offering – In the event that only the minimum Offering is sold, the Trust’s ability to participate in
larger scale, and create diversity across, investment and/or development opportunities may be limited. There can be
no assurance that more than the minimum Offering will be sold.
Return not Guaranteed – The Trust Units are equity securities of the Trust and are not traditional fixed income
securities. A fundamental characteristic that distinguishes the Trust Units from traditional fixed income securities is
that the Trust does not have a fixed obligation to make payments to Trust Unitholders and does not promise to return
the initial purchase price of a Trust Unit on a certain date in the future. The Trust has the ability to reduce or suspend
distributions if circumstances so warrant. The ability of the Trust to make cash distributions, and the actual amount
distributed, will be entirely dependent on the operations and assets of the Trust and its subsidiaries, and will be
subject to various factors including financial performance, obligations under applicable credit facilities, fluctuations
in working capital and capital expenditure requirements. There can be no assurance regarding the amount of income
to be generated by the Trust’s Properties.
Risks of Real Estate Ownership – An investment in Trust Units is an indirect investment in real estate within
Western Canada’s North through the Trust’s indirect interest in the Investments LP and Developments LP and the
Properties held therein. Investment in real estate is subject to numerous risks, which include, but are not limited to,
the following:
(a)

Financing Risks – There is no assurance that either of the Investments LP and Developments LP
will be able to obtain sufficient Mortgage Loans to finance the acquisition of Properties on
commercially acceptable terms or at all. There is also no assurance that any Mortgage Loans, if
obtained, will be renewed when they mature. In the absence of mortgage financing, the number of
Properties which the Investments LP and Developments LP will be able to purchase will decrease
and the return from the ownership of Properties (and ultimately the return on an investment in
Trust Units) will be reduced. The operation of the Properties may not generate sufficient funds to
make the payments of principal and interest due on the Mortgage Loans, and, upon default, one or
more Lenders could exercise their rights including, without limitation, foreclosure or sale of the
Properties.

(b)

Interest Rate Fluctuations – The Mortgage Loans may include indebtedness with interest rates
based on variable lending rates that will result in fluctuations in the Investments LP’s and
Developments LP’s cost of borrowing.

(c)

Environmental Matters – The properties in which investments are made are subject to various
federal, provincial, and municipal laws relating to environmental matters. These laws could hold
the developers or property owners liable for the costs of removal and remediation of certain
hazardous substances or wastes released or deposited on or in the operation or development of
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such properties or disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or remediate such
substances, if any, could adversely affect the ability to sell such properties or to borrow using real
estate as collateral, and could potentially result in claims or other proceedings against the owner.
Further, environmental laws and regulations can change rapidly and owners may become subject
to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in the future. Compliance with more
stringent environmental laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on an owner or a
particular property, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s business, financial
condition or results of operations.
(d)

Uninsured Losses – Each of the Property GPs will arrange for comprehensive insurance of the
type and in the amounts customarily obtained for properties similar to those to be owned by them
or their subsidiaries and will endeavour to obtain coverage where warranted against earthquakes
and floods. However, in many cases certain types of losses are either uninsurable or not
economically insurable.

(e)

Reliance on Property Management – The Investments GP will rely upon independent management
companies to perform this function. The employees of the management companies will devote so
much of their time to the management of the Properties as in their judgment is reasonably required
and may have conflicts of interest in allocating management time, services and functions among
the Properties and their other development, investment and/or management activities.

(f)

Competition for Real Property Investments – The Investments LP and Developments LP will
compete for suitable real property investments with other individuals, corporations, real estate
investment trusts and similar vehicles, and institutions which are presently seeking or which may
seek in the future real property investments similar to those sought by the Investments LP and
Developments LP. Such competition would tend to increase purchase prices of real estate
properties and reduce the yield on such investments.

(g)

Revenue Shortfalls – Revenues from the Properties may not increase sufficiently to meet increases
in operating expenses or debt service payments under the Mortgage Loans or to fund changes in
any variable rates of interest charged in respect of such loans.

(h)

Fluctuations in Capitalization Rates – As interest rates fluctuate in the lending market, generally
so too do capitalization rates which affect the underlying value of real estate. As such, when
interest rates rise, generally capitalization rates should be expected to rise. Over the period of
investment, capital gains and losses at the time of disposition can occur due to the increase or
decrease of these capitalization rates.

(i)

Joint Ventures – The Investments LP and Developments LP may invest in or be a participant in
joint ventures and partnerships with third parties in respect of the Properties. A joint venture or
partnership involves certain additional risks which could result in additional financial demands,
increased liability and a reduction in the Investments LP’s and Developments LP’s control over
the Properties and ability to sell its interest in a Property within a reasonable time frame.

(j)

Return on Invested Capital – The estimated percentage return on invested capital in respect of an
Investment Property is based on the actual cost of the property and management’s reasonable
assumptions, based on current market and management’s experience, as applicable, of capital cost
expenditures, leverage ratios, current and future interest rates, income growth and capitalization
rates on sale. There is no assurance that any Investment Properties will generate a positive return
on invested capital or achieve any target goals of the Property GPs.

Risks of Property Development – Investment in real estate development is subject to numerous risks, which include,
but are not limited to, the following:
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(a)

Cyclical Industry – The real estate development industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by
changes in general and local economic and industry conditions, such as consumer confidence,
employment levels, availability of financing and interest rates, availability and terms of senior
financing, levels of new and existing properties for sale, demographic trends and demand.

(b)

Delays on Returns – Development projects have lengthy project completion timelines.
Development Properties in which capital is invested may not provide a return for a period of three
to four years after the initial investment. These extended timelines present the possibility that
markets will deteriorate between the time of the initial investment and the return of capital or
project completion which could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s business, financial condition
or results of operation.

(c)

Development delays and Budget Overruns – The real estate development business involves
significant risks that could adversely affect the Trust’s business, financial condition and results of
operations, including: the development may not be completed on schedule or within budget,
resulting in increased debt service expense and construction costs; inability to obtain, or delays in
obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and other governmental permits and
authorizations for properties; construction costs, total investment amounts and funding to
complete development may exceed estimates and projects may not be completed and delivered as
planned.

(d)

Reliance on Development Management – The Developments GP will primarily rely upon Randy
Cockrill and James Redekop to manage and develop Development Properties. The officers,
management and employees of the Developments GP will devote so much of their time to the
management and development of the Development Properties as in their judgment is reasonably
required and may have conflicts of interest in allocating management time, services and functions
among the Development Properties and their other development activities.

(e)

Environmental Matters – The properties in which investments are made are subject to various
federal, provincial, and municipal laws relating to environmental matters. These laws could hold
the developers or property owners liable for the costs of removal and remediation of certain
hazardous substances or wastes released or deposited on or in the development properties or
disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or remediate such substances, if any, could
adversely affect the ability to sell the development properties or to borrow using real estate as
collateral, and could potentially result in claims or other proceedings against the developer.
Further, environmental laws and regulations can change rapidly and the developers may become
subject to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in the future. Compliance with more
stringent environmental laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on a developer or a
particular Development Property, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.

(f)

Labour Shortages – The Developments GP may have difficulty attracting and retaining qualified
local personnel to work on its projects due to shortages of qualified workers and intense
competition for their services. It may also be difficult to attract, employ and retain qualified
expatriate workers as a result of legal and political restrictions applying to the use of foreign
workers or the socio-economic and security situations in the jurisdictions in which the
Developments GP operates. In the event of a labour shortage, the Developments GP could be
forced to increase wages in order to attract and retain personnel, which would result in higher
operating costs and reduced profitability. A failure by the Developments GP to attract and retain a
sufficient number of qualified workers could have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s results
of operations, business, prospects and financial condition.

(g)

Return on Invested Capital – The estimated percentage return on invested capital in respect of a
Development Property, is based on the actual cost of land, actual lease rates payable under any
pre-leasing and management’s reasonable assumptions of future lease rates, actual construction
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costs, if known or management’s reasonable assumption of construction costs, lease up costs,
leverage ratios, current and future interest rates, income growth and capitalization rates on sale.
There is no assurance that any Development Properties will generate a positive return on invested
capital or achieve any target goals of the Property GPs.
Aboriginal title claims and rights – Aboriginal title claims and rights against the Trust’s properties or against
properties in the areas in which the Trust operates may have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. The Trust’s operations may be delayed or interrupted to
the extent that they are deemed to encroach on, or are otherwise affected by, the traditional rights of aboriginal
people associated with the subject lands and natural resources. In June 2014, the Supreme Court of Canada (the
“Court”) released its decision on the aboriginal title claim by the Tsilhqot’in First Nation of British Columbia,
regarding land outside their traditional reserve area. The Court recognized Tsilhqot’in title to the area in dispute,
including rights to decide how the land will be used, occupancy and economic benefits. The court ruling held that
while the provincial government had the constitutional authority to regulate certain activity on aboriginal title lands,
it had not adequately consulted with the Tsilhqot’in. While the decision does not directly impact the Trust’s business
at this time, aboriginal title claims may potentially impact the Trust’s business. The Trust’s business may be
affected if the Trust’s properties or properties in the areas in which the Trust operates are subject to claims of
aboriginal title.
Reliance on Assumptions – The Trust’s business plan and investment strategy have been formulated based on the
Trustees’ and Directors’ analysis and expectations regarding future economic developments of Western Canada’s
North and oil and gas, and other commodity, prices. Such analysis may be incorrect and such expectations may not
be realized, in which event the return achieved by the Investments LP and Developments LP may be negatively
impacted.
No Maximum Time for Investment of Net Proceeds – There is no maximum time period for the full investment of
the net proceeds of the Offering in Properties and the timing of such investment will depend upon the Property GPs’
identification of Properties meeting their criteria for acquisition. There is a risk that the Investments LP and
Developments LP may not invest all proceeds of the Offering in Properties from the outset and that any resulting
returns may be negatively impacted.
Liability of Trust Unitholders – There is a risk that a Trust Unitholder could be held personally liable for obligations
in connection with the Trust (to the extent that claims are not satisfied by the Trust). The Trust Declaration provides
that no Trust Unitholder shall be held to have any personal liability as such for satisfaction of any obligation in respect
of or claim arising out of or in connection with any contract or obligation of the Trust or the Trustee (to the extent that
claims are not satisfied by the Trust). In any event, the Trust Declaration requires the Trustee to ensure that any written
contract or commitment of the Trust includes an express limitation of liability except where not reasonably possible.
Risks Associated with Redemptions
(a)

Use of Available Cash – The payment in cash by the Trust of the redemption price of Trust Units
will reduce the amount of cash available to the Trust for the payment of distributions to the
holders of Trust Units, as the payment of the amount due in respect of redemptions will take
priority over the payment of cash distributions.

(b)

Limitation on Payment of Redemption Price in Cash – The total cash amount available for the
payment of the redemption price of Trust Units by the Trust is limited to $100,000 in each
calendar quarter and is also limited in any twelve month period to 3/4 of 1% of the aggregate
subscription price of all Trust Units that were issued and outstanding at the start of such twelve
month period.

(c)

Payment of Redemption Price in Kind – As a result of the foregoing limitations, the redemption of
Trust Units may be paid by way of a Trust Note, Debt Security or Master LP Units. Trust Notes
and Debt Securities are payable over a term of five years or less with annual interest at the Canada
Five-Year Yield. Trust Notes, Debt Securities and Master LP Units received as a result of
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redemptions of Trust Units may not be liquid. Further, they will not be qualified investments for
Plans and may be prohibited investments for TFSAs, RRSPs and RRIFs which will generally give
rise to adverse consequences to a Plan and the annuitant or holder thereunder. Accordingly, Plans
that propose to invest in Trust Units should consult their own tax advisors before doing so and
before deciding to exercise the redemption rights attached to such Trust Units.
Tax Related Risk Factors – If the Trust does not qualify or ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax
Act, adverse consequences may arise, including the Trust becoming liable to pay certain additional tax liabilities,
resulting in less cash being available for distributions, and the Trust Units not being or ceasing to be qualified
investments for Plans, with the result that a Plan and/or its annuitant or holder will generally become subject to
additional tax or penalties or may be otherwise adversely affected. Further, the Trust and Master LP may be
exposed to the tax imposed by the SIFT Rules, or cash available for distributions may be reduced if Developments
LP, Investments LP, or any of their respective subsidiary entities are subject to the tax imposed by the SIFT Rules.
For a more complete discussion of the risks associated with an investment in Trust Units, see “Risk Factors” and
“Trustees, Directors and Officers – Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)”.
Summary Financial Information
The Trust
As at
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Item
Assets
Cash
Total Assets

$
$

10
10

Unitholder’s Equity
Initial Contribution
Unitholder’s Equity

$
$

10
10

The Master LP
On July 31, 2014 and September 11, 2014, the Master LP issued 1,072 Master LP Units and 866 Master LP Units,
respectively, at a price of $930 per Master LP Unit. The aggregate gross proceeds from the issuance of Master LP
Units is $1,802,340. On September 12, 2014, the Master LP, through the Investments LP, completed the acquisition
of the Transforce Property for a purchase price of $6,200,000 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of
$122,000. The acquisition was financed with cash and a new first mortgage in the amount of $4,650,000 bearing
interest at 3.72% per annum. As a condition to the mortgage, Mr. Evans entered into an indemnity agreement to
indemnify the lender against all losses, costs, expenses and damages relating to the mortgage, up to a maximum of
$930,000. See “Development of the Business of the Trust – The Transforce Property”.
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As at
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Item
Assets
Non-current asset
Investment Property

$

6,200,000

Total Assets

$
$
$
$
$

41,437
25,225
176,047
242,709
6,442,709

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Mortgage payable

$

4,478,137

Total Liabilities

$
$
$
$

94,301
265,173
359,474
4,837,611

Partners’ Capital
Non-controlling interest
General Partner’s capital
Limited Partners’ capital
Total Liabilities and Partners’ Capital

$
$
$
$

(75)
(75)
1,605,248
6,442,709

Item

For the period from
July 31, 2014 to
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Revenue
Operating expenses
Net Rental Income

$
$
$

34,009
(9,570)
24,439

Mortgage interest
Other expenses

$
$

(9,004)
(179,705)

Loss and comprehensive loss before non-controlling
interest
Non-controlling interest
Loss and comprehensive loss for the period

$
$
$

164,270
(85)
164,185

Current assets
Prepaid expenses
Amounts receivable
Cash

Current liabilities
Mortgage payable – current portion
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Selected Financial Information” and “Index to Financial
Statements”.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Name and Formation

The Trust
The Trust is an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust formed under and governed by the laws of the Province of
British Columbia and resident in Canada. The Trust was formed by a Trust Declaration made August 27, 2014 among
the Trustees, James Speakman as settlor, and all persons who become holders of Trust Units as provided therein.
The Trustees of the Trust are Stephen Evans (Chair of the Trustees), Antony Kalla and William Randall. The head
office and address for service of the Trust is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3L2.

The Master LP
The Master LP is a limited partnership formed pursuant to and governed by the laws of the Province of British
Columbia. The head office and address for service of the Master LP is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Master LP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885 West
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.
The general partner of the Master LP is REALnorth Opportunities Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of
Canada, having its office at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Master
GP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.

The Investments LP
The Investments LP is a limited partnership formed pursuant to and governed by the laws of the Province of British
Columbia. The head office and address for service of the Investments LP is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Investments LP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.
The general partner of the Investments LP is REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) GP Ltd., a company
incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, having its office at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Investments GP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.

The Developments LP
The Developments LP is a limited partnership formed pursuant to and governed by the laws of the Province of British
Columbia. The head office and address for service of the Developments LP is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Developments LP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.
The general partner of the Developments LP is REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) GP Ltd., a company
incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, having its office at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. The Developments GP’s registered and records office is located at 900 – 885
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1.
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Investment Structure
The following chart sets forth the relationships among the Trust, the Master LP, the Master GP, the Investments LP, the
Investments GP, the Developments LP and the Developments GP. The chart also illustrates the means by which funds
invested by the public under this Prospectus flow through to the Investments LP and Developments LP and are invested
in the Properties.

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)

If the minimum Offering is completed, the current limited partners will hold 16.2% of the Master LP Units. If the maximum
Offering is completed, the current limited partners will hold 6.1% of the Master LP Units.
The Trustees of the Trust are Stephen Evans (Chair of the Trustees), Antony Kalla and William Randall.
The Directors and officers of the Master GP are Stephen Evans (Chair of the Board), James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield
(President), Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill (non-director, Vice President, Operations).
The directors and officers of the Investments GP are Stephen Evans (President), Robert King, Brian R. Canfield (Secretary),
Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill (non-director, Vice President, Operations).
The directors and officers of the Developments GP are Stephen Evans (President), James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield (Secretary),
Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill (non-director, Vice President, Operations).
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BUSINESS AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY
Investment Highlights
The Trust has targeted Western Canada’s North for the purpose of investing in revenue producing and development
properties which management believes provide attractive return potential. The Properties may include industrial and
commercial opportunities, as well as multi-family and other residential real estate opportunities.


Western Canada’s Northern Resources and Infrastructure Projects Continue to Drive Canada’s
Economic Growth. Management believes Canada’s current and future growth will depend on
economically diverse provinces such as British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. Western Canada, and
Western Canada’s North in particular, is expected to be a main driver of GDP nationally due to the vast
number of demand generators connected in part to large reserves of natural gas and oil, resources including
timber and base metals, major infrastructure projects, positive migration trends along with a growing
tourism industry. Natural Resources Canada confirms the natural resource sector accounted for 19% of
Canadian GDP in 2013 and employed approximately 1.8 million people. Over the next ten years, it
anticipates over $675 billion will be invested into resource projects. Management believes that these factors
have created a significant opportunity to acquire real estate with attractive return potential in Western
Canada’s North.
Natural Resource Project Spending Planned & Underway(1)

$6B
1%

$50B
8%

$13B
2%

$159B
$23B
25% $221B $27B 4%
$54B
34%
4%
8%

$69B
11%
$26.2B
4%

Western Canadian Provinces = $407B (60%)
Source: Natural Resources Canada
(1)

Natural Resource project spending does not amount to $675 billion because $28 billion of multi-region projects are not
represented.



Unique Opportunity to Invest in Real Estate in Western Canada’s North. Management believes that
the Trust is currently the only investment vehicle which offers investors exclusive exposure to real estate in
Western Canada’s North. Bolstered by rich resources and planned infrastructure projects, management
believes that this is an opportune time for investors to gain real estate exposure to this dynamic and
important economic region.



Young and Growing Population in Western Canada’s North to Support Rising Real Estate Values.
Many cities in Western Canada’s North have favourable demographics and are expected to continue to
experience strong population growth in the future which management believes will support rising real
estate values. Several key cities including Fort St. John, British Columbia; Fort McMurray, Alberta and
Grande Prairie, Alberta have median ages in the low 30s. Management believes a younger population base
is important as it leads to a more robust economy, including a more active housing market and a stronger
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tax base through higher employment and consumer spending. Management also believes there can be
strong parallels drawn between the success the Fort McMurray real estate market has experienced over the
past 15 years and other markets anticipated to benefit from a growing resource-based economy.


Experienced Management Team with a Strong Track Record of Creating Value. The management
team will be led by Stephen Evans, James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield, Mark Hewett and Randy Cockrill.
Investors will have the benefit of management’s breadth of experience in all facets of real estate, including
acquisitions, asset management, property development, property management, lease administration and
finance.
Management of the Trust has a strong track record of creating value in real estate. Stephen Evans has
established several publicly listed real estate platforms and has raised over $1.8 billion in equity capital
across these platforms. He is the co-founder of the Sunstone funds, co-founder and co-CEO of PIRET,
CEO of Pure Multi-Family, director of WesternOne Inc. (which owns modular builder Britco) and of
American Hotel Income Properties REIT LP. PIRET is a publicly-listed REIT which has raised
approximately $800 million in equity financing since its IPO in 2007 and has acquired a portfolio of over
150 properties in Canada having a total fair market value of approximately $1.4 billion. Pure Multi-Family
completed its IPO in 2012 and currently has a portfolio of approximately 4,500 luxury apartment units
located in strong growth markets of the southwestern United States.
James Redekop has over 25 years of experience in residential and commercial development in British
Columbia through Redekop Development Corp. Randy Cockrill is a real estate acquisition, development
and financing consultant with over 15 years of experience, much of which relates to northern British
Columbia. Brian R. Canfield is a senior partner of Farris, Vaughan, Wills & Murphy LLP, a law firm with
offices in Vancouver, Kelowna and Victoria and has extensive experience with all aspects of real estate
development, including in Northern British Columbia. Mark Hewett is a Senior Investment Advisor, Senior
Vice President and Portfolio Manager with an engineering background and brings an understanding of
issues that Northern British Columbian communities have with respect to pipelines and specifically natural
gas.



Proven Ability to Develop Real Estate. Management of the Developments LP has real estate
development expertise with the ability to undertake commercial, residential and bare land development,
construction and expansion opportunities. James Redekop has over 25 years of experience in residential
and commercial development in British Columbia. Randy Cockrill has over 15 years of experience in real
estate development, much of which relates to northern British Columbia. Further, Stephen Evans and
William Randall have complementary real estate experience in developing real estate. In addition,
management of the Developments LP has established a relationship with one of the largest modular
construction companies in North America. Such relationship provides access to a cost-controlled
construction process, rather than having to rely upon local labour and trades, which management believes
has the potential to become short in supply and correspondingly expensive.



Alignment of Interest Between Management and Trust Unitholders. The Master GP believes that
individual investors should have the same investment opportunities as institutions, pension funds and high
net worth individuals. With this goal in mind, an investment in Trust Units has been structured to align the
interests of the Master GP with those of the Trust Unitholders. Accordingly, Trust Unitholders are entitled,
by way, and to the extent, of the Trust’s investment in Master LP Units to a minimum non-compounded
annual return of 7% of the Net Equity then outstanding and a return of capital before any amount is paid to
the Master GP on account of the Incentive Management Interest. (see “Description of the Securities
Distributed – The Master LP”).



Prudent Use of Financial Leverage. The current real estate debt financing market offers long-term debt
financing at attractive interest rates which the Property GPs intend to fully utilize in order to increase the
return on equity. The Property GPs expect to target properties that could generate a positive return on
invested capital of not less than 10% per annum, with a target goal in excess of 15% per annum for an
Investment Property and 14% per annum, with a target goal in excess of 18% per annum, over the term of
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the investment in the case of a Development Property. As well, the Property GPs will target an overall
loan-to-value ratio (of mortgage loans) at no more than 70% of the purchase price of the Properties as a
whole, plus the amount of any property improvement reserve account approved by the Lenders. However,
if deemed appropriate by the Property GPs, having regard to all of the circumstances including the potential
value of the Properties identified for investment, the Property GPs may cause the overall loan-to-value ratio
of the Mortgage Loans to exceed this threshold.
Historical Commercial Mortgage Spreads
8.0%

6.0%

4.0%

2.0%

0.0%
Mar-08

Mar-09

Mar-10

10 Year Government Canadian Bond

Mar-11

Mar-12

5 Year Government Canadian Bond

Mar-13

10 Year Commercial Mortgage Rate

Mar-14
5 Year Commercial Mortgage Rate

Source: CBRE Canada

Market Opportunity
Management believes Canada’s current and future growth will depend on economically diverse provinces such as
British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. Western Canada, and Western Canada’s North in particular, is
expected to be a main driver of GDP nationally due to the vast number of demand generators connected in part to
large reserves of natural gas and oil, resources including timber and base metals, major infrastructure projects,
positive migration trends along with a growing tourism industry. British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan
continue to experience the highest real GDP growth rates in Canada.
Real GDP Growth Rates
Newfoundland &
Labrador

Canada
2013
2014
2015

British
Columbia
2013
2014
2015

1.8%
2.3%
2.4%

2013
2014
2015

1.9%
2.4%
2.8%

Alberta
2013
2014
2015

Manitoba

3.6%
3.2%
2.6%

2013
2014
2015

Saskatchewan
2013
2014
2015

4.1%
2.1%
2.2%

Prince Edward
Island

Quebec

1.5%
1.8%
3.0%

2013
2014
2015

5.4%
0.4%
0.7%

1.1%
2.0%
2.0%

2013
2014
2015

2.3%
1.2%
2.1%

Ontario
2013
2014
2015

1.1%
2.1%
2.4%

Source: The Conference Board of Canada
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Nova Scotia
New Brunswick
2013
2014
2015

0.5%
0.8%
2.3%

2013
2014
2015

1.2%
2.6%
2.8%

British Columbia’s economy is showing signs that a strong pace of activity is spreading across industrial sectors, led
by substantial gains in export markets. Activity is ramping up in areas of the provincial economy such as
manufacturing, mining, energy, retail trade and housing. General conditions may brighten even more in 2015 with
rising U.S. demand keeping British Columbian exports on an upward climb, which will continue to benefit the
industrial sector both directly and indirectly. Possible upside may also be provided in the near-term by one or more
multi-billion dollar LNG projects in the province that have been proposed. On December 16, 2014, the Province of
British Columbia announced that it has approved the Site C hydroelectric dam project (the “Site C Project”) near
Fort St. John. In addition, the BC Hydro Northwest Transmission Line Project was recently completed at a cost of
$746 million. It provides a reliable supply of clean power to potential industrial developments in the area and a
secure interconnection point for clean generation projects.
Alberta’s economy continues to be strong and its real GDP growth rate is expected to be 2.6% in 2015. Significant
investment in Alberta’s energy sector and strong population growth will drive expansion in Alberta’s economy in
2015. As a result of favourable economic and demographic fundamentals, Alberta’s housing market is quite
constrained.
Saskatchewan’s economy continues to perform well, supported by its diverse resource and agricultural sectors. Real
GDP grew 4.1% in 2013, due in part to a record crop year, but is expected to moderate to 2.1% this year, still
slightly above the national average. The oil sector continues to expand in Saskatchewan and is now over 20% of the
province’s real GDP and population growth remains strong.
Western Canada, supported by the resource-rich Northern region, is expected to continue to lead Canada in
economic activity in the near-term and beyond. Western Canada’s North has multiple economic drivers including
oil and gas, mining, forestry, transportation, infrastructure government, tourism and education. In addition, the
region benefits from growing populations and increasing demand for workers as the industries continue to develop.
Management believes these fundamentals make Western Canada’s North a promising market for real estate in all
asset classes.
Key Markets in Western Canada
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Northern British Columbia Market Opportunity
British Columbia is expected to be one of the leaders in national real GDP growth in 2014 and 2015 due in part to
the Site C Project on the Peace River in the province’s northeast, natural gas development and the production and
transportation of LNG. The Government of British Columbia has committed to having several LNG facilities in
operation on or about 2020, subject to environmental approvals and market conditions. In 2012 project proponents
estimated that proposed LNG facilities could result in $20 billion in direct new investments, as many as 9,000 new
construction jobs, approximately 800 long-term jobs, thousands of potential spin-off jobs, and over $1 billion a year
in additional revenues to the Government of British Columbia. For example, on November 7, 2014, Royal Dutch
Shell PLC announced it expects to spend $8 billion on Canadian goods and services during the construction of its
LNG project should it proceed.
According to the British Columbia Labour Market Outlook, more than one million job openings are expected in the
province over the next ten years. By 2019, the number of workers needed in British Columbia is expected to exceed
the number of workers available in the province. The Government of British Columbia predicts that throughout the
forecast period (2012 - 2022), growth in demand for workers will outpace growth in the supply of workers by
42,250. This shortage is expected to decrease unemployment rates and increase average wages as employers seek to
attract workers from across the nation and the globe.
British Columbia is part of the Western Canada Sedimentary Basin, which houses the vast majority of crude, oil, gas
and bitumen for the country. According to the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, there was $5.2 billion
in industry spending in British Columbia on exploration and development in 2012.
Management expects that increased U.S. industrial production will also provide a boost to the natural gas sector in
the near-term. The province is already the second-largest natural gas producer in Canada and the Canadian
Association of Petroleum Producers predicts that more activity is anticipated in the future.
A modest recovery has begun in the forestry industry over the last several years. Lumber production and exports are
trending up, largely because of market expansion in China. According to the Council of Forest Industries, by the end
of 2012, the forestry industry accounted for 3% of the provincial GDP and employed 170,000 people both directly
and indirectly. As the American housing market conditions continue to improve, the demand for British Columbia
lumber tends to grow.
According to the Mining Association of British Columbia, the mining industry contributed $8.5 billion to the
provincial economy in 2013 while the number of people working in British Columbia's mining industry in 2013
increased to 10,720, up from 10,419 in 2012. Demand for British Columbia’s mineral resources such as coal and
copper are expected to remain strong over the near term, driven by demand from rapidly industrializing countries
such as India and China.
With fertile land and abundant water, agriculture has always played a significant role in British Columbia’s
economy. According to the Government of British Columbia, nearly 20,000 British Columbia farms produced over
200 different commodities in 2012. The agri-food sector generated nearly $11.7 billion in revenues in 2012 and
directly employed over 61,000 British Columbia residents.
Central British Columbia (Prince George)
Known as “B.C.’s Northern Capital,” the City of Prince George is situated between the Fraser and Nechako Rivers.
The city is the geographic centre of British Columbia, located 800 kilometres north of Vancouver and 740
kilometres west of Edmonton, Alberta. Strategically located at the junction of Highway 97 (running north-south) and
Highway 16 (running east-west), the city has become a major transportation hub for British Columbia and is the
service and supply centre for more than $23 billion worth of major projects currently underway and approximately
$140 billion of proposed projects in Northern British Columbia over the next decade according to the Prince George
Economic Development Corporation. Prince George is located on the shortest sea/land route connecting North
America to China, Japan, and South Korea and the inland port connection to the Port of Prince Rupert has opened
trade possibilities with Asia while major rail lines connect the city with U.S. markets. As the site for Canadian
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National Railway’s intermodal investment, Prince George is a growing export distribution centre for shipments of
wood, pulp and other value-added products.
A runway extension at the Prince George International Airport was completed in 2009, making it one of the longest
commercial runways in Canada.
Demographics
According to Statistic Canada’s 2011 census, Prince George has a population of approximately 88,000, which
services a regional population of approximately 335,000 and a median age of 39 years, younger than the median age
of the province by two years. The 25 to 44 age group accounts for nearly 27% of the total population. Only 11.6% of
the city’s population is over the age of 65.
Economic Drivers
The Prince George economy has grown at nearly double the rate of the British Columbian economy annually since
2010 at 4.7% compared to 2.4% for British Columbia as a whole. Prince George is the service and supply hub for
the more than $23 billion worth of major resource and resource related projects currently underway and
approximately $140 billion proposed in the coming decade in Northern British Columbia. The city’s economy is
driven by a rich natural resource base and its strategic geographic location.
One of the city’s largest economic drivers is the forestry industry. Many of the province’s lumber, pulp and paper
industries are based in Prince George. The city is home to 12 saw mills, three pulp mills and is involved in plywood
manufacturing, log home construction and value added forestry products. With the U.S. real estate market
continuing its recovery, lumber prices have responded, supporting the local industry.
The British Columbia forestry industry has also seen considerable diversification in recent years with wood pellet
exports increasing and most of British Columbia’s exports coming from the Prince George region.
The mining and mineral exploration is also experiencing major growth in Prince George. According to Initiatives
Prince George, currently there are 11 operating mines, three under development, 25 proposed mines and 51 major
exploration projects across Northern British Columbia. In 2012, approximately $680 million was invested in
Northern British Columbia mineral exploration, up 47% from the previous year. There is currently approximately
$5.5 billion in mining development planned in Northwest British Columbia. The future of the mining sector in
Northern British Columbia is promising, and management anticipates that the sector’s presence in Prince George
will continue to grow. A number of mining development projects are expected to begin construction soon now that
British Columbia’s Hydro’s Northwest Transmission line is complete. Employment in the mining sector in Prince
George increased by an annual average of 31.5% from 2007 to 2012 with 1,100 Prince George residents and 6,800
people in Northern British Columbia directly employed in mining and exploration in 2012.
The majority of British Columbia’s oil and gas activity is in the northeast and Prince George is expected to be a key
supplier base to projects that are established in this region. Furthermore, proposed pipelines through the Prince
George region could provide significant incremental opportunities for professional services,
manufacturing/fabrication, construction and transportation businesses in Prince George.
The manufacturing sector in Prince George employs approximately 3,700 residents directly. It is well diversified in
chemicals, machinery/equipment and metal products. This sector is supported by the strong transportation network
in Prince George and management believes it will see sustained growth over the coming years.
Construction is a key sector contributing to Prince George’s role as the service and supply centre for Northern
British Columbia. According to Initiatives Prince George, 28.5% of the region’s construction employment is based
in Prince George with 23.1% of construction firms in Northern British Columbia based in Prince George.
Approximately 70% of all capital investment proposed in British Columbia is expected to occur in Northern British
Columbia.
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Prince George is home to Canadian National Railway’s divisional headquarters. With the railway’s 32,000
kilometres of track crossing east-west across the country and north-south to the mid-United States, Prince George is
equipped with prime transportation for its manufacturing and industrial companies. Home to Canadian National
Railway’s intermodal terminal, Prince George is located on the shortest sea/land route connecting North America to
China, Japan and South Korea. In 2011, the facility underwent a $3.2 million expansion of its Prince George
distribution centre. The expansion allowed Canadian National Railway to increase its production from loading 400
containers a day to 700 containers a day.
Rail lines from Prince George

Source: Prince George Economic Development Corporation

The University of Northern British Columbia has a large presence in Prince George with approximately 4,200
students and 400 faculty members. Maclean’s magazine ranked the University of Northern British Columbia as top 3
of 19 small universities in Canada (2014). The College of New Caledonia also operates a campus in Prince George
and provides education for approximately 5,000 students.
Post-secondary education directly contributed $261 million to Prince George’s economy, translating to an economic
impact of $395 million according to the Prince George Economic Development Corporation. The presence of a
university or college in a community can have a positive influence on local real estate and the economy generally. In
times of a prospering economy, people seek post-secondary education and in times of economic downturn and a
tight job market, people go to school to increase their employable skills. Aside from the jobs that any such
institution brings to a community, in many cases, students are looking for residence near their campus.
British Columbia Peace River Region (Fort St. John)
As the largest city within British Columbia’s Peace River Region and only approximately 200 kilometres west of
Grande Prairie, Fort St. John is experiencing a boom for the oil and gas industry. Located at mile 47 on the Alaska
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Highway (Highway 97), the city has links to exploration and production centres in eastern oil rich Alberta’s
resource-rich areas of northeastern British Columbia. Fort St. John is within an hour’s driving time from the
Montney formation and within several hours’ driving time from the Horn River Basin.
Like Dawson Creek, located 75 kilometres to the south, Fort St. John’s location allows it to act as a major service
centre to the cities and towns of Northeastern British Columbia.
The region is benefiting from positive net migration due to high wages and opportunity. With several major oil and
gas projects set to be completed in the region over the next decade, the city is likely to continue to benefit from rapid
population growth. The completion of the new Fort St. John Hospital in 2012 and the Province’s recent approval of
the Site C Project new Fort St. John are contributing to its reputation as a hub for northeastern British Columbia.
With fairly recent attention being focused on the region as a viable source of shale based natural gas, a further boost
to the economy is possible as exploration and production in the area increases. In 2012, the Conference Board of
Canada predicted that demand for Canadian natural gas will drive $386 billion in investment over the next 22 years.
The investment in both sectors will primarily benefit northern British Columbia and Alberta.
Beyond oil and gas, Fort St. John also has established forestry and agriculture industries.
Demographics
As of the last federal census in 2011, the population of Fort St. John was 18,609 in 2011. This is an increase of 6.9%
from 2006, when the population was 17,402, in line with the population growth rate of the province. Given the
confluence of potential major projects in the region, management believes Fort St. John’s population is likely to
grow above the national average.
The median age in Fort St. John is 32 years, significantly below the median age in British Columbia of 41.9 years.
This demographic reflects a movement of young people looking for high paying work. Management believes this
trend is important for real estate investors as younger people have more active housing demands and also contribute
readily to the taxation base through employment taxes and more consumption of goods. A younger median age leads
to family creation, which stimulates the housing economy as new parents move into bigger or more appropriate
homes to accommodate their growing family.
As of August 2014, the unemployment rate for northeast British Columbia was only 3.9%, while the provincial
unemployment rate was 6.2%.
Economic Drivers
The British Columbia Peace River Region has abundant resources. The region produces 38% of the province’s
hydroelectric power, 90% of the province’s grain and contains some of the largest gas fields in North America. It is
estimated that the region has over 10,000 wells drilled, employs approximately 2,300 workers in the forestry
industry and receives approximately 300,000 tourists a year.
The oil and gas sector is the main driver of Fort St. John’s economy. The city is at the upstream crossroads of two
recently discovered tight gas fields in northeastern British Columbia. Management believes that both the Montney
Formation to the southeast and the Horn River Basin to the north offer exciting possibilities of population and
economic growth for Fort St. John. The two basins alone were estimated in 2011 to hold approximately 30% of all
of North America’s shale gas reserves. The increased demand for natural gas will drive an anticipated $386 billion
investment in the natural gas sector will generate over 131,000 new jobs per year in Canada.
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Shale Gas Formations in Northeast British Columbia

Source: BC Tap Water Alliance

The investment in these fields stems primarily from two drivers:



The development of an LNG industry in British Columbia where gas is proposed to be extracted from the
province’s northeast, piped to the west coast, liquefied and shipped to the Asian marketplace; and
A rise in domestic natural gas demand primarily driven by oil sands industry for natural gas liquids
extracted from the Montney Basin to be added as diluents to the bitumen, allowing it to flow more easily
into pipelines.

There are several proposed LNG projects in British Columbia, all of which are relying on gas from the upstream
reserves based in the Peace River Region. Below is a list of announced LNG proposed projects as of March 31,
2014:
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LNG Proposed Projects

LNG Project

Proponent

Location

Aurora LNG

CNOOC Limited’s wholly‐owned subsidiary
Nexen Energy ULC/INPEX Corporation/JGC
Corporation

North of Prince Rupert

Discovery LNG

Quicksilver Resources Canada

Campbell River

Douglas Channel Energy

Douglas Channel Gas Services, Haisla nation,
Golar LNG, LNG Partners LLC

Kitimat

Kitimat LNG

Apache Corp. and Chevron Canada

(1)

Kitimat

Kitsault Energy Project

Kitsault Energy Ltd.

Kitsault

LNG Canada

Shell Canada, KOGAS, Mitsubishi,
PetroChina

Kitimat

Pacific Northwest LNG

Petronas

Prince Rupert

Prince Rupert LNG

BG Group

Prince Rupert

Triton LNG Limited Partnership

AltaGas Ltd. And Idemitsu Canada Corp.

No site chosen

West Coast Canada LNG Ltd.

ExxonMobil Corp. and Imperial Oil Ltd.

No site chosen

Woodfibre LNG Project

Woodfibre Natural Gas Limited

Squamish

Woodside LNG

Woodside

North of Prince Rupert

Source: http://engage.gov.bc.ca/lnginbc/lng-projects
(1)

On December 15, 2014, Woodside Petroleum Ltd. of Australia announced that it has entered into a binding transaction with
Apache Corp. (“Apache”) to purchase various oil and gas interests from Apache in Canada and Australia, including its 50%
interest in the Kitimat LNG project and various natural gas interests in the Horn River and Liard Basins located in
northeastern British Columbia.

Fort St. John boasts numerous companies specializing in large and small pipelines, trucking, seismic research and
well site construction, which provides key support to the oil and gas industry.
Another key sector for Fort St. John is agriculture due largely to abundant hours of sunshine during the growing
season. The Peace River Region produces more barley, wheat and grass seed than any other area in the province.
The forestry sector also plays a large role in the economy of the city. In 2009, the city was named the Forest Capital
of British Columbia by the Association of B.C. Forest Professionals. The timber supply surrounding Fort St. John is
in excess of 4.5 million hectares, providing direct employment for nearly 600 people.
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Major Projects either Proposed or Already Underway in the Peace River Region

Project

Investment

Details

Gordon M. Shrum
Generating Station Upgrades

$600 million

•

To ensure ongoing reliability, flexibility, and availability of power at
the aging GM Shrum Generating Station

Shell Grounbirch

Multi‐billion dollar

•

Facilities for gas processing, water and fluid handling, 900+ km of
pipeline, four active drilling rigs and over 300 wells, which produce
over 330 million standard cubic feet of raw gas per day

Coastal Gaslink Pipeline
TransCanada Pipeline Ltd.

$4 + billion

•

650 km pipeline from Dawson Creek to proposed LNG Facilities on
Northern BC’s coast

$8 + billion

•

Development of a third hydroelectric facility on the Peace River in
northeast British Columbia to meet an anticipated 40% increase in
long term electricity needs

Multi‐billion dollar

•

Developing 409,000 net acres of undeveloped Montney natural
gas lands in northeast British Columbia.
Estimated 10,000 ongoing jobs created in British Columbia over
the first 20 years of development.

Site C Clean Energy Project

(1)

Cutbank Ridge Partnership
Encana Corp. and Mitsubishi
Corp.

•

Source: BC Hydro, Shell Canada, TransCanada Pipeline Ltd. and Encana Corp.
(1)

On December 16, 2014, the Province of British Columbia announced that it has approved the Site C Project.

Coastal British Columbia (Kitimat)
Kitimat is a world-class port and manufacturing centre and key link to the Pacific Rim region, occupying a strategic
location in Canada’s Asia-Pacific Gateway and Corridor Initiative. Kitimat has substantial existing infrastructure,
secondary industries, a skilled workforce and ample space for new industrial development. Kitimat is one of the key
cities in Western Canada able to respond to the investment needs of government agencies and multinational firms in
the industrial, transportation, trade and manufacturing sectors. The modern District of Kitimat became a reality in
1950, when the Aluminum Company of Canada (Alcan) chose a site at the head of Kitimat arm of the Douglas
Channel for an aluminum smelter. Kitimat offers a unique mix of a natural outdoor lifestyle and the benefit of
industrial and transportation employment which has resulted in impressive growth.
Kitimat is the third largest port in British Columbia and home to one of the only private ports in North America.
While the Port of Kitimat has been attracting substantial investment in energy-related projects, management believes
it is an underutilized location, with significant potential for further development of manufacturing facilities. The Port
of Kitimat is one of the few locations where private container-terminal development can take place within a private
port location, and has room for expansion without the need to reclaim land. With multiple projects awaiting final
investment decisions and with flat and suitable land for heavy industry, significant sand and gravel resources, secure
hydroelectric power supply and a deep water harbour, Kitimat offers a unique platform for economic growth.
Demographics
Kitimat's population was 8,340 as of the 2011 federal census, and is expected to increase as the region continues to
grow.
Economic Drivers
The Port of Kitimat and Kitimat Valley occupy a strategic location on the great circle shipping route. This private
port and coastal valley have provided a vital link for safe, efficient global trade via international shipping lanes for
manufacturing industries. Kitimat's deep-sea harbour is larger than Vancouver’s Burrard Inlet and the Port of Prince
Rupert harbour. Transportation cost advantages stem from being an inland port. With a significant cost differential
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between transporting on water versus land, Kitimat shippers have a double advantage. Their products reach
tidewater first and can stay on tidewaters stretching inland.
The Kitimat Valley is second of only two wide flat coastal valleys on Canada’s Pacific Coast, the first being British
Columbia's Fraser Valley. Management believes the Kitimat Valley is one of the largest and most developable
tracts of available tidewater lands on the Pacific Coast of North America.
Canada’s Northwest Transport and Trade Corridor is an industrial North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA)
trade route which spans half of continental Canada. It reaches from Kitimat’s deep inland port to Chicago and the
heartland of North America. It uses the lowest elevations of the continental divide and is directly connected to serve
North American markets by all modes of transportation. It is the shortest, straightest and flattest route between
Asian and North American markets. Like other northern ports, Kitimat enjoys a one day shipping advantage each
way over ports to the south. In addition, Management believes Kitimat’s inland location enables it to compete with
the southern port of Vancouver in both rail distance and comparable service from the Pacific to Chicago and North
America central markets, providing a unique advantage compared to competing northwest corridor ports.
Kitimat is the centre for anticipated development for LNG export, natural gas liquids handling, bitumen export,
condensate import, large and small co-generation power facilities, aggregate processing and new hydro and
renewable energy development.
LNG Export Routes

Source: Northwest Coast Energy News

Kitimat is a growing shipping hub, boasting the third largest port on the west coast of Canada in terms of
international trade (based on tonnage), behind the Port of Metro Vancouver and the Port of Prince Rupert. Shipping
distances to Asian markets are comparable with those of Prince Rupert and a full day closer than ports in southern
British Columbia. Kitimat is British Columbia's largest private port and the deepest inland outlet for goods moving
along the Northwest transportation and trade corridor. All inner harbour shipping facilities and marine docks in
Kitimat are owned by private sector companies. As a result of these advantages, Kitimat continues to see impressive
growth and is a prime port for future shipments of LNG to Asia.
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Rio Tinto Alcan produces one-third of British Columbia’s primary metal manufacturing out of their Kitimat smelter,
which is British Columbia’s largest value-added industry, with the current capacity to produce 282,000 metric
tonnes of aluminum annually. A modernization project is underway which will increase production capacity to
420,000 metric tonnes and is expected to be completed in 2015. Raw materials are imported from Australia and
Korea, and finished products are exported primarily to the Pacific Rim market.
The Kitimat Valley labour force is over 16,000. Kitimat employs residents from Terrace and other communities in
the Kitimat Valley in its manufacturing and supply and service sector to heavy industry.
Global manufacturing exports and energy-related activity are fundamental to Kitimat's economic output leading the
northwest region of British Columbia. According to the District of Kitimat, industries operating within its
boundaries are responsible for up to 11% of British Columbia's annual manufactured exports and ship up to 5% of
annual British Columbia exports.
Major Infrastructure Projects Currently Proposed for the Kitimat Area

Project

Investment

Details

Rio Tinto Alcan
Modernization

$4.8 billion

•
•

Increase smelter’s production by 48% to 420,000 tonnes/year
First hot metal expected to be poured in spring 2015

Kitimat LNG

$5.8 billion
(including the Pacific Trail
Pipeline)

•
•

Chevron Canada and Apache each hold 50% stake
Initial capacity to produce 700 million cubic feet of natural gas per day or
five million tonnes of liquefied natural gas per year
Estimated to create 3,000 to 5,000 jobs during construction and up to 100
to 200 permanent jobs for operation

•

Pacific Trail Pipeline

See above under
“Kitimat LNG”

•
•
•

(1)

480 km pipeline to supply gas from Summit Lake (North of Prince George)
to Kitimat LNG
$200 million benefits agreement with 15 First Nations along the pipeline
right‐of‐way
Final Investment Decision expected in conjunction with Kitimat LNG project

LNG Canada

$12 billion

•
•

Joint venture led by Shell (50%)
Construction and operation of natural gas treatment facilities, liquefaction
and storage facilities, marine terminal facilities, an interconnecting
cryogenic transfer pipeline, and supporting infrastructure

Coastal Gaslink Pipeline
Transcanada Pipeline Ltd.

$4 + billion

•

650 km pipeline from Dawson Creek to proposed LNG Facilities on
Northern BC’s coast

Enbridge Northern
Gateway

$6.5 billion

•

Construct of two, 1,177 km pipelines from just outside Edmonton, AB to
Kitimat, BC carrying over 700,000 barrels of oil per day
Will employ approximately 3,000 workers at peak construction.

•

Source: Invest in Northwest British Columbia
(1)

On December 15, 2014, Woodside Petroleum Ltd. of Australia announced that it has entered into a binding transaction with
Apache to purchase various oil and gas interests from Apache in Canada and Australia, including its 50% interest in the
Kitimat LNG project and various natural gas interests in the Horn River and Liard Basins located in northeastern British
Columbia.
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Northern Alberta Market Opportunity
Alberta’s economy has consistently outperformed the Canadian average since 2003, according to the Government of
Alberta. In 2012, the province recorded the highest GDP growth, the largest growth in employment and one of the
lowest unemployment rates in the country. Alberta has benefitted from historic rising oil prices, which have
encouraged substantial investment in the energy sector, driving up employment and exports. Total investment in
Alberta continues to grow, with the highest per capita investment of any province in 2011 according to Alberta
Innovation and Advanced Education.
Since 2011, there has been a sustained increase in Alberta’s population and employment levels. According to the last
federal census in 2011, the Province of Alberta had a population of 3,645,257. This represents a growth of 10.8%
since the 2006 federal census, nearly double the national average of 5.9% during the same time period. In addition,
Alberta’s unemployment rate stood at 4.5% in September 2014, trailing behind only Saskatchewan’s unemployment
rate of 3.5% in September 2014.
Immigration and interprovincial migration continues to be the key driver in Alberta’s population growth.
Newcomers to a region tend to rent upon arrival, thus boosting demand for rental accommodation. Management
believes that newcomers, a maturing echo boom and an increasing number of post-secondary students moving to the
province for education will boost demand for rental accommodation over the next several years.
Over the next decade, Alberta’s labour market is forecast by the Government of Alberta’s Labour Market
Information (LMI) Division to grow by approximately 607,000 workers, an annual increase of 2.4%. A net increase
of approximately 492,000 workers is expected to join the labour force, leading to a potential labour shortage of
115,000 workers. This dynamic will likely further decrease unemployment rates and add pressure to wages as
employers look to attract workers from across the nation and world.
Energy remains one of Alberta’s largest economic drivers, accounting for approximately a quarter of the province’s
GDP and 70% of its exports. The energy industry is responsible for 275,000 of Alberta’s direct and indirect jobs.
Alberta’s energy resources include conventional oil, the oil sands, natural gas, coal and coal bed methane. Alberta’s
energy revenues totalled $96.3 billion in 2013, with energy exports totalling $75.2 billion. Oil and gas has long
been the principal driver of Alberta’s economy.
Impact of the Oil and Gas Sector on Alberta Real GDP

Source: University of Calgary
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Canada has the third largest proven crude oil reserves in the world, and most of these reserves are in Alberta’s oil
sands (approximately 168 billion barrels). According to the Government of Alberta, there are $8 of economic benefit
for each $1 of oil sands investment.
Oil Sands in Alberta

Source: Alberta Government (January 2014)

Central Alberta (Edmonton)
The geographical centre of Alberta, Edmonton is 300 kilometres north of Calgary. Edmonton offers businesses
links to both west (British Columbia) and east (Saskatchewan) via the Trans-Canada highway.
Edmonton is the capital city of Alberta and is the major service centre for one of the world’s largest and most
politically stable oil supplies (the oil sands). As the “Gateway to the Oil Sands”, Edmonton is the major hub that
services the Wood Buffalo (Fort McMurray) Region, providing services and products for both commercial purposes
and enhancing the quality of life of those that live and work there.
Demographics
According to the 2014 municipal census, the population of the City of Edmonton was 877,926, an increase of 3.5%
from the 2012 municipal census while the most recent Statistics Canada estimates place the Edmonton’s Census
Metropolitan Area’s population at 1,289,600. The population increase between the most recent two federal
censuses, in 2006 and 2011, was nearly double the average growth rate experienced by the country during the same
time period.
As of the 2011 federal census, the median age of Edmonton at 36 years was significantly below the 40.6 years
recorded for Canadians as a whole during the same time period. While the majority of Canada’s population ages,
Edmonton continues to attract younger families.
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Economic Drivers
Despite the weaker prospects for Canadian economic growth experienced in the last few years, Edmonton has
remained one of the top economic performers in the country. Bolstered by its diverse economy and one of Canada’s
strongest labour markets, Edmonton’s economy is well-equipped to continue to perform.
Edmonton’s economy is driven by Alberta’s wealth of natural resources, and the city has benefitted from the
province’s energy industry. Edmonton companies have grown significantly by providing vital logistics,
engineering, manufacturing and research and development services for the oil sands.
Edmonton has become a national centre for upgrading and refining. Imperial Oil, Shell, Syncrude and Suncor
produce a significant amount of the country’s petroleum products within the city. The Edmonton Energy and
Technology Park, a 4,857-hectare eco-industrial park in the city’s northeast is currently under development.
Edmonton’s successes extend beyond the wealth of the oil and gas industry. Part of Alberta’s industrial heartland,
manufacturing plays a key role in diversifying the city’s economy. According to the city, Edmonton’s manufacturing
sector, Alberta’s largest manufacturing centre, is projected to grow an average of 4.2% per year through 2016.
The city’s largest employers are the Government of Alberta, Alberta Health Services, the City of Edmonton and the
University of Alberta. Some of Edmonton’s other major industry clusters and sectors include: agri-food products
and agriculture, construction, biotechnology, financial services, forest products, information and communication
technologies, medical services, nanotechnology, retail, tourism and transportation.
Edmonton is also home to numerous post-secondary institutions, providing the city with access to a large and
qualified labour pool. Anchored by the University of Alberta and the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology, the
city’s six public post-secondary institutions have a combined enrolment of over 115,000 students.
Alberta Peace River Region (Grande Prairie)
Grande Prairie is located in northwestern Alberta, in the heart of one of the province’s oil and gas regions. The city’s
proximity to northeastern British Columbia, the Yukon and the Northwest makes it the hub of the regional trading
area. Residents of the Peace River Region visit the Grande Prairie for shopping, entertainment, education and health
services. The city’s status as a regional centre has attracted national retailers and provides a large customer base for
businesses.
Grande Prairie boasts a low unemployment rate, high average incomes and a high quality of life. Grande Prairie’s oil
and gas industry has attracted young people from across the country, significantly lowering the city’s median age.
Grande Prairie is the heart of the Peace Country’s transportation network. The city is linked by road to Dawson
Creek and Fort St. John, British Columbia. To the north, Highway 2 provides businesses with access to the Peace
River Valley. To the south, Highway 40 provides residents with access to Jasper National Park, world class ski
resorts and hot springs.
Demographics
According to the 2011 federal census, the City of Grande Prairie had a population of 55,032, up from 47,107 in
2006. This represents a growth of nearly 17% over that period.
Grande Prairie’s economy is attracting a significant in-migration of young families in the city. As of the last federal
census, the median age of a resident in Grande Prairie is significantly lower than the rest of the province at 30.3
years. In fact, the city was the youngest in Canada as of the 2011 federal census.
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Economic Drivers
Grande Prairie’s economy is expected to continue to grow significantly over the next decade, bringing with it more
employment opportunities. While Grande Prairie is often noted for its oil and gas industry, the region is also home to
a wide variety of other industries, including: forestry, agriculture, manufacturing and retail, and more recently,
tourism.
Management believes the Alberta Peace Region’s oil and gas industry has very strong growth potential in the next
several decades, with abundant conventional and unconventional reserves. As the regional service hub of the Peace
Region, Grande Prairie companies service oil and gas activities not only in Northwestern Alberta, but Northeastern
British Columbia and the Northwest Territories as well. Grande Prairie is well positioned to realize future growth in
this sector as world energy demand continues to rise.
Agriculture as well as pulp and paper remain two of Grande Prairie’s key economic sectors. Grande Prairie
currently has three mill operations including Canfor Corporation, Weyerhaeuser Company Limited and Ainsworth
Lumber Co. Ltd. Weyerhaeuser operates both a pulp mill and saw mill in Grande Prairie.
The city is also home to several business and industrial parks, offering businesses many development opportunities.
Grande Prairie is also home to several post-secondary institutions, offering a supply of new graduates to the oil and
gas companies that form large sections of the city’s economy. Grande Prairie Regional College, Northern Lakes
College and the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology all have campuses within the city.
Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo (Fort McMurray)
Fort McMurray is the largest community in the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo, and is the centre of
Alberta’s oil and gas industry. Stretching from north central Alberta to the borders of Saskatchewan and the
Northwest Territories, Wood Buffalo ranks among the largest municipalities by geographic area in North America.
Fort McMurray is 435 kilometers northeast of Edmonton, and about 60 kilometers west of the Saskatchewan border.
As the major commercial, cultural and recreational centre for the Canadian oil sands region, Fort McMurray has
absorbed a majority of the region’s enormous growth.
Demographics
As of the 2012 municipal census, the Wood Buffalo region had a population of 116,407, with the majority of
residents living in the city of Fort McMurray, with a population of 72,994. According to the Regional Municipality
of Wood Buffalo’s 2011 Municipal Development Plan, over the next 20 years, the region’s population is forecast to
double, and Fort McMurray is expected to emerge as the third largest urban area in Alberta.
In addition, the region hosts an enormous number of temporary workers due to the nature of industry in the area.
The growth in temporary workers has exceeded the growth of residents by nearly four times since 2001. This is of
importance as the temporary workers require housing during their stay, which has become increasingly expensive
and limited in supply. Despite the city’s relatively remote location, the rapid growth in population has resulted in
Fort McMurray having among the highest home prices in Alberta, for both rental and ownership. As such, the
province has worked to release more Crown land for residential construction as the region continues its growth.
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Fort McMurray Historical Rental Rate(1)
(2 Bedroom Monthly Rent)
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Source: Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation
(1)

Statistics are for Wood Buffalo, the regional municipality from which Fort McMurray is located.

Fort McMurray Historical Housing Prices(1)
(MLS Average Sales Price)
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Source: Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation
(1)

Statistics are for Wood Buffalo, the regional municipality from which Fort McMurray is located.

The region’s population is young with average age of 31.8 years, as compared to the national average of 40.6. In
addition, 57% of the population is male. Both aspects of the population can be attributed to the fact that most of the
jobs being created are suited for a young, mobile workforce.
Economic Drivers
Canada has the third largest known oil reserves in the world, behind Saudi Arabia and Venezuela. Bitumen (oil
sands) production accounts for approximately $2.2 billion annually and over $120 billion will be invested over the
next decade. Of Canada’s approximately 173 billion barrels of oil reserves, approximately 168 billion are located in
Alberta. Alberta’s primary bitumen deposit is the Athabasca basin, which is located in the Wood Buffalo region.
Syncrude Canada Ltd., Suncor Energy Inc., and Shell Canada Ltd. are the three primary companies operating in the
region, and currently supply over 25% of Canada’s energy.
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The oil and gas sector is the main source of both investment and jobs in the region. The remaining jobs are
primarily construction, transportation, forestry, health and government education.
Leading up to 2014, the Fort McMurray airport was the busiest regional airport with a single runway in all of
Canada. In 2014, the city completed a $198 million redevelopment project creating an international airport that
tripled the previous airport’s capacity.
Highway 63 connects Fort McMurray to Edmonton, and is a heavily used route for workers travelling between the
cities. The Government of Alberta has pledged to make upgrades to the highway as a result of its increasing use,
including twinning, grading as well as general improvements. According to Alberta Transportation, over 20% of the
project is already complete, more than 60% is currently under construction, and completion is expected in the fourth
quarter of 2016.
In addition, due to the rapid growth in population, hospitals, schools and community centres have been stressed
beyond their capacity. As a result, the city has numerous projects in the works to improve the local infrastructure
and accommodate continued growth in the region. The $127 million McDonald Island Park expansion project will
be completed in the first quarter of 2015 and will be Canada’s largest community, recreational, leisure and social
centre. The project has been extremely well received by the community. In addition, construction of two new
schools is underway and both are set to open in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Saskatchewan Market Opportunity
Known for agriculture, energy and an abundance of other natural resources, Saskatchewan has a total area of
651,036 square kilometers, and is bordered by Alberta, Manitoba, the Northwest Territories as well as the U.S.
States of Montana and North Dakota. As of April 2014, Saskatchewan had a population of 1,122,588, a 1.9%
increase year over year. Saskatchewan’s population has spiked significantly in recent years due to its growing
economy and job prospects.
Population growth of Saskatchewan

Source: Statistics Canada

According to the Government of Canada, Saskatchewan is home to almost half of Canada's total cultivated farmland
and is a leading province for crop production. More than 90% of the grains and oilseeds produced in the province
are sold both domestically and internationally.
Saskatchewan has been capitalizing on its wealth of minerals and energy resources. It is a world leader in the export
of potash and uranium. The province has an estimated 75% of the world’s potash reserves, including ten potash
mines spread throughout the province, and four producing companies with a total capital investment of over $2.5
billion. Nearly all of the potash and uranium produced in Saskatchewan is used outside the province, with exports
totalling $5.6 billion in 2013 and primary buyers being the U.S., followed by Brazil, Indonesia and China.
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Saskatchewan has a significant portion of Canada’s known uranium resources, and Canada is the world’s second
largest producer, behind Kazakhstan, according to the World Nuclear Association. Uranium is Saskatchewan’s third
largest mineral export after oil and potash.
Saskatchewan is a small but significant producer of crude oil, natural gas, coal and electrical energy, with about 10%
of Canada's reserves for oil and 25% of its gas reserves. Among Canadian provinces, only Alberta currently exceeds
Saskatchewan in overall oil production. Over 80% of the oil pumped is shipped to other markets. Natural gas is less
active, and is found almost entirely in the western part of Saskatchewan.
With nearly 25% of the province covered by forest, it is a small but competitive producer of pulp, paper and wood
products for both domestic and international markets. Commercial softwood production includes balsam fir, black
spruce, jack pine, tamarack and white spruce, and hardwood production includes balsam poplar, trembling aspen and
white birch. The forestry industry generates approximately $750 million annually. The province is home to roughly
300 forestry industry firms and creates jobs for 9,000 workers.
Saskatchewan GDP by Industry (2013)
Manufacturing
Construction 6.9%
7.6%
Agriculture
7.9%

Services
56.3%
Mining and Oil
and Gas
21.3%

Source: Statistics Canada

Saskatchewan boasts the highest average economic growth in Canada (4.1% GDP growth in 2013) along with one of
the lowest rates of unemployment in the country. There are aggressive incentives currently offered by the province
for natural gas drilling and new oil wells. Saskatchewan has one of Canada’s lowest corporate income tax rates for
manufacturers and processors - as low as 10% for qualifying companies - and royalty rates are among the lowest in
Canada.
In addition, Saskatchewan offers a competitive workforce that is attractive to business. According to the
Government of Canada, the workforce is the youngest in Canada, with the highest percentage of workers under 24
years, as well as over 50% holding a post-secondary diploma, degree or certificate.
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS OF THE TRUST
The Trust will invest the proceeds from the issuance of Trust Units in the acquisition of Master LP Units. The
Master LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of Master LP Units in Investments LP Units and
Developments LP Units. The Investments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Investments LP Units
in the acquisition of Investment Properties and the Developments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of
the Developments LP Units in the acquisition and development of Development Properties (see “Corporate
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Structure – Investment Structure”). As a result, an investment in Trust Units will be an indirect investment in the
acquisition, development, ownership and operation of the Properties and any returns on and of capital payable to
limited partners holding Investments LP Units and/or Developments LP Units will ultimately flow through to Trust
Unitholders.
Business of the Trust
The Trust has been established for the purposes of issuing Trust Units and indirectly investing, through the Master
LP, the Investments LP and the Developments LP, in Properties. The Trust may also: (i) temporarily hold cash for
the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of the Trust, paying amounts payable by the Trust in connection
with the redemption of any Trust Units, and making distributions to Trust; (ii) invest its funds in property (other than
real property or interests in real property or an immovable or a real right in an immoveable); (iii) acquire, hold,
maintain, improve, lease or manage real property (or interests in real property) or any immovable (or real right in
immovable) that is capital property of the Trust; and (iv) in connection with the foregoing, reinvest income and
gains of the Trust and take other actions besides the mere protection and preservation of the Trust Property. The
principal business of the Trust will be to issue Trust Units and to acquire and hold Master LP Units. The principal
business of the Trust will be to issue Trust Units and to invest indirectly in the Properties.
The Trust’s long-term objective is to earn income and gains from the Trust’s indirect interest in the Properties held
through the Investments LP and Developments LP, being a portfolio of quality, revenue-producing properties in
Western Canada’s North. An investment in Trust Units is intended to provide Purchasers with the opportunity to
receive cash distributions originating from the ongoing operation of the Properties and the opportunity to receive, in
certain circumstances, the proceeds from a refinancing of a Mortgage Loan or a sale of a Property.
Business of the Master LP
The Master LP has been established for the purposes of issuing Master LP Units and investing in the Investments LP
Units and Developments LP Units. The Master LP will also temporarily hold cash for the purposes of paying the
expenses and liabilities of the Master LP and making distributions to the holders of Master LP Units. The principal
business of the Master LP will be to issue Master LP Units and to invest in the Investments LP Units and
Developments LP Units. Neither the Trust Declaration nor the Master LP Agreement contain any target allocation
between Investment Properties and Development Properties. The allocation of the net proceeds received by the
Master LP from the issuance of Master LP Units between Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units will be
determined by the Master GP from time to time based upon the individual economic fundamentals of the prospective
investment opportunities. The directors and officers of the Master GP will determine the composition of the
portfolio of properties, which at this time, is unknown. Prospective investors will rely on the discretion and ability
of the Master GP to determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which may include industrial,
commercial and residential (multi-family and other) investment properties and/or development properties, and in
negotiating the pricing and other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition of such properties (see “Risk
Factors”).
The Master LP’s long-term objective is to earn returns from the Master LP’s indirect interest in the Properties, being
a portfolio of investment and development properties in Western Canada’s North, and to make distributions to the
holders of Master LP Units.
Business of the Investments LP
The Investments LP has been established for the purposes of owning and operating a diversified portfolio of quality,
revenue-producing properties in Western Canada’s North (or interests in such properties). The principal business of
the Investments LP will be to issue Investments LP Units, to invest the proceeds from such issuance in the
acquisition of Investment Properties and to own and operate such Properties. In order to accommodate the expected
requirements of Lenders and to segregate any risks of ownership between Properties, the Investments GP intends to
have each of the Properties owned by a separate underlying entity established and owned by the Investments LP.
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The Investments LP’s long-term objective is to earn income from its investment in the Properties and to distribute
such income to holders of the Investments LP Units in accordance with the terms of the Investments LP Agreement.
Business of the Developments LP
The Developments LP has been established for the purposes of developing, owning and operating a diversified
portfolio of quality, revenue-producing properties in Western Canada’s North (or interests in such properties). The
principal business of the Developments LP will be to issue Developments LP Units, to invest the proceeds from such
issuance in the acquisition of Development Properties, and to develop such Development Properties. In order to
accommodate the expected requirements of Lenders and to segregate any risks of ownership between Properties, the
Developments GP intends to have each of the Properties owned by a separate underlying entity established and
owned by the Developments LP.
The Developments LP’s long-term objective is to earn income and returns from its investment in the Properties and
to distribute such income and returns to holders of the Developments LP Units in accordance with the terms of the
Developments LP Agreement.
The Properties
The Investments LP and Developments LP intend to invest the proceeds realized from the issuance of Investments
LP Units and Developments LP Units and from Mortgage Loans in investment and development properties in
Western Canada’s North. The Investments LP and Developments LP intend to concentrate on identifying properties
for possible acquisition and development primarily in British Columbia and Alberta which are expected to
experience strong population growth, and to develop, manage and reposition the Properties with the view to
preserving capital invested in the Investment Properties, enhancing the value of Development Properties through
development and providing periodic cash returns. The Investments LP and Developments LP will focus on
purchasing Properties which, in their respective opinions, are currently operating below their full income-producing
and development potential.
All Properties will be purchased at prices and on terms negotiated with arm’s length third party vendors. The
Property GPs will have a detailed inspection report prepared by an independent inspection firm for each property
that is proposed for acquisition, and will have any such property appraised by a qualified appraiser.
Investment Objectives
The Investments LP’s and Developments LP’s primary investment objectives are as follows:
(a)

to own and/or develop, as applicable, a diversified portfolio of quality, revenue-producing
properties in Western Canada’s North, with positive cash flow;

(b)

to provide periodic cash flow distributions upon full investment of the net proceeds allocated to
the purchase price of Properties; and

(c)

to enhance the potential for long-term growth of capital through organic growth in rental rates,
combined with an overall reduction in capitalization rates.

Guidelines for Property Acquisitions
The net proceeds of the offering of Trust Units will be used by the Investments LP and Developments LP in the
acquisition of Properties in accordance with the following general guidelines:
(a)

assuming all 30,000 Trust Units offered under this Prospectus are issued, and subject to the
unanimous decision of the board of directors of the Investments GP or the Developments GP, as
applicable, not more than 50% of the net proceeds from such issuance (being the gross proceeds
less the amount paid by the Master LP pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement on
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account of the Agents’ Commission and the expenses of this Offering) will be applied to the
acquisition by the Investments LP or Developments LP, respectively, of any one Property;
(b)

in the event that less than 30,000 Trust Units are issued, it may be necessary to apply more than
50% of the net proceeds to the acquisition of any one Property, including applying up to 100% of
the net proceeds to the acquisition of as little as one Property (after the creation of a reasonable
reserve for renovation and upgrading of the Property, and the creation of a reasonable working
capital reserve);

(c)

upon purchase, each Investment Property would be expected to generate a positive return on
invested capital in such Property of not less than 10% per annum, with a target goal in excess of
15% per annum. Investment Properties will be expected to generate cash flow immediately upon
acquisition. The Investments GP will be able to waive this minimum requirement for such
Properties which they believe provide unique value added opportunities through replacement of
management, re-leasing or similar initiatives; and

(d)

upon the completion of its development, each Development Property would be expected to
generate a positive return on invested capital in such Property of not less than 14% per annum,
with a target goal in excess of 18% per annum, over the term of the investment. The
Developments GP does not anticipate the realization of any returns until development is
completed. Development Properties will be expected to have ongoing capital requirements,
lengthy completion timelines and delays of three to four years, or longer, depending on the project,
before generating cash flow. See “Risk Factors”.

Alignment of Interests
The Master GP believes that individual investors should have the same investment opportunities as institutions,
pension funds and high net worth individuals. With this goal in mind, an investment in Trust Units has been
structured to align the interests of the Master GP with those of the Trust Unitholders. Accordingly, Trust
Unitholders are entitled, by way, and to the extent, of the Trust’s investment in Master LP Units to a minimum noncompounded annual return of 7% of the Net Equity then outstanding and a return of capital before any amount is
paid to the Master GP on account of the Incentive Management Interest. (see “Description of the Securities
Distributed – The Master LP”).
Mortgage Loans
The Property GPs intends to have the Investments LP and Developments LP finance a part of the purchase price of
the Properties by way of Mortgage Loans from third party Lenders. The Property GPs will target an overall loan-tovalue ratio (of mortgage loans) of not more than 70% of the purchase price of the Properties, plus the amount of any
property improvement reserve account approved by the Lenders. However, if deemed appropriate by the Property
GPs, having regard to all of the circumstances including the potential value of the Properties identified for
investment, the Property GPs may cause the overall loan-to-value ratio of the Mortgage Loans to exceed this
threshold.
Distributions of Distributable Cash
Any amounts payable to the limited partners of the Investments LP and the Developments LP in respect of any
distributions of Distributable Cash (Investments LP) and Distributable Cash (Developments LP), respectively, and
the repayment of the Net Equity invested by the Master LP in Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units,
will, as a result, and to the extent, of the Trust’s indirect investment in the Investments LP Units and the
Developments LP Units, ultimately be distributed to Trust Unitholders.
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The Investments LP
Distributable Cash (Investments LP) shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Investments GP, as
follows:
(a)

to the Investments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash (Investments LP), to
a maximum of $100; and

(b)

to the limited partners of the Investments LP, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share, the balance of the Distributable Cash (Investments LP).

The Investments GP shall, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Investments LP from any Distributable Cash (Investments LP).
The Developments LP
Distributable Cash (Developments LP) shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Developments
GP, as follows:
(a)

to the Developments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash (Developments
LP), to a maximum of $100; and

(b)

to the limited partners of the Developments LP, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share, the balance of the Distributable Cash (Developments LP).

The Developments GP will, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Developments LP from any Distributable Cash (Developments LP).
The Master LP
Available Cash Flow (Master LP) and Other Receipts (Master LP) shall be distributed, as cash flow permits, as
follows:
(a)

first, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in an amount equal to the Minimum Return. The Minimum Return will be
calculated at 7% per annum on the limited partners’ Net Equity on a cumulative, non-compounded
basis such that in the years when the Minimum Return is not available from cash flow, it will
accumulate and be paid from cash flow in subsequent years;

(b)

second, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in repayment of their Net Equity;

(c)

third, to the Master GP, an amount equal to the Master GP Catch-up Return;

(d)

fourth, 80% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 20% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a) and
(d) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 10% annual return on
their Net Equity;

(e)

fifth, 70% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 30% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a), (d),
and (e) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 15% annual return
on their Net Equity; and
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(f)

thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 35% to the Master GP.

The amounts payable above to the Master GP are referred to herein as the “Incentive Management Interest”.
Title to the Properties
In order to accommodate the expected requirements of Lenders and to segregate any risks of ownership between
Properties, the Property GPs intend to have legal title of each of the Properties held by a single purpose entity.
Management of Properties
The Property GPs may engage third party property managers for the ongoing day-to-day management of the
operation of the Properties and intend to structure each third party property management contract with a
performance bonus, such that the property manager will be rewarded for increases in operating income that the
manager achieves from a Property, thereby aligning the interests of the manager with that of the Investments LP and
Developments LP. The Property GPs expect that the fee payable to any third party property manager will be
between 2% and 5 % of the gross revenue from the managed Property or Properties.
Property Dispositions
All or a portion of the proceeds from the disposition of any Properties sold by the Investments LP and/or the
Developments LP within 24 months of the initial Closing of the Offering may be reinvested in additional Properties or
such other investments at the discretion of the Master GP. In the case of such reinvestment, the Trust Unitholders will
not be entitled to receive any portion of the proceeds of such dispositions.
DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESSES OF THE TRUST
Description and General Development Since Inception
The Trust was established on August 27, 2014 for the purpose of issuing Trust Units and indirectly owning interests
in a diversified portfolio of investment and development properties in Western Canada’s North (or proportionate
interests in such properties). Its principal business will be to issue Trust Units and acquire and own an interest in the
Properties through a limited partnership participation in the Master LP and indirectly in the Investments LP and
Developments LP, the business and Properties of which will be operated and developed by the Investments GP and
the Developments GP, as applicable. The Trust does not have an operating history.
To date, other than the purchase of the Transforce Property (see “Development of the Business of the Trust – The
Transforce Property”), the Property GPs have not entered into binding arrangements for the acquisition of any
Investment Properties or Development Properties by the Investments LP and Developments LP, respectively. Based
on lease payments from the tenant, the Transforce Property is expected to generate a return on invested capital in
excess of 13.5% per annum (inclusive of principal repayments in respect of the mortgage loan thereon).
The Transforce Property
The Transforce Property is located in Prince George, British Columbia. It is a single tenant, single-storey industrial
building consisting of an original office/warehouse portion constructed in 1968 and an attached warehouse addition
constructed in 2007. The facility comprises a single-storey cross-dock facility presently fully occupied by TFI
Transport 2 L.P. (“TFI”), which is part of the Transforce group of companies. The Transforce Property is located in
the Carter Light Industrial Area, has good access and proximity to transportation routes and the immediate
neighbourhood is characterized by a mix of industrial properties improved with a mix of new and older single and
multi-tenant industrial premises comprising mainly manufacturing, storage, warehouse/office and service related
businesses. Transforce is publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) (TSX: TFI) and is a leading
North American company operating in the transportation and logistics industry, across Canada and the United States
through its subsidiaries.
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The Investments LP retained third party consultants to complete an appraisal and a property condition assessment
report in respect of the Transforce Property. On the basis of the physical review of the Transforce Property, no
major structural failures, soil erosion or differential settlement was revealed and no immediate costs were identified.
Repair requirements (under replacement reserves) over the seven year term of the TFI Lease (herein defined) of
$508,000 were identified, including allowances for repairs relating to roof systems, wall systems, interior finishes,
site features and mechanical systems which require correction to re-establish a satisfactory level of performance.
The repair requirements identified by the physical review of the property will be addressed by TFI pursuant to its
obligations under the TFI Lease.
On September 12, 2014 (the “Transforce Closing Date”), the Investments LP purchased the Transforce Property
from TFI Transport 7 L.P., an affiliate of Transforce for purchase price of $6,200,000 plus standard closing costs
and adjustments of $122,000, which is expected to generate a return on invested capital in excess of 13.5% per
annum (inclusive of principal repayments in respect of the mortgage loan thereon). The purchase price of the
Transforce Property was negotiated by the Master GP and is equal to the appraised value of the property pursuant to
an independently prepared third party appraisal obtained by the Trust on August 11, 2014.
The Investments LP, through the Master LP, funded the acquisition of the Transforce Property with equity from
offerings of Master LP Units and new mortgage financing in the amount of $4,650,000, at an interest rate of 3.72%
per annum, for a term of five years. As a condition to the mortgage financing, Mr. Evans entered into an indemnity
agreement to indemnify the lender against all losses, costs, expenses and damages relating to the mortgage, up to a
maximum of $930,000. Included in this Prospectus is a statement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed dated as
at September 12, 2014 in respect of the Transforce Property. See “Index to Financial Statements”.
On the Transforce Closing Date, the Investments LP entered into a lease (the “TFI Lease”) with TFI for the entire
Transforce Property, comprising a total of 40,000 square feet of GLA on an approximately 10.1 acre parcel
(the “TFI Leased Premises”). The TFI Lease is for a term of seven years (the “Term”).
Under the terms of the TFI Lease, TFI has an option to the renew the Term for two further periods of three years
each (the “Renewal Periods” and each a “Renewal Period”) upon all the same terms and conditions contained in
the TFI Lease, except that there shall be no further renewal options and except for the base rent payable by TFI
during the Renewal Period(s). The annual base rent payable by TFI during the Renewal Periods shall be the fair
market rent having regard to renewal rents then being obtained for premises that are of similar size and quality to
that of the TFI Leased Premises and which are similarly used, located and fixture, provided that the annual base rent
for the first Renewal Period will in no event be less than the annual base rent payable by TFI for the last year of the
Term and the annual base rent for the second Renewal Period will in no event be less than the annual base rent for
the last year of the first Renewal Period. In the event that the parties are unable to agree on the base rent payable
during any Renewal Period such determination shall be made by way of a binding arbitration, in accordance with
commercial arbitration laws of the Province of British Columbia.
The TFI Lease is a completely Carefree Net Lease to the Investments LP, as landlord. Pursuant to the terms of the
TFI Lease, TFI is solely responsible for all operating costs, taxes, insurance and, except as otherwise set out in the
TFI Lease, for all repairs and replacements to the TFI Leased Premises, with only normal and reasonable wear and
tear and damage by fire or other casualty excepted. The Investments LP has assigned all of its interest in all of the
existing leases at the Transforce Property over to TFI, and TFI is required to and has agreed not to disturb the rights
of the tenants under such existing leases. Any and all rental revenues of any kind generated in connection with such
existing leases and/or any other leases, subleases and/or licenses with respect to the Transforce Property shall be the
sole and exclusive property of TFI during the Term and any Renewal Periods except as otherwise provided in the
TFI Lease.
Under the terms of the TFI Lease, the Investments LP, as landlord, is responsible, at its cost and expense, for all
structural repairs and replacements (unless same are required due to the negligence or willful misconduct of TFI)
and for conducting any and all replacements that may be capitalized by Investments LP, as landlord, such as,
without limitation, to the roof membrane, the building systems (including HVAC) and the parking areas.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, TFI is responsible to pay, throughout the Term and any renewals thereof, its
proportionate share (which, at the commencement of the Term, is 100%) of the annual rate of amortization, on a
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straight-line basis, of the capital cost of any such capital replacements to the TFI Leased Premises, over the useful
life of such replacement, the whole in accordance with GAAP or IFRS, as reasonably determined by the Investments
LP, as landlord.
The annual base rent, payable in monthly installments by TFI under the TFI Lease is $442,060.00 for the first
complete lease year of the Term and every lease year thereafter the annual base rent payable shall be an amount
equal to the previous year’s annual base rent, plus 2%. No tenant improvement allowance is payable to the TFI
under the terms of the TFI Lease. However, there is an annual management fee payable in monthly installments to
the Investments LP, as landlord, in an amount equal to 2% of the current annual base rent.
The Investments LP, as landlord, has a right to access the Leased Premises during normal business hours after
sending a written notice 24 hours prior to such visit except in the case of an emergency in which no notice is
required. Subject to the other provisions of the TFI Lease, TFI is required to maintain the Leased Premises in the
same condition as at the time of commencement of the TFI Lease, damage by casualty and normal and reasonable
wear and tear excepted. TFI is permitted to assign the TFI Lease to any entity that is division of “TransForce”
without the consent of Investments LP, but on notice thereof to Investments LP as landlord, provided that TFI
remains at all times liable under the TFI Lease. The TFI Lease permits TFI to sublease or license sub-lease all or
part of the Leased Premises to any other person without the consent of Investments LP, provided that TFI remains at
all times liable under the TFI Lease.
Investment in Properties
The proceeds from the Offering will be used by the Trust to fund future acquisitions in accordance with the ongoing
acquisition program of the Investments LP and Developments LP. Subject to the discretion of the Trustees, until
such acquisitions are identified and completed, any unallocated proceeds will be added to the Trust’s working
capital. It is expected that over 97% of the net proceeds of this Offering will be allocated to future acquisitions, with
the balance of such net proceeds being allocated for working capital purposes. The Trust’s management and
Trustees will be responsible for the supervision of the investment of any unallocated proceeds from this Offering.
Until such acquisitions are identified, negotiated and completed, the net proceeds from this Offering will be invested
in short-term guaranteed investment certificates or similar type investments. The Trust’s management and Trustees
will adhere to the investment policies contained in the Investments LP Agreement and the Developments LP
Agreement.
USE OF PROCEEDS
The Trust and the Master LP intend to spend the funds available to them as stated in this Prospectus in the indirect
investment in Properties. The following table evidences the intended use of the gross proceeds from the issuance of
Trust Units and from the Mortgage Loans. The allocation of the net proceeds received by the Master LP from the
issuance of Master LP Units among Investments LP Units and Developments LP Units will be determined by the
Master GP from time to time based upon the fundamentals of each prospective investment opportunity.
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Assuming
Minimum
Offering(1)
A.

Proceeds from issuance of Trust Units
(2)

Assuming
Maximum
Offering(1)

$10,000,000

$30,000,000

B.

Agents’ Commission

$(600,000)

$(1,800,000)

C.

Expenses of this Offering (Agents’ fees and expenses, legal, accounting and
audit, tax advice, printing, travel, securities filings)(3)

$(375,000)

$(375,000)

D.

Net Proceeds to the Trust (A – B – C)

$9,025,000

$27,825,000

$8,754,250

$26,990,250

$20,426,583

$62,977,250

$(583,617)

$(1,799,350)

$(72,952)

$(224,919)

$(145,904)

$(449,838)

$28,378,360

$87,493,394

E.

(4)

Funds Allocated to the Purchase and/or Development of Properties
(5)

F.

Mortgage Loans

G.

Closing costs for purchase of Properties (including transfer fees, legal, due
diligence, development and financing costs)(6)

H.

(7)

Creation of reserve for renovation and upgrading of Investment Properties
(8)

I.

Creation of reasonable working capital reserves for the Properties

J.

Total Amount of Investment Properties and Development Properties(9)

(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

The minimum Offering is 10,000 Trust Units and the maximum Offering is 30,000 Trust Units.
The Trust will pay to the Agents a commission and fee equal to 6% of the subscription price of Trust Units. Such amount
ultimately will be borne by the Master LP pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement.
The amount shown is an estimate of the expenses of the Offering, which, in any event, will not exceed the lesser of either
1.5% of the maximum Offering or 2.0% of the gross proceeds of the Offering. The Trust has agreed to bear all of the
Agents’ expenses (currently estimated to be $100,000) of or incidental to the issue, sale and delivery of the Trust Units
pursuant to this Offering, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of legal counsel for the
Agents and the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including applicable taxes) of the Agents. Pursuant to the Cost Sharing
and Recovery Agreement, the Master LP has agreed to bear all costs and expenses incurred in respect of the Offering,
including the Agents’ Commission, fees and expenses and the other expenses of the Offering.
The purchase price of Properties shown above, being 97% of the net proceeds of the Offering of Trust Units, is an estimate
only, and may not be the actual aggregate price payable pursuant to the agreements of purchase and sale to be made between
the Investments LP and Developments LP, respectively, and arm’s-length third party vendors.
The Property GPs intend to finance a part of the purchase price of the Properties by way of Mortgage Loans, which includes
constructions loans in respect of the Development Properties, from third party Lenders. The amounts and Lenders of such
estimated Mortgage Loans have not yet been identified and the amount shown above, being 70% of the estimated purchase
price of Properties, is an estimate only. If deemed appropriate by the Property GPs, having regard to all of the
circumstances including the potential value of the Properties identified for investment, the Property GPs may cause the
overall loan-to-value ratio of the Mortgage Loans to exceed 70%.
The amount incurred in respect of the purchase of Properties by the Investments LP and Developments LP will include,
without limitation, all due diligence inspections and reviews of the Properties, third party consultant’s fees, closing
adjustments, legal and accounting fees, financing fees paid to third party mortgage Lenders, insurers and brokers, other
closing costs and transfer fees and taxes, being 2% of the purchase price of the Properties.
The Investments GP may undertake a refurbishment program with respect to one or more of the Investment Properties. The
amount shown above, being 0.5% of the estimated purchase price of Investment Properties, is an estimate of the amount
which may be required to establish a reserve for the payment of the anticipated and unanticipated costs of such programs for
all of the Investment Properties on the assumption that 50% of the net proceeds will be used to purchase Investment
Properties.
The Property GPs will establish working capital reserves for the Investments LP and Developments LP, respectively, to help
ensure sufficient funds exist to pay anticipated and unanticipated operating and capital expenses of the Properties. The
amount shown above, being 0.5% of the estimated purchase price of Properties, is an estimate of the amount which may be
required to pay anticipated and unanticipated operating and capital expenses.
The amount shown is an estimate of the total Investment Properties and Development Properties based on assumptions
described in this Prospectus, including the full investment of the net proceeds. There is no assurance that actual results will
be consistent with the amount presented. See “Risk Factors”.
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Assuming that the minimum Offering of 10,000 Trust Units is sold, the gross proceeds to the Trust will be
$10,000,000. Assuming that the maximum Offering of 30,000 Trust Units is sold, the gross proceeds to the Trust
will be $30,000,000. The Trust will use these proceeds to buy Master LP Units. The Trust may also temporarily
hold cash and investments for the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of the Trust, paying amounts
payable by the Trust in connection with the redemption of any Trust Units, and making distributions to Trust
Unitholders.
The Master LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance to the Trust of Master LP Units in Investments LP Units
and Developments LP Units. The Investments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Investments LP
Units in the acquisition of Investment Properties and the Developments LP will invest the proceeds from the
issuance of the Developments LP Unit in the acquisition and development of Development Properties
(see “Corporate Structure – Investment Structure”). Neither the Trust Declaration nor the Master LP Agreement
contain any target allocation between Investment Properties and Development Properties. The allocation of the net
proceeds received by the Master LP from the issuance of Master LP Units between Investments LP Units and
Developments LP Units will be determined by the Master GP from time to time based upon the individual economic
fundamentals of the prospective investment opportunities. The directors and officers of the Master GP will
determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which at this time, is unknown. Prospective investors will
rely on the discretion and ability of the Master GP to determine the composition of the portfolio of properties, which
may include industrial, commercial and residential (multi-family and other) investment properties and/or
development properties, and in negotiating the pricing and other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition
of such properties. In the event that only the minimum Offering is sold, the Trust’s ability to participate in larger
scale, and create diversity across, investment and/or development opportunities may be limited (see “Risk Factors”).
The proceeds will also be used from time to time by the Investments LP and Developments LP to make refundable
and non-refundable deposits on account of the purchase price of Properties, to pay mortgage application fees and to
pay property due diligence and inspection costs. These payments and costs will include amounts paid to arm’slength third parties and all out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Property GPs in the conduct of property inspection
and due diligence. Some Properties in respect of which non-refundable deposits, mortgage application fees and
property due diligence and inspection costs are paid may not be acquired by the Investments LP and Developments
LP, resulting in a possible loss of such deposits, fees and/or costs.
There is no maximum time period for the full investment of the net proceeds of the Offering in Properties and the
timing of such investment will depend upon the Property GPs’ identification of Properties meeting its criteria for
acquisition. Pending their investment in the acquisition of Properties, the proceeds from the issuance of Trust Units
and other funds not fully invested in Properties from time to time will be held in cash and bank deposits.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Property GP’s expect that the term of investment in respect of Investment
Properties and/or Development Properties, as applicable, will be approximately five years. Further, while the
ownership of Investment Properties will be expected to generate cash flow immediately upon acquisition,
Development Properties will usually have ongoing capital requirements, lengthy completion timelines and delays of
three to four years, or longer, depending on the project, before generating cash flow.
In determining what would constitute “reasonable reserves” for renovation and upgrading and working capital
reserves for such Properties, the Property GPs will review a comprehensive third party due diligence report that will
be produced for each Property. The amount of a renovation and upgrading reserve for a given Property will be
assessed by the respective Property GP having regard to, among other things, the Property’s age, general state of
repair, and an assessment of whether anticipated revenues would be sufficient to cover all or a portion of the repairs
or upgrades identified as reasonably necessary through the due diligence process. The Investments GP has
estimated that a reasonable reserve for renovation and upgrading of the Investment Properties is 0.5% of the
purchase price of the Investment Properties.
In determining how much of a working capital reserve would be reasonable for a given Property, the Property GPs
will generally target a working capital reserve of 0.5% of the purchase price of the Property. The targeted working
capital reserves in the event of a maximum Offering is $449,838, and the targeted working capital reserves in the
event of a minimum Offering is $145,904 (see table in “Use of Proceeds”). However, for any given Property, the
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Property GPs could allocate a larger or smaller amount to working capital reserves than the targeted amount of 0.5%
of the purchase price of the Property, based on Property-specific considerations such as the anticipated revenues
from the Property.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Overview
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) discusses: (i) the financial condition relating to
the Trust; and (ii) the financial condition and results of operations the Master LP’s (together with its subsidiaries)
interest in the Transforce Property.
The audited statement of financial position and accompanying notes of the Trust as at September 30, 2014, and the
audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes of the Master LP for the period from the date of
its formation on July 31, 2014 to September 30, 2014 are included in this Prospectus. The audited statement of
financial position of the Trust and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Master LP are prepared in
accordance with IFRS. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and
accompanying notes of the Trust and the Master LP included elsewhere in this Prospectus. All amounts are
presented in Canadian dollars.
The objective of this MD&A is to provide a prospective purchaser of Trust Units with an analysis of the assets of the
Trust as at September 30, 2014, and the assets, liabilities, revenues and operating expenses, including mortgage
interest, of the Master LP for the period from July 31, 2014 (date of formation) to September 30, 2014.
Selected Financial Information
The Trust
The Trust was only recently formed and capitalized with nominal capital. As the Trust has not carried on any
business to date, it has no material assets, or cash flow from financing or from operations. See “Index to Financial
Statements”.

As at
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Item
Assets
Cash
Total Assets

$
$

10
10

Unitholder’s Equity
Initial Contribution
Unitholder’s Equity

$
$

10
10

The Master LP
The Master LP was only recently formed and has completed two offerings for an aggregate of 1,938 Master LP
Units, at a price of $930 per Master LP Units, for gross proceeds of $1,802,340. On September 12, 2014, the Master
LP, through the Investments LP, completed the acquisition of the Transforce Property for a purchase price of
$6,200,000 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $122,000. The acquisition was financed with cash and a
new first mortgage in the amount of $4,650,000 bearing interest at 3.72% per annum. As a condition to the
mortgage, Mr. Evans entered into an indemnity agreement to indemnify the lender against all losses, costs, expenses
and damages relating to the mortgage, up to a maximum of $930,000. The Master LP has carried on only minimal
business to date, and, other than in relation to the indirect acquisition of the Transforce Property, it has no material
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assets, or cash flow from investments or operations. See “Development of the Business of the Trust – The
Transforce Property” and “Index to Financial Statements”.
As at
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Item
Assets
Non-current asset
Investment Property

$

6,200,000

Total Assets

$
$
$
$
$

41,437
25,225
176,047
242,709
6,442,709

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Mortgage payable

$

4,478,137

Total Liabilities

$
$
$
$

94,301
265,173
359,474
4,837,611

Partners’ Capital
Non-controlling interest
General Partner’s capital
Limited Partners’ capital
Total Liabilities and Partners’ Capital

$
$
$
$

(75)
(75)
1,605,248
6,442,709

Item

For the period from
July 31, 2014 to
September 30, 2014
(audited)

Revenue
Operating expenses
Net Rental Income

$
$
$

34,009
(9,570)
24,439

Mortgage interest
Other expenses

$
$

(9,004)
(179,705)

Loss and comprehensive loss before non-controlling
interest
Non-controlling interest
Loss and comprehensive loss for the period

$
$
$

164,270
(85)
164,185

Current assets
Prepaid expenses
Amounts receivable
Cash

Current liabilities
Mortgage payable – current portion
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Subsequent Events
On December 22, 2014, the Trust, the Master GP and the Agents entered into the Agency Agreement whereby the
Agents agreed to offer the Trust Units for sale on a “commercially reasonable best efforts” basis until February 27,
2015 or such later date as may be agreed by the Agents, in consideration of the Agents’ Commission equal to 6% of
the aggregate purchase price of Trust Units sold under the Offering. See “Plan of Distribution – Agency
Agreement”.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES DISTRIBUTED
The Trust is offering a minimum of 10,000 Trust Units and a maximum of 30,000 Trust Units, at a purchase price of
$1,000 per Trust Unit. Purchasers are required to acquire a minimum of ten Trust Units. Additional subscriptions
may be made of single Trust Units.
The Trust
The rights and obligations of the Trust Unitholders are governed by the Trust Declaration for the Trust made August
27, 2014 among the Trustees, James Speakman, as settlor, and all persons who become holders of Trust Units as
provided therein. The following is a summary of certain material provisions of the Trust Declaration. This
summary does not purport to be complete and reference should be to the Trust Declaration itself, a copy of
which is available from the Trust.
Capitalized terms in this summary which are not defined in this Prospectus are defined in the Trust
Declaration.

Trust Units
The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Trust Units. Each Trust Unit represents an equal undivided
beneficial interest or share in any distribution from the Trust (whether of Distributable Cash Flow, Fund Income, Net
Realized Capital Gains or other amounts, other than amounts distributed to Unitholders who redeem their Trust Units
pursuant to the Trust Declaration) and in Trust Property in the event of the termination or winding-up of the Trust.
Each Trust Unit will entitle the holder of record thereof to one vote at all meetings of Trust Unitholders. All Trust
Units rank among themselves equally and rateably without discrimination, preference or priority.

Distributions
Subject to the discretion of the Trustees and to the extent that cash flow permits, the Trust will distribute to Trust
Unitholders all or any part of the cash flow realized from its investment in Master LP Units (being the distributable
cash flow, if any, received by the Master LP and generated by the Properties owned and operated through the
Investments LP and Developments LP) for each quarter, or such other periods determined by the Trustees from time to
time, in which such amounts are realized. Subject to the foregoing, the Trust intends to declare distributions on a
periodic basis to Trust Unitholders of record on the last Business Day of such period. Distributions will be paid
within 15 days following the end of each period for which a distribution is declared.
The distributable cash flow for, or in respect of, a Distribution Period will be equal to the Cash Flow for such
Distribution Period less any amount that the Trustees may reasonably consider to be necessary to provide for the
payment of any costs or expenses, including any tax liability of the Fund, that have been or are reasonably expected to
be incurred in the activities and operations of the Fund (to the extent that such costs or expenses have not otherwise
been taken into account in the calculation of the Cash Flow of the Fund) and less such reserves or amounts as are, in the
opinion of the Trustees, necessary or desirable.
Each distribution declared pursuant to the Trust Declaration constitutes a binding obligation of the Trust on the date so
declared. Each Trust Unitholder has the legal right to enforce payment on the Distribution Payment Date or
December 31, as the case may be, of any amount payable to such Trust Unitholder as a result of any distribution
declared or otherwise made payable on the applicable Distribution Record Date or the applicable December 31, as the
case may be, to, and not yet received by, such Trust Unitholder.
To the extent distributions are calculated in respect of a period and payable at the end of such period, if for any reason,
including the termination of the Trust, such period is not completed or such amounts are no longer payable, then the
distribution will be pro-rated to the end of the shortened period and be payable at the end of such shortened period.
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On the last day of each taxation year of the Trust the following amounts will, without any further actions on the part of
the Trustees, be automatically due and payable to Trust Unitholders of record at the close of business on such day of
each year (whether or not such day is a Business Day):
(a)

the amount of Trust Income for such year other than: (i) any Trust Income realized by the Trust as a
result of a redemption of Trust Units and that are payable to redeeming Trust Unitholders; and (ii)
any other Trust Income that was previously paid or made payable to Trust Unitholders in such year;
and

(b)

the amount of Net Realized Capital Gains for such year, other than: (i) any capital gains that are
realized by the Trust as a result of a redemption of Trust Units and that are payable to redeeming
Trust Unitholders; and (ii) any other capital gains that were previously paid or made payable to
Unitholders in such year.

The Trustees may designate for tax purposes any income or capital gains realized by the Trust as a result of the
redemption of Trust Units (including any income or capital gains realized by the Trust on an in specie redemption of
Trust Units) as being paid to the redeeming Trust Unitholders, with the result that the taxable portion of such gains and
income may generally be deductible by the Trust.
Distributions payable to Trust Unitholders pursuant to the Trust Declaration shall be deemed to be distributions of
income of the Trust (including dividends), net realized taxable capital gains of the Trust, foreign source income, Trust
capital or other items in such amounts as the Trustees, in their discretion determine and shall be so designated, where
required, and allocated to the Trust Unitholders in the same proportions as distributions received by the Trust
Unitholders, subject to the discretion of the Trustees to adopt an allocation method which the Trustees consider to be
more reasonable in the circumstances. For greater certainty, any distribution of net realized capital gains of the Trust
shall include the non-taxable portion of the capital gains of the Trust which are included in such distribution.
If, on a Distribution Payment Date, the Trust does not have cash in an amount sufficient to pay the cash distribution to
be made on such Distribution Payment Date, the Trustees may, in their discretion, borrow sufficient funds on such
terms as deemed appropriate to make such cash distributions. In the event that the Trustees are unable to, or determine
that it is not in the best interests of, the Trust and the Trust Unitholders to borrow funds in order to make a distribution
wholly in cash, the distribution payable to the Trust Unitholders on such Distribution Payment Date will, to the extent
necessary to ensure that the Trust does not have an income tax liability under Part I of the Tax Act, be distributed to
holders of Trust Units in the form of additional Trust Units, and will include a distribution of additional Trust Units (at
$1,000 per Trust Unit) having a value equal to the cash shortfall. If the Trustees determine that the value of a Trust
Unit is materially different than $1,000 per Trust Unit, each additional Trust Unit will be issued at such different value.
Those additional Trust Units will be issued under exemptions under applicable securities laws, discretionary
exemptions granted by applicable securities regulatory authorities or a prospectus or similar filing. The distribution of
Trust Units will be subject to the requirements of the applicable securities authority and if not permitted, distributions
will be made in cash. The Trustees will consolidate the number of outstanding Trust Units after a distribution of
additional Trust Units, so that each Trust Unitholder holds the same number of Trust Units held before the distribution
of additional Trust Units.

Distribution on Termination of the Trust
On the termination of the Trust, the assets of the Trust shall be liquidated and the proceeds distributed in the following
order:
(a)

to pay the liabilities of the Trust and to establish reserves for the contingent liabilities of the Trust;
and

(b)

to redeem the Trust Units, on a pro rata basis from the Trust Unitholders.
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Meetings of Trust Unitholders and Resolutions
The Trustees may, at any time, convene a meeting of the Trust Unitholders and will be required to convene a meeting
on receipt of a request in writing of Trust Unitholders holding, in aggregate, 20% or more of the Trust Units
outstanding. Any matter to be considered at a meeting of Trust Unitholders, other than certain matters requiring the
approval of Trust Unitholders by Special Resolution, will require the approval of Trust Unitholders by an Ordinary
Resolution. A quorum for any meeting convened to consider such matter will consist of two or more Trust Unitholders
present in person or by proxy and representing not less than 10% of the Trust Units. If a quorum is not present at a
meeting within 30 minutes after the time fixed for the meeting, the meeting, if convened pursuant to a request of Trust
Unitholders, will be cancelled, but otherwise will be adjourned to another day, not less than ten days later, selected by
the chair of the adjourned meeting and notice will be given to the Trust Unitholders of such adjourned meeting. The
Trust Unitholders present at any adjourned meeting will constitute a quorum.
Each Trust Unitholder is entitled to one vote per Trust Unit held.
The following matters require approval by Ordinary Resolution and shall be deemed approved, consented to or
confirmed, as the case may be, upon the adoption of such Ordinary Resolution:
(a)

matters relating to the administration of the Trust for which the approval of the Trust Unitholders
is required by policies of the securities regulatory authorities or other applicable laws and
regulations in effect from time to time, and such policies, laws or regulations do not require
approval by Special Resolution;

(b)

subject to the requirements for a Special Resolution, any matter or thing stated in the Trust
Declaration to be required to be consented to or approved by the Trust Unitholders; and

(c)

any matter which the Trustees consider appropriate to present to the Trust Unitholders for their
confirmation or approval.

Each of the following actions requires approval by Special Resolution, the terms of which shall specify the date upon
which the proposed action shall be undertaken and the party who shall undertake the action:
(a)

the amendment of the Trust Declaration (except as provided under “Description of the Securities
Distributed – The Trust – Amendments to the Trust Declaration”) or changes to the Trust,
including changes to the investment objectives of the Trust;

(b)

the removal of the Trustees;

(c)

the appointment of a new trustee(s);

(d)

the termination of the Trust;

(e)

a reduction in the amount payable on any outstanding Trust Units upon liquidation of the Trust;

(f)

an increase in the liability of any Trust Unitholders; or

(g)

the alteration or elimination of any voting rights pertaining to any outstanding Trust Units.

Notwithstanding the above or any other provision herein, no confirmation, consent or approval shall be sought or have
any effect and no Trust Unitholders shall be permitted to effect, confirm, consent to or approve, in any manner
whatsoever, where the same increases the obligations of or reduces the compensation payable to or protection provided
to the Trustees, except with the prior written consent of the Trustees.
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Termination of the Trust
The Trustees may at any time terminate and dissolve the Trust by giving written notice to each of the then Trust
Unitholders of its intention to terminate the Trust at least 90 days before the date on which the Trust is to be terminated.
Upon termination, the net assets of the Trust will be distributed to the Trust Unitholders on a pro-rata basis. Prior to the
termination date, the Trustees will convert the assets of the Trust to cash. After payment of the liabilities of the Trust,
each Trust Unitholder registered as such at the close of business on the date fixed as the termination date will be
entitled to receive from the Trustees its proportionate share of the value of the Trust in accordance with the number of
Trust Units which it then holds.

Amendments to the Trust Declaration
Subject to the restrictions described in “Description of the Securities Distributed – The Trust – Meetings of Trust
Unitholders and Resolutions”, the Trustees may make the following amendments to the Trust Declaration in their
discretion without the approval of Trust Unitholders:
(a)

amendments with respect to the restriction on transfers and/or the listing or trading of Trust Units
where the Trustees believe that to do so would be in the best interests of the Trust or the Trust
Unitholders;

(b)

amendments aimed at ensuring continuing compliance with applicable laws, regulations,
requirements or policies of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Trustees or
over the Trust, its status as a “mutual fund trust”, that the Trust is not a “SIFT Trust” or, as a “real
estate investment trust”, all under the Tax Act (or proposed amendments thereto) or the
distribution of Trust Units;

(c)

amendments which, in the opinion of the Trustees, provide additional protection for Trust
Unitholders;

(d)

amendments to remove any conflicts or inconsistencies in the Trust Declaration or to make minor
corrections which are, in the opinion of the Trustees, necessary or desirable and not prejudicial to
the Trust Unitholders;

(e)

amendments which, in the opinion of the Trustees, are necessary or desirable to remove conflicts
or inconsistencies between the disclosure in this Prospectus and the Trust Declaration;

(f)

amendments of a minor or clerical nature or to correct typographical mistakes, ambiguities or
manifest omissions or errors, which amendments, in the opinion of the Trustees, are necessary or
desirable and not prejudicial to the Trust Unitholders;

(g)

amendments which, in the opinion of the Trustees, are necessary or desirable as a result of changes
in taxation or other laws;

(h)

amendments which in the opinion of the Trustees are necessary or desirable to enable the Trust to
issue Trust Units for which the purchase price is payable on an installment basis or to implement a
Trust Unit option, purchase or rights plan;

(i)

amendments to create one or more additional classes of Trust Units solely to provide voting rights
to holders of shares, units or other securities that are exchangeable for Trust Units entitling the
holder thereof to a number of votes not exceeding the, number of Trust Units into which the
exchangeable shares, units or other securities are exchangeable or convertible but that do not
otherwise entitle the holder thereof to any rights with respect to the Trust's property or income
other than a return of capital;
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(j)

amendments which, in the opinion of the Trustees, are necessary or desirable as a result of changes
from time to time in accounting standards applicable to the Trust as a reporting issuer. which may
affect the Trust or the Trust Unitholders; and

(k)

amendments for any purpose (except one in respect of which a Trust Unitholder vote is
specifically otherwise required) which, in the opinion of the Trust’s lawyers, not a material change
which adversely affects the pecuniary value of the interest of any Trust Unitholders and does not
relate to:
(i)

any material change in the position, authority or responsibility of the Trustees; or

(ii)

any change in the investment policy of the Trust or to the Trust Declaration, if such
change is material or is otherwise required by the Declaration Trust,

but notwithstanding the foregoing, no such amendment shall modify the right to vote attached to
any Trust Unit or reduce the equal undivided interest in the property of the Trust or the entitlement
to distributions from the Trust provided under the Trust Declaration represented by any Trust Unit
without the consent of the holder of such Trust Unit.

Information and Reports
On or before March 31 in each calendar year, the Trust will forward to each person who received a distribution at any
time during the previous calendar year, tax reporting information in such a manner as will enable such person to report
the income tax consequences of investment in Trust Units in the Trust Unitholder’s annual Canadian income tax return.
After the close of each calendar year, the Trustees will distribute or make financial statements and such other reports as
are from time to time required by applicable securities or other laws available to each Trust Unitholder in accordance
with applicable securities legislation. Such financial statements will be prepared in accordance with IFRS; provided
that such statements and the obligations to deliver such statements may vary from such principles to the extent required
to comply with applicable securities laws or securities regulatory requirements or to the extent permitted by applicable
securities regulatory authorities.

Liability of Trust Unitholders
No Trust Unitholder, in its capacity as Trust Unitholder, will incur or be subject to any liability, direct or indirect,
absolute or contingent, in contract or in tort or of any other kind, to any person in connection with: (i) the Trust
Property or the ownership, use, operation, acquisition or disposition thereof or the exercise or enjoyment of the rights,
privileges, conditions or benefits attached thereto, associated therewith or derived therefrom; (ii) the obligations,
liabilities, activities or affairs of the Trust; (iii) any actual or alleged act or omission of the Trustees or any other person
in respect of the activities or affairs of the Trust (whether or not authorized by or pursuant to the Trust Declaration);
(iv) any actual or alleged act or omission of the Trustees or any other person in the performance or exercise, or
purported or attempted performance or exercise, of any obligation, power, discretion or authority conferred upon the
Trustees or such other person in respect of the activities or affairs of the Trust (whether or not authorized by or pursuant
to the Trust Declaration); (v) any transaction entered into by the Trustees or by any other person in respect of the
activities or affairs of the Trust (whether or not authorized by or pursuant to the Trust Declaration); or (vi) any taxes,
levies, imposts or charges or fines, penalties or interest in respect thereof payable by the Trust or by the Trustees or by
any other person (except the Trust Unitholder to the extent required by applicable tax laws) on behalf of or in
connection with the activities or affairs of the Trust.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any Trust Unitholder, in its capacity as such, may be determined by a
judgement of a court of competent jurisdiction to be subject to or liable in respect of any Trust Liabilities, such
judgement and any writ of execution or similar process in respect thereof will be enforceable only against, and will be
satisfied only out of, the Trust Units held by such Trust Unitholder.
Any written instrument creating an obligation with respect to the Trust will be conclusively taken to have been
executed or done by the Trustees only in the capacity of Trustees under the Trust Declaration. Any written instrument
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creating an obligation of the Trust will contain a disavowal of liability upon and waiver of claim against the Trustees or
any Trust Unitholder and indicate that the obligations under such instrument are not personally binding upon, nor will
resort be had to the private property of the Trustees, any Trust Unitholder, or any director, officer, employee or agent of
the Trustees or Trust Unitholder, but only the Trust Property or a specific portion thereof will be bound. The omission
of such a provision will not operate to impose personal liability on the Trustees, any Trust Unitholders, or any of the
officers, employees, agents, heirs, executors or personal representatives of any of them.

No Transfer of Units
Other than Permitted Transfers (including permitted redemptions as described under “Description of the Securities
Distributed – The Trust – Redemption”) no Trust Units (and no other Investments in the Trust) may be transferred by a
Trust Unitholder without the written consent of the Trustees. The Trustees may in their sole discretion withhold
consent for any request for a transfer of Trust Units that is not a Permitted Transfer. Any purported transfer in
attempted contravention hereof shall be null and void as provided for in the Trust Declaration.
Prohibition on Listing or Trading on a Public Market
None of the Trust Units, the Trust Notes or any other Investment in the Trust may be directly or indirectly listed or
traded on any stock exchange or other Public Market. The Trust has informed its transfer agent, registrar, Agents and
CDS of such listing or trading restrictions and the prohibition on transfers of Trust Units. The Trust and each Trust
Unitholder, including any agents or beneficial owners thereof, must not take any action or make any omission that may
cause or permit any Trust Unit, Trust Note or other Investment in the Trust to be listed or traded in contravention of the
such prohibitions. Any purported transfer, listing or trading of Trust Units, Trust Notes or other Investments in the
Trust in attempted contravention of the prohibitions contained in the Trust Declaration is null and void and the Trust
Units purported to have been subject to any such trade, listing or transfer will at the option of the Trustees and
depending on the circumstances, but always in their sole discretion, be deemed have been cancelled and terminated
without any payment immediately prior to any such purported transfer, listing or trading of such Trust Units, or treated
as continuing to have been held by the original Trust Unitholder without regard to any purported transfer or trade of
said Trust Units.

Redemption
A Trust Unitholder holding Trust Units wishing to redeem the whole or any part of his or her Trust Units
(a “Redemption”) may deliver a notice of such desire (the “Redemption Notice”) to the Trustees at any time. Upon
receipt by the Trust of the Redemption Notice, the Trust Unitholder shall thereafter cease to have any rights with
respect to the Trust Units tendered for redemption (other than to receive the redemption payment therefor) including
the right to receive any distributions thereon that are declared payable to the Trust Unitholders of record on a date that
is subsequent to the date of receipt by the Trustees of the Redemption Notice. Trust Units shall be considered to be
tendered for redemption on the date that the Trustees have, to their satisfaction, received the Redemption Notice and
further documents or evidence the Trustees may reasonably require with respect to the identity, capacity or authority of
the person giving such notice.
Subject to applicable laws and the conditions listed below, the Trust will redeem the Trust Units specified in such
Redemption Notice. The price per Trust Unit payable upon redemption will be equal to either:
(a)

where the Trustees have lifted the prohibitions as contained in the Trust Declaration for Trust
Units to be listed or traded, and where the Trust Units have consequently become listed on a stock
exchange or similar market, an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 95% of the market price of the
Trust Units during the ten trading day period after the redemption date; and (ii) 100% of the
closing market price of the Trust Units on the redemption date; or

(b)

where the Trust Units are not listed on a stock exchange or similar market, 95% of the aggregate
of:
(i)

the Master LP Unit Value, being:

67

A.

the aggregate Investments LP Unit Value of the Investments LP Units held by
the Master LP on the last day of the most recent calendar quarter that ends prior
to the redemption date, plus the aggregate value of cash, working capital or
other assets of the Investments LP on the redemption date; plus

B.

the aggregate Developments LP Unit Value of the Developments LP Units held
by the Master LP on the last day of the most recent calendar quarter that ends
prior to the redemption date, plus the aggregate value of cash, working capital or
other assets of the Developments LP on the redemption date; plus

C.

the aggregate value of the cash, working capital, and other assets of the Master
LP on the redemption date, other than Investments LP Units and Developments
LP Units the value of which is accounted for under (b)(i)A and (b)(i)B above;
less

D.

the aggregate of:
I.

the aggregate value of the Master LP's liabilities on the redemption
date;

II.

the amount which would be payable to the Master GP if the Master LP
were terminated and then liquidated on the redemption date; and

III.

the amount which would be payable to Pure Commercial (other than
amounts included in subsection (b)(i)D.I, above) if the Asset
Management Agreement were terminated on such date; plus

(ii)

the aggregate value of the cash, working capital, and other assets of the Trust on the
redemption date, other than Master LP Units, the value of which is accounted for under
(b)(i), above; less

(iii)

the aggregate value of the Trust’s liabilities on the redemption date,

divided by the number of outstanding Trust Units on the redemption date.
The redemption price per Trust Unit multiplied by the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption will be paid to
a Trust Unitholder by way of a cash payment no later than the last day of the calendar month following the calendar
quarter in which the Trust Units were tendered for redemption, provided that:
(a)

the total amount payable by the Trust by cash payment in respect of the redemption of Trust Units
for that calendar quarter will not exceed $100,000;

(b)

the total amount payable by the Trust by cash payment in respect of the redemption of Trust Units
in any twelve month period ending at the end of that calendar quarter will not exceed 3/4 of 1% of
the aggregate subscription price of all Trust Units that were issued and outstanding at the start of
such twelve month period; and

(c)

in the event the Trust Units are listed on a stock exchange or similar market, the normal trading of
the Trust Units is not suspended or halted on any stock exchange on which the Trust Units are
listed for trading on the redemption date or for more than five trading days during the ten day
trading period commencing immediately after the redemption date.

If any of the conditions in paragraphs (a) to (c) above precludes the payment of the redemption price in cash (and
the Trustees do not, in their sole discretion, waive such limitation in respect of all Trust Units tendered for
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redemption in any particular calendar quarter), the redemption price shall be paid and satisfied by way of any of
the following methods to be selected by the Trustees, using their sole discretion:
(a)

the issuance and delivery of a number of Trust Notes, each in the principal amount of $100,
having an aggregate principal amount equal to the redemption price per Trust Unit multiplied by
the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption;

(b)

a distribution in specie to the Trust Unitholder of a number of Master LP Units with an aggregate
value (having regard to the Investments LP Unit Value and the Developments LP Unit Value at
that time) equal to the aggregate redemption price of the Trust Units tendered for redemption,
which number of Master LP Units is expected (in the event that the Trust’s only property consists
of Master LP Units and the Trust has no liabilities) to be equal to the number of Trust Units
tendered for redemption; or

(c)

a distribution in specie to the Trust Unitholder of a number of Debt Securities (each in the
principal amount of $100) having an aggregate principal amount equal to the redemption price per
Trust Unit multiplied by the number of Trust Units tendered for redemption.

Trust Units will be redeemed according to the order in which Redemption Notices are received.
Trust Notes, Debt Securities and Master LP Units received as a result of redemptions of Trust Units will generally
not be qualified investments or may be prohibited investments for Plans, and this could give rise to adverse
consequences to a Plan or the annuitant or holder under a Plan, including the redeeming Trust Unitholder becoming
subject to a penalty tax or having its tax exempt status revoked depending on the circumstances. Accordingly,
Purchasers which are Plans should consult their own tax advisors before deciding to exercise the redemption rights
attached to the Trust Units. See “Risk Factors”.

Limitations on Non-Resident Ownership of Units
In order for the Trust to maintain its status as a mutual fund trust under the Tax Act, it must not be established or
maintained primarily for the benefit of “non-residents” persons of Canada within the meaning of the Tax Act.
Accordingly, the Trust Declaration provides that at no time may Non-Residents be the beneficial owners of more
than 49% of the Trust Units outstanding and the Trustees shall inform the Agents and CDS of this restriction.
Additionally, at no time shall Non-Residents hold or beneficially own, directly or indirectly, Trust Units or any other
rights or options, including convertible debentures that may entitle them (conditionally or otherwise) to acquire
Trust Units that would result in more than 49% of the Trust Units, at any time, being held or beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, by Non-Residents.
The Trustees may require a Trust Unitholder to provide them with a declaration as to the jurisdictions in which
beneficial owners of Trust Units registered in such holder’s name are resident and as to whether such beneficial
owner is Non-Resident (and, in the case of a partnership, whether the partnership is Non-Resident). If the Trustees
become aware, as a result of such declarations as to beneficial ownership or as a result of any other investigations,
that the beneficial owners of more than 49% of the Trust Units, and/or other securities exercisable or exchangeable
for Trust Units, are, or may be, Non-Residents or that such a situation is imminent, the Trustees may make an
announcement thereof to Trust Unitholders and will not accept a subscription for Trust Units from, or issue or
register a transfer of Trust Units to, a person unless the person provides a declaration in form and content
satisfactory to the Trustees that the person is not a Non-Resident and does not hold such Trust Units for the benefit
of Non-Residents. If, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustees determine that more than 49% of the Trust Units,
and/or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for Trust Units, are held by Non-Residents, the Trustees may
send or cause to be sent a notice to such Non-Resident Unitholders, or holders, chosen in inverse order to the order
of acquisition or registration or in such other manner as the Trustees may consider equitable and practicable,
requiring them to sell their Trust Units, and/or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for Trust Units, to a
Permitted Transferee that is a Resident, or to tender their Trust Units, and/or other securities exercisable or
exchangeable for Trust Units, for redemption subject to the limitations in of the Trust Declaration, or a portion
thereof within a specified period of not more than 30 days. If the Trust Unitholders or holders receiving such notice
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have not so transferred or redeemed the specified number of Trust Units, and/or other securities exercisable or
exchangeable for Trust Units, or provided the Trustees with satisfactory evidence that they are not Non-Residents
within such period, the Trustees may on behalf of such persons sell or cause to be sold such Trust Units, and/or other
securities exercisable or exchangeable for Trust Units, and, in the interim, will suspend the voting and distribution
rights attached to such Trust Units, and/or other securities exercisable or exchangeable for Trust Units, as applicable.
Upon such sale, the affected holders will cease to be holders of the relevant Trust Units, and/or other securities
exercisable or exchangeable for Trust Units, and their rights will be limited to receiving the net proceeds of sale
upon surrender of the certificates, if any, representing such Trust Units.
The Trustees shall have the sole right and authority to make any determination required or contemplated in respect
of the foregoing. The Trustees shall make all determinations necessary for the administration of the foregoing and,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if the Trustees consider that there are reasonable grounds for
believing that a contravention of the Non-Resident ownership restriction has occurred or will occur, the Trustees
shall make a determination with respect to the matter. Any such determination shall be conclusive, final and binding
except to the extent modified by any subsequent determination by the Trustees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Trustees may delegate, in whole or in part, their power to make a determination to any officer of the Trust.

Standard of Care by Trustees
The Trustees, in exercising the powers and authority conferred upon it hereunder, must act honestly and in good
faith with a view to the best interests of the Trust and must exercise that degree of care, diligence and skill that a
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. The Trustees will not be liable in carrying
out their duties under the Trust Declaration except in cases where the Trustees fail to act honestly and in good faith
with a view to the best interests of the Trust or to exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably
prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. The duties and standard of care of the Trustees
provided as aforesaid are intended to be similar to, and not to be any greater than, those imposed on a director of a
corporation governed by the CBCA.

Powers and Responsibilities of the Trustees
Except as otherwise provided in the Trust Declaration, the Trust Unitholders do not have the right to elect Trustees.
The Trustees have exclusive authority to manage the operations and affairs of the Trust and to make all decisions
regarding the business of the Trust, and have authority to bind the Trust. The powers, authorities and responsibilities of
the Trustees are limited to those expressly set forth in the Trust Declaration. The Trustees are responsible for managing
the business and administration of the Trust and the conduct of the affairs of the Trust, including without limitation:
(a)

to supervise the activities and manage the investments and affairs of the Trust;

(b)

to hold the Trust Property in safekeeping, retaining moneys, securities, property, assets or
investments, and investing moneys from time to time forming part of the Trust Property;

(c)

to ensure that the gross subscription proceeds are invested in Master LP Units;

(d)

to borrow money as necessary to pay distributions to Trust Unitholders, and encumbering Trust
Property in respect thereof;

(e)

to pay properly incurred expenses out of Trust Property;

(f)

to open, operate and close bank accounts and other similar credit, deposit and banking
arrangements, to negotiate and sign banking and financing contracts and agreements and deposit
monies from time to time forming part of the Trust Property in such accounts;

(g)

to possess and exercise rights, powers and privileges appertaining to ownership of or interests in
Trust Property;
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(h)

to hold legal title to the Trust Property;

(i)

reinvest income and gains of the Trust and to take other actions besides the mere protection and
preservation of the Trust Property;

(j)

to appoint the accountants of and registrar and transfer agent for the Trust;

(k)

to appoint the bankers of the Trust;

(l)

to ensure compliance with applicable securities legislation;

(m)

to prepare and file or cause to be prepared and filed any and all requisite returns, reports and
filings;

(n)

to monitor and prohibit any listing or trading of Trust Units on any stock exchange or other public
market, and to monitor and limit any actions and investments of the Trust, in order to minimize
any liabilities of the Trust or any of its subsidiaries under paragraph 122(1)(b) or subsection
197(2) of the Tax Act;

(o)

to monitor the Trust’s tax status as a “mutual fund trust”, a “unit trust” and, if applicable, a “real
estate investment trust” within the meaning of the Tax Act;

(p)

to monitor the listing or trading of the Trust Units on a stock exchange or other market;

(q)

to provide all requisite office accommodation and associated facilities;

(r)

to provide or cause to be provided to the Trust all other administrative and other services and
facilities required by the Trust;

(s)

to maintain or cause to be maintained complete records of all transactions in respect of the
investment portfolio of the Trust;

(t)

to prescribe any instrument provided for or contemplated by the Trust Declaration;

(u)

to effect payment of distributions to the Trust Unitholders;

(v)

to collect, sue for and receive all sums of money or other property or items that are believed due to
the Trust and obtain security, including encumbrances on assets, to secure the full payment of
monies owed to the Trust and the performance of all obligations in favour of the Trust, and to
exercise all of the rights of the Trust, and to perform all of the obligations of the Trust, under such
security;

(w)

to possess and exercise all the rights, powers and privileges pertaining to the ownership of all or
any part of the Trust Property, including the Master LP Units, to the same extent that any person
might, unless otherwise limited herein;

(x)

where reasonably required, to engage, employ, contract with or retain on behalf of the Trust any
persons as agents, representatives, employees or independent contractors in one or more
capacities;

(y)

except as prohibited by law, to delegate from time to time to the Trust's employees, consultants,
agents and other persons the doing of such things and the exercise of such powers hereunder as the
Trustees may from time to time deem expedient, so long as any such delegation is not inconsistent
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with any of the provisions of the Trust Declaration and subject at all times to the general control
and supervision of the Trustees as provided for herein;
(z)

to issue and redeem Trust Units pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Trust Declaration;

(aa)

where desirable, to make or cause to be made application for the listing or quotation on any stock
exchange or market of Trust Units, and to do all things which in the opinion of the Trustees may
be necessary or desirable to effect or maintain such listing or quotation;

(bb)

to pay all taxes or assessments, of whatever kind or nature, whether within or outside Canada,
imposed upon or against the Trustees in connection with the Trust Property, undertaking or
income of the Trust, or imposed upon or against the Trust Property in connection with the
undertaking or income of the Trust, or any part thereof, and to settle or compromise disputed tax
liabilities, and for the foregoing purposes to make such returns, take such deductions, and make
such designations, elections, allocations and determinations in respect of Trust Income, Net
Realized Capital Gains or any other amounts distributed, allocated and made payable to
Unitholders in a year and any other matter as will be permitted under the Tax Act and analogous
provisions of any provincial income tax legislation, and to do all such other acts and things as may
be deemed by the Trustees in their sole discretion to be necessary, desirable or convenient;

(cc)

to do all such acts and things, and to execute, deliver and perform the obligations of the Trust
under all such agreements and instruments as are necessary to complete the Offering or as are
contemplated by this Prospectus; and

(dd)

to do all such other acts and things and execute all such agreements and other instruments as are
incidental to the foregoing, and to exercise all powers that are necessary or useful to carry on the
purpose and activities of the Trust, to promote or advance any of the purposes or objectives for
which the Trust is formed and to carry out the provisions of the Trust Declaration whether or not
therein specifically mentioned.

Resignation, Removal or Death of Trustees
A Trustee may resign at any time by an instrument in writing signed by him and delivered or mailed to the chairman or,
if there is no chairman, a senior officer of the Trust. A resignation of a Trustee becomes effective at the time a written
resignation is received by the Trust upon 30 days' written notice, or at the time specified in the resignation, whichever
is later, provided that if, upon the resignation becoming effective, the number of remaining Trustees would be less than
the number necessary to constitute a quorum of a meeting of Trustees, the resignation is not effective until the resigning
Trustee's successor is duly appointed as a Trustee, except in the case of a deemed resignation of a Non-Resident
Trustee under the Trust Declaration which shall be effective at the time therein prescribed.
A Trustee may be removed at any time with cause by the resolution passed by an affirmative vote of not less than twothirds of the remaining Trustees. Any removal of a Trustee shall take effect immediately following the aforesaid
resolution or at any later time specified in the notice without need for prior accounting, and any Trustee so removed
shall be so notified by the chairman or a senior officer of the Trust following such removal.
Upon the incapacity or death of any Trustee, such Trustee’s legal representative shall execute and deliver on such
Trustee's behalf such documents as the remaining Trustees may require. In the event that a Trustee or his legal
representatives, as applicable, are unable or unwilling to execute and deliver such required documents, each of the
remaining Trustees is hereby appointed as the attorney of such Trustee for the purpose of executing and delivering such
required documents.
Indemnification of Trustees
In addition to and without limiting any other protection hereunder or otherwise by law of each person who is, or will
have been, a Trustee (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”), the Trust hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and save
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harmless the Indemnified Persons out of the Trust Property, from and against any and all liabilities, losses, claims,
damages, penalties, fines, actions, suits, demands, levies, assessments, costs, charges, expenses and disbursements
(whether or not involving a third party claim), including legal expenses and including amounts paid to settle an action
or satisfy a judgement (collectively, “Damages”), which may at any time be suffered by, imposed upon, incurred by or
asserted against any of the Indemnified Persons: (i) in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or
proceeding to which the Indemnified Person is made a party by reason of being or having been a Trustee or officer of
the Trust or, at the request of the Trust, a trustee, officer or director, as applicable, of any affiliate of the Trust; and/or
(ii) in respect of any and all taxes, penalties or interest in respect of unpaid taxes or other governmental charges
imposed upon the Indemnified Person in consequence of the exercise of his or her powers or discharge of his or her
duties hereunder. An Indemnified Person will not be entitled to satisfy any right of indemnity or reimbursement
granted herein, or otherwise existing under law, except out of the Trust Property, and no Unitholder or other Trustee or
officer will be personally liable to any person with respect to any claim for such indemnity or reimbursement.
An Indemnified Person will not be indemnified in respect of unpaid taxes or other governmental charges or Damages
that arise out of or as a result or in the course of his or her failure to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the
best interests of the Trust, or out of or as a result of or in the course of his or her failure to exercise that degree of care,
diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances, or, in the case of a
criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, where the Indemnified Person
did not have reasonable grounds for believing that his or her conduct was lawful.
Compensation of Trustees
Trustees shall receive such fees and other reasonable compensation (including, without limitation, fees for serving as
chairman of the Trust, for serving as chair of any committee of Trustees and for attendance at each meeting of
Trustees and of each committee of Trustees) as the Trustees may determine from time to time, as well as
reimbursement of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in acting as a Trustee. Each of the Trustees,
either directly or indirectly, shall also be entitled to receive remuneration for services rendered to the Trust or its
affiliates or associates in any other capacity. Such services may include, without limitation, services as an officer of
the Trust, legal, accounting or other professional services or services as a property manager, broker, transfer agent or
underwriter, whether performed by a Trustee or any affiliate or associate of a Trustee. Trustees who are employees
of and who receive salary from the Trust or its affiliates or associates shall not be entitled to receive any
remuneration for their services as Trustees but shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Trust of their out-ofpocket expenses incurred in acting as a Trustee. The Trustees shall be eligible to participate in any incentive plan
for employees, Trustees and/or officers adopted by the Trust.

Rights of Trust Unitholders
A Trust Unitholder has substantially all of the same protections, rights and remedies as a shareholder would have under
the CBCA, except as described herein. Many of the provisions of the CBCA respecting the governance and
management of a corporation have been incorporated in the Trust Declaration. For example, Trust Unitholders are
entitled to exercise voting rights in respect of their Trust Units in a manner comparable to shareholders of a CBCA
corporation, and provisions relating to the calling and holding of meetings of Trust Unitholders included in the Trust
Declaration are comparable to those of the CBCA. Unlike shareholders of a CBCA corporation, Trust Unitholders do
not have a comparable right of a shareholder to make a proposal at a general meeting of the Trust. The matters in
respect of which Trust Unitholder approval is required under the Trust Declaration are generally less extensive than the
rights conferred on the shareholders of a CBCA corporation. The appointment of auditors is reserved to the Trustee
rather than the Trust Unitholders. Trust Unitholders do not have recourse to a dissent right under which shareholders of
a CBCA corporation are entitled to receive the fair value of their shares where certain fundamental changes affecting
the corporation are undertaken (such as an amalgamation, the sale of all or substantially all of its property, or a going
private transaction). As an alternative, Trust Unitholders seeking to terminate their investment in the Trust are entitled
to receive, subject to certain conditions and limitations, their pro rata share of the Trust’s net assets through the
exercise of the redemption rights described under “Description of the Securities Distributed – The Trust –
Redemption”. Trust Unitholders similarly do not have recourse to the statutory oppression remedy that is available to
shareholders of a CBCA corporation where the corporation undertakes actions that are oppressive, unfairly prejudicial
or disregard the interests of security holders and certain other parties.
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Shareholders of a CBCA corporation may apply to a court to order the liquidation and dissolution of the corporation in
certain circumstances, whereas Trust Unitholders may rely only on the general provisions of the Trust Declaration
which permit the winding-up of the Trust with the approval of a Special Resolution of the Trust Unitholders.
Shareholders of a CBCA corporation may also apply to a court for the appointment of an inspector to investigate the
manner in which the business of the corporation and its affiliates is being carried on where there is reason to believe
that fraudulent, dishonest or oppressive conduct has occurred. The CBCA also permits shareholders to bring or
intervene in derivative actions in the name of the corporation or any of its subsidiaries, with the leave of a court. The
Trust Declaration does not include comparable rights.
The foregoing is a summary only of certain of the material provisions of the Trust Declaration. For a
complete understanding of all of the provisions of the Trust Declaration, reference should be made to the
Trust Declaration itself, a copy of which is available from the Trust.
The Master LP
The rights and obligations of the Master GP and the parties holding Master LP Units are governed by the limited
partnership agreement made July 31, 2014 establishing the Master LP among the Master GP as the initial limited
partner and all persons who subsequently become limited partners of the Master LP. The following is a summary of
certain material provisions of the Master LP Agreement. This summary does not purport to be complete and
reference should be to the Master LP Agreement itself, a copy of which is available from the Master GP.
Capitalized terms in this summary which are not defined in this Prospectus are defined in the Master LP
Agreement.

Capital in the Master LP
The capital of the Master LP consists of an unlimited number of Master LP Units and the interest held by the Master
GP. The Master GP has made a capital contribution of $10 to the Master LP and the Initial Limited Partner has
made a capital contribution of $1,000 to the Master LP, which contribution by the Initial Limited Partners was
subsequently redeemed. There have been an additional 1,938 Units issued to limited partners at $930 per Master LP
Unit.

Allocation of Net Income and Taxable Income
The Net Income and Taxable Income of the Master LP for each fiscal year will be allocated to the limited partners
and the Master GP in the same manner and in the same priorities in which cash flow from operations and
distributions of net proceeds from refinancings, sale or other capital transactions are ultimately distributed to such
partners, subject to adjustments for prior loss allocations and such other adjustments as necessary to be made on a
cumulative basis. Specifically, the Net Income and Taxable Income of the Master LP for each fiscal year shall be
allocated among the partners as follows:
(a)

first, to each of the partners pro rata an amount, if any, in proportion to and to the extent of any
losses allocated to each such partner in previous fiscal years as described under “Description of
the Securities Distributed – The Master LP – Allocation of Net Loss and Taxable Loss”, less the
cumulative amount allocated to each such partner pursuant to this clause (a) in previous fiscal
years;

(b)

second, if Net Equity has not been fully repaid, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in
accordance with their Proportionate Shares, to the extent of the cumulative amounts distributed to
the limited partners in respect of Minimum Return up to and including the date of this net income
allocation in excess of the cumulative amount allocated to the limited partners pursuant to this
clause (b) in previous fiscal years;

(c)

third, if Net Equity has not been fully repaid, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in
accordance with their Proportionate Shares, to the extent of the cumulative amounts distributed to
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the limited partners in respect of returns of Net Equity up to and including the date of this net
income allocation in excess of the cumulative amount allocated to the limited partners pursuant to
this clause (c) in previous fiscal years;
(d)

fourth, to the Master GP, to the extent of the cumulative amounts distributed to the Master GP in
respect of Master GP Catch-up Return up to and including the date of this net income allocation in
excess of the cumulative amount allocated to the Master GP pursuant to this clause (d) in previous
fiscal years;

(e)

fifth, to the Master GP, to the extent of the cumulative amounts distributed to the Master GP in
respect of Incentive Management Interest (excluding the Master GP Catch-up Return) up to and
including the date of this net income allocation in excess of the cumulative amount allocated to the
Master GP pursuant to this clause (e) in previous fiscal years;

(f)

sixth, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate Shares, to
the extent of all cumulative amounts distributed to the limited partners (excluding returns of Net
Equity) up to and including the date of this net income allocation in excess of the cumulative
amount allocated to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (b), (c) and this clause (f) in previous
fiscal years; and

(g)

thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 35% to the Master GP.

Allocation of Net Loss and Taxable Loss
The Net Loss and Taxable Loss of the Master LP for each fiscal year shall be allocated among the partners as
follows:
(a)

first, to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their respective Proportionate Shares to
the extent of the positive balance remaining in their Capital Accounts; and

(b)

second, as to the remainder, if any, to the Master GP.

Cash Flow Distributions
Available Cash Flow (Master LP) and Other Receipts (Master LP) shall be distributed, as cash flow permits, as
follows:
(a)

first, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in an amount equal to the Minimum Return. The Minimum Return will be
calculated at 7% per annum on the limited partners’ Net Equity on a cumulative, non-compounded
basis such that in the years when the Minimum Return is not available from cash flow, it will
accumulate and be paid from cash flow in subsequent years;

(b)

second, to the limited partners of the Master LP, pro rata as a group in accordance with their
Proportionate Shares, in repayment of their Net Equity;

(c)

third, to the Master GP, an amount equal to the Master GP Catch-up Return;

(d)

fourth, 80% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 20% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a) and
(d) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 10% annual return on
their Net Equity;
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(e)

fifth, 70% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 30% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a), (d),
and (e) hereof is equal to (but not in excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 15% annual return
on their Net Equity; and

(f)

thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their Proportionate
Shares, and 35% to the Master GP.

Distributions upon Dissolution
Upon the dissolution of the Master LP, the assets of the Master LP shall be liquidated and all proceeds thereof
collected by the Master GP and all such proceeds shall be distributed as follows:
(a)

in the event that dissolution occurs upon the sale of the last of the Properties, to pay any costs
incurred by the Master LP in such sale;

(b)

to pay all expenses incurred in the winding-up of the Master LP;

(c)

to pay all of the liabilities of the Master LP, including any amounts owing to the Master GP in
respect of costs and expenses owing to it pursuant to this Master LP Agreement or any other
agreement between the Master LP and the Master GP, all in the manner required by law;

(d)

to establish such reserves as the Master GP considers necessary;

(e)

to return to each limited partner the amount in such limited partner’s Capital Account;

(f)

to return to the Master GP the balance in its Capital Account; and

(g)

to distribute any balance then remaining in accordance with the terms of Section 6.9 of the Master
LP Agreement.

Alternatively, the limited partners may approve by Special Resolution distributions of all assets of the Master LP in
kind or in specie in which event each limited partner shall, subject to the provisions of the Master LP Agreement, be
entitled to receive an undivided interest in each and every asset of the Master LP in accordance with such limited
partner’s Proportionate Share as of the date of dissolution or sale.

Additional Capital Contributions
No limited partner of the Master LP is required to make additional capital contributions to the Master LP over and
above the purchase price paid for such limited partner’s Master LP Units.

Management of the Master LP
The Master GP shall have continuing exclusive authority over the management of the Master LP, the conduct of its
affairs, and the management and disposition of the property of the Master LP, except for certain limited matters
being subject to votes of the limited partners holding Master LP Units. The Master GP has unlimited liability for the
debts, liabilities and obligations of the Master LP. A limited partner holding Master LP Units will not be liable for
any debts, liabilities or obligations of the Master LP in excess of such limited partner’s paid capital contributions
and any unpaid capital contributions agreed to be paid in respect of such limited partner’s Master LP Units, provided
such limited partner does not take part in the control or management of the business of the Master LP.
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Removal of the Master GP
The limited partners holding Master LP Units may, by Special Resolution and upon 60 days’ written notice to the
Master GP, remove the Master GP without cause, and may remove the Master GP for cause, if such cause is not
remedied after reasonable notice from the limited partners holding Master LP Units. In either such case, the limited
partners holding Master LP Units will appoint, concurrently with the removal, a replacement general partner to assume
all of the responsibilities and obligations of the removed general partner, and the removed general partner will be
released of its liabilities under the Master LP Agreement and indemnified for any damages and expenses with respect
to events which occur in relation to the Master LP after the appointment of the new general partner.
The removal and replacement of the Master GP will not dissolve the Master LP, and the business of the Master LP
will be continued by the new general partner.

Voting
Each Master LP Unit has attached to it the right to exercise one vote at meetings of the Master LP. Certain powers,
relating generally to the existence and fundamental powers of the Master LP, are specified in the Master LP
Agreement to be exercisable only by way of a Special Resolution passed by the limited partners holding Master LP
Units. The Master GP units do not have any rights to vote.

Transfer of Master LP Units
Other than Permitted Transfers or as otherwise set out in the Master LP Agreement , no Master LP Units (and no
other Investments in the Master LP) may be transferred without the written consent of the Master GP. The Master
GP may in its sole discretion withhold consent for any request for a transfer of Master LP Units that is not a
Permitted Transfer. Any purported transfer in attempted contravention hereof shall be null and void.

Financial Information
The Master GP, or its agent in that behalf, shall be responsible for the preparation of annual financial statements of the
Master LP as at the end of each fiscal year and an income tax return of the Master LP for each calendar year. The
Master GP, or its agent in that behalf, shall distribute a copy of such annual financial statements to each limited partner
within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, shall file with CRA in respect of each calendar year the income tax
return of the Master LP and will provide each limited partner with a copy of such return and annual income tax
information for each fiscal year by March 31 of the following year to assist in declaring his, her or its share of the
Master LP income; provided, however, each limited partner shall be solely responsible for filing all income tax returns
and reporting his, her or its share of the Master LP income or loss. All financial statements shall be prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis and shall contain a
breakdown of any expenses for which Related Parties have been reimbursed. The Master GP shall provide interim
financial and management reports regarding the affairs of the Master LP on a quarterly basis.
The foregoing is a summary only of certain of the material provisions of the Master LP Agreement. For a
complete understanding of all of the provisions of the Master LP Agreement, reference should be made to the
Master LP Agreement itself, a copy of which is available from the Master GP.
The Investments LP
The rights and obligations of the Investments GP and the parties holding Investments LP Units are governed by the
limited partnership agreement made August 28, 2014 establishing the Investments LP among the Investments GP
and the Master LP. The following is a summary of certain material provisions of the Investments LP Agreement.
This summary does not purport to be complete and reference should be made to the Investments LP
Agreement itself, copy of which is available from the Investments GP.
Capitalized terms in this summary which are not defined in this Prospectus are defined in the Investments LP
Agreement.
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Capital in the Investments LP
The capital of the Investments LP consists of an unlimited number of Investments LP Units and the Investments
GP’s initial capital contribution.

Allocation of Net Income/Taxable Income
The Net Income/Taxable Income of the Investments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following basis:
(a)

first, to each of the partners, pro rata an amount, if any, in proportion to and to the extent of any
Net Loss/Taxable Loss previously allocated to each such partner in the previous fiscal years, less
the cumulative amount allocated to each such partner in previous fiscal years; and

(b)

second, the balance:
(i)

0.01% to the Investments GP, to a maximum of $100; and

(ii)

99.99% to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share.

Allocation of Net Loss/Taxable Loss
The Net Loss/Taxable Loss of the Investments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following basis:
(a)

to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share, an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous allocations, is equal to but not in excess of the Equity Account
of such limited partners; and

(b)

to the Investments GP, in an amount equal to the balance of the Net Loss/Taxable Loss.

Distributions of Distributable Cash
Distributable Cash shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Investments GP, as follows:
(a)

to the Investments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash, to a maximum of
$100; and

(b)

to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share, the balance of the
Distributable Cash.

The Investments GP shall, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Investments LP from any Distributable Cash.

Distributions upon Wind-up, etc.
The Investments GP, acting as receiver of the Investments LP, will distribute the net proceeds from liquidation of
the Investments LP in the following order:
(a)

to pay the expenses of liquidation and the debts and liabilities of the Investments LP to its
creditors or to make provision for payment thereof;

(b)

to establish any reserves which the Investments GP may deem reasonably necessary for any
contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Investments LP; and

(c)

to pay the balance, if any:
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(i)

to the Investments GP, as to 0.01% of such balance, to a maximum of $100; and

(ii)

as to the balance, to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share.

Alternatively, the limited partners may approve by Special Resolution the distribution of the whole or any part of the
assets of the Investments LP in kind or in specie in which event each limited partner shall, subject to the provisions
of the Investments LP Agreement, be entitled to receive an undivided interest in each and every asset of the
Investments LP in accordance with such limited partner’s Proportionate Share as of the date of dissolution.

Additional Capital Contributions
No limited partner of the Investments LP is required to make additional capital contributions to the Investments LP
over and above the purchase price paid for such limited partner’s Investments LP Units.

Management of the Investments LP
The Investments GP shall have continuing exclusive authority over the management of the Investments LP, the
conduct of their affairs, and the management and disposition of the property of the Investments LP, except for
certain limited matters being subject to votes of the limited partners holding Investments LP Units. The Investments
GP does not have any rights to vote.

Removal of the Investments GP
The limited partners holding Investments LP Units may, by Special Resolution and upon 60 days’ written notice to
the Investments GP, remove the Investments GP without cause, and may remove the Investments GP for cause, if
such cause is not remedied after reasonable notice from the limited partners holding Investments LP Units. In either
such case, the limited partners holding Investments LP Units will appoint, concurrently with the removal, a
replacement general partner to assume all of the responsibilities and obligations of the removed general partner, and
the removed general partner will be released of its liabilities under the Investments LP Agreement and indemnified
for any damages and expenses with respect to events which occur in relation to the Investments LP after the
appointment of the new general partner.

Voting
Each Investments LP Unit has attached to it the right to exercise one vote at meetings of the respective Investments
LP. Certain powers, relating generally to the existence and fundamental powers of each Investments LP, are
specified in the respective Investments LP Agreement to be exercisable only by way of a Special Resolution passed
by the limited partners holding Investments LP Units of the Investments LP.
The foregoing is a summary only of certain of the material provisions of the Investments LP Agreement. For
a complete understanding of all of the provisions of the Investments LP Agreement, reference should be made
to the Investments LP Agreement itself, a copy of which is available from the Investments GP.
The Developments LP
The rights and obligations of the Developments GP and the limited partners holding Developments LP Units are
governed by the limited partnership agreement made August 28, 2014 among the Developments GP and the Master
LP. The following is a summary of certain material provisions of the Developments LP Agreement. This
summary does not purport to be complete and reference should be made to the Developments LP Agreement
itself, a copy of which is available from the Developments GP.
Capitalized terms in this summary which are not defined in this Prospectus are defined in the Developments
LP Agreement.
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Capital in the Developments LP
The capital of the Developments LP consists of an unlimited number of Developments LP Units and the
Developments GP initial capital contribution.

Allocation of Net Income/Taxable Income
The Net Income/Taxable Income of the Developments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following
basis:
(a)

first, to each of the partners, pro rata an amount, if any, in proportion to and to the extent of any
Net Loss/Taxable Loss previously allocated to each such partner in the previous fiscal years, less
the cumulative amount allocated to each such partner in previous fiscal years; and

(b)

second, the balance:
(i)

0.01% to the Developments GP, to a maximum of $100; and

(ii)

99.99% to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share.

Allocation of Net Loss/Taxable Loss
The Net Loss/Taxable Loss of the Developments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following basis:
(a)

to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share, an amount which,
when aggregated with all previous allocations, is equal to but not in excess of the Equity Account
of such limited partners; and

(b)

to the Developments GP, in an amount equal to the balance of the Net Loss/Taxable Loss.

Distributions of Distributable Cash
Distributable Cash shall be distributed from time to time as determined by the Developments GP, as follows:
(a)

to the Developments GP, in an amount equal to 0.01% of the Distributable Cash, to a maximum of
$100; and

(b)

to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate Share, the balance of the
Distributable Cash.

The Developments GP shall, in its discretion, be entitled to retain such reserves as it considers prudent for the
Developments LP from any Distributable Cash.

Distributions upon Wind-up, etc.
The Developments GP, acting as receiver of the Developments LP, will distribute the net proceeds from liquidation
of the Developments LP in the following order:
(a)

to pay the expenses of liquidation and the debts and liabilities of the Developments LP to its
creditors or to make provision for payment thereof;

(b)

to establish any reserves which the Developments GP may deem reasonably necessary for any
contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Developments LP;
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(c)

to pay the balance, if any:
(i)

to the Developments GP, as to 0.01% of such balance, to a maximum of $100; and

(ii)

as to the balance, to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their Proportionate
Share.

Alternatively, the limited partners may approve by Special Resolution the distribution of the whole or any part of the
assets of the Developments LP in kind or in specie in which event each limited partner shall, subject to the
provisions of the Developments LP Agreement, be entitled to receive an undivided interest in each and every asset
of the Developments LP in accordance with such limited partner’s Proportionate Share as of the date of dissolution.

Additional Capital Contributions
No limited partner of the Developments LP is required to make additional capital contributions to the Developments
LP over and above the purchase price paid for such limited partner’s Developments LP Units.

Management of the Developments LP
The Developments GP shall have continuing exclusive authority over the management of the Developments LP, the
conduct of their affairs, and the management and disposition of the property of the Developments LP, except for
certain limited matters being subject to votes of the limited partners holding Developments LP Units. The
Developments GP does not have any rights to vote.

Removal of the Developments GP
The limited partners holding Developments LP Units may, by Special Resolution and upon 60 days’ written notice
to the Developments GP, remove the Developments GP without cause, and may remove the Developments GP for
cause, if such cause is not remedied after reasonable notice from the limited partners holding Developments LP
Units. In either such case, the limited partners holding Developments LP Units will appoint, concurrently with the
removal, a replacement general partner to assume all of the responsibilities and obligations of the removed general
partner, and the removed general partner will be released of its liabilities under the Developments LP Agreement
and indemnified for any damages and expenses with respect to events which occur in relation to the Developments
LP after the appointment of the new general partner.

Voting
Each Developments LP Unit has attached to it the right to exercise one vote at meetings of the respective
Developments LP. Certain powers, relating generally to the existence and fundamental powers of each
Developments LP, are specified in the respective Developments LP Agreement to be exercisable only by way of a
Special Resolution passed by the limited partners holding Developments LP Units of the Developments LP.
The foregoing is a summary only of certain of the material provisions of the Developments LP Agreement.
For a complete understanding of all of the provisions of the Developments LP Agreement, reference should be
made to the Developments LP Agreement itself, a copy of which is available from the Developments GP.
Subscription
The acceptance by the Trust of an offer to purchase, whether by allotment in whole or in part, shall constitute a
subscription agreement between the Purchaser and the Trust upon the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus
and the Trust Declaration, whereby the Purchaser, among other things:
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(a)

irrevocably authorizes and directs the Agents to provide certain information to the Trustees,
including such Purchaser’s full name, residential address, telephone number, social insurance,
business or corporation account number, as the case may be, and the name and registered
representative number of the Agents, and covenants to provide such information to the Agents;

(b)

acknowledges that he, she or it, as the case may be, is bound by the terms of the Trust Declaration
and is liable for all obligations of a Trust Unitholder;

(c)

makes representations and warranties, including without limitation, the respective representations
and warranties set out in the Trust Declaration; and

(d)

irrevocably nominates, constitutes and appoints the Trustees as the Purchaser’s true and lawful
attorney and agent with the full power and authority as set out in the Trust Declaration.

The foregoing subscription agreement shall be evidenced by delivery of this Prospectus to the Purchaser, provided
that the subscription has been accepted by the Trust.
A Purchaser whose subscription is accepted by the Trust will become a Trust Unitholder upon the amendment of the
record of Trust Unitholders maintained by the Trustees. If a subscription is withdrawn, in the time permitted for
rescission pursuant to applicable securities laws, or is not accepted by the Trust, all documents will be returned to
the Purchaser within 15 days following such withdrawal or rejection.
CAPITALIZATION
Existing and Proposed Capitalization
The following table summarizes information about the outstanding securities of the Trust:
Number outstanding and carrying
value after Offering
Description
of security
Initial contribution by
James A. Speakman, as
settlor
Trust Units(1)

(1)

Number
authorized to
be issued
1

unlimited

Number outstanding
and carrying value as
at September 30, 2014
1
($10)
Nil

Assuming
Minimum
Offering
1
($10)
10,000
($10,000,000)(1)

Assuming
Maximum
Offering
1
($10)
30,000
($30,000,000)(1)

Gross proceeds before issuance costs. Issuance costs will be borne by the Master LP pursuant to the Cost Sharing and
Recovery Agreement. The expenses of the Offering, inclusive of agents’ fees and expenses, are estimated to be $375,000,
which, in any event, will not exceed the lesser of either 1.5% of the maximum Offering or 2.0% of the gross proceeds of the
Offering.

Long-Term Debt
Other than earnings and mortgage financing in respect of the TFI Lease for the Transforce Property, none of the
Trust, the Master LP, the Investments LP nor the Developments LP has had any earnings to date, and neither
currently has any outstanding long-term debt. The Property GPs will target an overall loan-to-value ratio (of
mortgage loans) of not more than 70% of the purchase price of the Properties, plus the amount of any property
improvement reserve account approved by the Lenders. However, if deemed appropriate by the Property GPs,
having regard to all of the circumstances including the potential value of the Properties identified for investment, the
Property GPs may cause the overall loan-to-value ratio of the Mortgage Loans to exceed this threshold. Such loans
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will generally be for terms of three to seven years, with fixed interest rates calculated with reference to the interest
rate on a government bond with a similar term, plus an amount determined in accordance with market factors. The
Mortgage Loans will be secured by mortgages registered on the Properties in respect of which the loans were
advanced.
PRIOR SALES
There have been no prior sales of the Trust Units offered under this Prospectus.
PRINCIPAL SECURITY HOLDERS
After giving effect to the Offering, to the best of the knowledge of the Trustees and officers of the Trust, no persons
will own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over Trust Units carrying more than 9.9% of the
votes attached to all of the issued and outstanding Trust Units.
TRUSTEES, DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holdings

Trustees
The following are the names, ages and municipalities of residence of the Trustees, their principal occupations during
the past five years and the number, class and kind of securities of the Trust held by each of them.

Name, Age,
Municipality of
Residence and
Position Held

Principal
Occupation

Periods
Served as a
Trustee

Securities of
the Trust
Beneficially
Owned or
Directly or
Indirectly
Controlled

Percentage
of Class
Outstanding

Percentage
of Class
Outstanding
After
Giving
Effect to
Minimum
Offering

Stephen Evans(1)
Age 50
North Vancouver,
BC

CEO, Pure Multi-Family REIT
LP; COO, Sunstone Realty
Advisors Inc.; Co-CEO Pure
Industrial Real Estate Trust

Trustee since
August 27,
2014.

-

-

-

Antony Kalla(1)
Age 50
Vancouver, BC

Licensed commercial mortgage
broker; principal of Westbridge
Mortgage Services Ltd.

Trustee since
August 27,
2014.

-

-

-

William Randall(1)
Age 48
Vancouver, BC

Senior Vice President of
Cushman & Wakefield Ltd.
(Vancouver)

Trustee since
August 27,
2014.

-

-

-

(1)

Member of the Audit Committee.

Personal Profiles
Stephen J. Evans – Mr. Evans has established several publicly listed real estate platforms and has raised over $1.8
billion in equity capital across all platforms. Mr. Evans co-founded and is the CEO of Pure Multi-Family
(TSXV: RUF.U, RUF.UN; OTCQX: PMULF) which has a portfolio of approximately 4,500 luxury apartment units
located in strong growth markets of the Southwest United States, and a market capitalization of approximately
U.S.$150 million. He is also the COO of and indirectly owns 50% of the shares in Sunstone Realty Advisors Inc.
(“Sunstone Realty”). Since 2003, Sunstone Realty, and its predecessors, have raised over $208 million and
U.S.$137 million in equity for its Sunstone series of funds (collectively, the “Sunstone Funds”). Sunstone Realty
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has participated in the negotiation, acquisition, redevelopment and asset management of over $493 million and
U.S.$288 million in commercial, residential and office properties in Canada and the U.S. Mr. Evans continues his
active role in the management of the business of Sunstone Realty, with a focus on enhancing the value of the
acquired properties on behalf of the investors. As well, Mr. Evans co-founded PIRET in 2007. PIRET is a publiclylisted real estate investment trust (TSX: AAR.UN) established for the purposes of acquiring, owning and operating a
diversified portfolio of income-producing industrial properties in primary markets across Canada. Since its IPO in
2007, PIRET has raised approximately $800 million in equity financing and acquired a portfolio of over 150
industrial properties in Canada having a total value of approximately $1.4 billion. Mr. Evans co-founded and holds
a board position on American Hotel Income Properties REIT LP (TSX: HOT.UN) a hotel investment platform that
owns 56 hotels in the United States and has a market capitalization of approximately $250 million. From September
15, 2008 to December 31, 2009, Mr. Evans was a director of IAT Air Cargo Facilities Income Fund and director of
International Aviation Terminals Inc. Mr. Evans commenced as director of Huntingdon Capital Corporation
(formerly Huntingdon Real Estate Investment Trust) on January 1, 2010 until September 26, 2012 and is currently a
director of WesternOne Inc. (TSX: WEQ).
Antony Kalla – Mr. Kalla, principal of Westbridge Mortgage Services Ltd., has been a commercial mortgage
broker in Vancouver since graduating from University of British Columbia in 1987 with a Bachelor of Commerce.
He began his career with TerraFund Financial Inc., where he became an owner/partner in 1991. In 1993 he cofounded Westbridge Capital Group, a boutique commercial mortgage brokerage firm. To date, he has been directly
involved in placing over $3 billion in mortgage debt across all segments of the market across Canada with a focus
on British Columbia. He continues to run his business at Westbridge today as well as his personal ventures in
commercial real estate which encompass acquisition, management and repositioning of a variety of property types
including retail, industrial, multi-family, office, and hospitality (hotel) in southern British Columbia.
William Randall – Mr. Randall is a Senior Vice President of Cushman & Wakefield Ltd. (Vancouver) . He has
consistently been awarded for his top sales achievements and was the division’s top salesperson in 2003, 2004,
2010, 2011 and 2013 and in the Top 10 of Cushman & Wakefield’s salespeople in Canada for 2005, 2006, 2009,
2010, 2011 and 2013. Mr. Randall has extensive experience with the real estate markets in Northern British
Columbia and has transacted well in excess of 100 real estate transactions in Northern British Columbia for clients
such as BCR Properties Ltd., Shell Canada, the Province of British Columbia and Canfor Corporation. Mr. Randall
has direct or joint venture interests in several properties in British Columbia, many of which are in Northern British
Columbia. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia.

The Master GP, the Investments GP and the Developments GP
The directors and officers of each of the Master GP, the Investments GP and the Developments GP consist of the
following individuals:
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Name, Age, Municipality
of Residence and
Position Held

Position and Date of Appointment
Principal Occupation

Master GP

Investments GP

Developments GP

Stephen Evans
Age 50
North Vancouver, BC

CEO, Pure Multi-Family REIT
LP ; COO, Sunstone Realty
Advisors Inc.; Co-CEO Pure
Industrial Real Estate Trust

Director since July
31, 2014

Director since July
19, 2014

Director since July
19, 2014

James Redekop
Age 54
White Rock, BC

President of Redekop
Development Corp. from
March 1996 to present.
Redekop Development Corp. is
a development company with
interests in real estate
development and construction
projects.

Director since July
31, 2014

n/a

Director since
September 1, 2014

Brian R. Canfield
Age 51
Oak Bay, BC

Senior Partner of Farris,
Vaughan, Wills & Murphy
LLP based in Vancouver

Director since
February 25, 2014

Director since July
19, 2014

Director since July
19, 2014

Mark Hewett
Age 45
North Vancouver, BC

Senior Investment Advisor,
Senior Vice President and
Portfolio Manager of
Canaccord Genuity Inc.

Director since July
31, 2014

Director since
September 1, 2014

Director since
September 1, 2014

Robert King
Age 48
Vancouver, BC

President, King Pacific Capital
Corporation

n/a

Director since
September 1, 2014

n/a

Randy Cockrill
Age 53
Chilliwack, BC

President, SummitQuest
Properties Inc.

Officer since
September 1, 2014

Officer since
September 1, 2014

Officer since
September 1, 2014

Previous Relevant Experience of the Directors and Officers of the Master GP, the Investments GP and the
Developments GP
Directors
As disclosed below, each of the directors has a wide range of experience in the real estate business and/or with
Western Canada’s North, including a history of identifying real estate investment opportunities that are not being
operated to their full potential, either as a result of inefficient management or the need for asset refurbishment.
Stephen J. Evans – See Mr. Evans’ personal profile under “Trustees, Directors and Officers – Name, Address,
Occupation and Security Holdings – Personal Profiles”.
James Redekop – Since leaving the single family home construction industry in 1986, Mr. Redekop has been
involved in multi-family housing and commercial construction and real estate development in British Columbia,
primarily through special-purpose private companies held through Redekop Development Corp., Mr. Redekop’s
development company. His primary focus has been with residential wood-frame condominium and townhouse
projects. Over the past 25 years, he has acted as general contractor or project manager on numerous multi-family
developments. More recently, Mr. Redekop has become involved in commercial greenhouse vegetable production as
a principal of Sunselect Produce Delta LLP and its sister company, Proselect Gas Treating Inc. Mr. Redekop is also
a director of the general partner and/or corporate trustee of each of the limited partnerships and real estate
investment trusts comprising the Sunstone Funds as well as Pure Multi-Family.
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Brian R. Canfield – Mr. Canfield is a senior partner of Farris, Vaughan, Wills & Murphy LLP, a well-established
law firm with offices in Vancouver, Kelowna and Victoria. He is a member of the British Columbia, Alberta and
Washington State Bars. Mr. Canfield has extensive experience with all aspects of real estate development, including
in Northern British Columbia, and enjoys strong relationships with all levels of government. He also is well-versed
in negotiations between First Nations and proponents of large energy projects in Western Canada’s North and in
governance matters. Mr. Canfield holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and a Bachelor of Laws from the
University of British Columbia.
Mark Hewett, P. Eng. – Mr. Hewett is Senior Investment Advisor, Senior Vice President and Portfolio Manager
with Canaccord Genuity Inc. (“Canaccord”). Over the course of 17 years, he has built a successful wealth
management business advising high net worth families, entrepreneurs, local government and philanthropic entities.
Mr. Hewett has a focus on global investing and is actively engaged with global investors about the opportunities to
invest in Canada. He co-founded the Dekker Hewett Group at Canaccord in 2007 and received his Fellow of the
Canadian Securities Institute (FCSI) in 2011. Mr. Hewett attained his Bachelor of Applied Science (Civil
Engineering) from the University of British Columbia in 1993. His career started as an Engineer in the energy
sector within British Columbia and he worked in that field from 1993 until 1997. His work was focussed on the
processing and transportation of natural gas that took him throughout the province, from Kamloops on up to Fort
Nelson in the far North. During his time in these various locations, he developed a strong understanding of the
complexities involved in getting the gas from the well head through to the end user. He also intimately understands
the issues that surround communities in each of these regions have with respect to pipelines and specifically natural
gas. Mr. Hewett maintains his Professional Engineer status with the Association of Professional Engineers and
Geoscientists of British Columbia.
Robert King – Mr. King is President of King Pacific Capital Corporation, a private company specializing in
mortgage finance and real estate development and investment in Western Canada. Mr. King is also a principal of
Westbridge Finance Inc., a full-service commercial mortgage brokerage company. Mr. King is the lead independent
director of Pure Multi-Family (TSXV: RUF.U, RUF.DB.U), director and Chair of WesternOne Inc. (TSX: WEQ),
and a director of Wall Financial Corporation (TSX: WFC), a real estate investment and development company. Mr.
King is also a director of the general partner and/or corporate trustee of each of the limited partnerships and real
estate investment trusts comprising the Sunstone series of funds. Mr. King earned his Master of Business
Administration from Dalhousie University in 1992 and a Bachelor of Arts from the University of British Columbia
in 1989.
Officer
E. Randall (Randy) Cockrill – Mr. Cockrill is a real estate development, acquisition and financing consultant. He
has 15 years experience in the commercial and industrial real estate sectors in both a corporate and consulting
capacity, with direct experience in acquisitions and dispositions, leasing, planning, construction and operations. Mr.
Cockrill previously spent 13 years in the real estate industry, rising to Director of Real Estate with REVY Home &
Garden Inc. Mr. Cockrill holds a Bachelor of Arts from the University of British Columbia and a Masters of
Divinity from Regent College.
Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)
General
None of the Principals is in any way limited or affected in his ability to carry on other business ventures for his own
accounts and for the accounts of others, and each is now, and intends in the future to be, engaged in the development
of, investment in and management of other real estate properties. None of these persons will have any obligation to
account to the Trust or the Trust Unitholders for profits made in such other activities.
The Trust
The Trust Declaration provides that a Trustee who is a party to, or who is a director or officer or an individual acting
in a similar capacity of, or has a material interest in, any person who is a party to, a material contract or transaction
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or proposed material contract or transaction with the Trust, other than an affiliate of the Trust, must disclose in
writing to the Trust the nature and extent of such interest. A Trustee or director or officer with such an interest must
not vote on any resolution to approve the material contract or transaction, unless the material contract or transaction
is one relating primarily to his or her remuneration as a Trustee or director or officer, one for indemnity or
insurance, or one with any affiliate of the Trust and, for greater certainty, a Trustee complying with such provisions
will not be subject to any liability to the Trust or the Trust Unitholders with respect to such contract or proposed
material contract. Where the Trustee fails to disclose his or her interest in a material contract or transaction in
accordance with such provisions, the Trustees or any Trust Unitholder, in addition to exercising any other rights or
remedies in connection with such failure exercisable at law or in equity, may apply to a court for an order setting
aside the material contract or transaction and directing that the Trustee account to the Trust for any profit or gain
realized. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustees, acting honestly and in good faith, are not accountable to the
Trust or to the Trust Unitholders for any profit or gain realized from such material contract or transaction, and such
material contract or transaction will not be void or voidable and may not be set aside, if: (i) the material contract or
transaction was reasonable and fair to the Trust at the time it was approved; (ii) the material contract or transaction
is confirmed or approved at a meeting of the Trust duly called for that purpose; and (iii) the nature and extent of the
Trustee's in such contract or transaction is disclosed in reasonable detail in the notice calling the meeting of the
Trustees.
The Trust Declaration also provides that each Trustee is entitled, without the consent of the other Trustees or the
Trust Unitholders, to carry on any business whether or not of the same nature and competing with that of the Trust,
and is not liable to account to the Trust nor the Trust Unitholders therefor.
The Master GP
The Master LP Agreement provides that each limited partner is entitled, without the consent of the Master LP or the
other limited partners, to carry on any business whether or not of the same nature and competing with that of the
Master LP, and is not liable to account to the other limited partners therefor.
Insurance Coverage for Trustees, Directors and Officers and Indemnification
The Trust, Master GP and their subsidiary entities intends to obtain or cause to be obtained a policy or policies of
insurance for the Trustees, directors and officers of each of the Trust, the Master GP and each corporate subsidiary
entity. The initial aggregate limit of liability applicable to the insured Trustees, directors and officers will likely be
$10,000,000. Under such policy or policies, each entity will have reimbursement coverage to the extent that it has
indemnified the Trustees, directors and officers. The policy or policies will include securities claims coverage,
insuring against any legal obligation to pay on account of any securities claims brought against the Trust, Master GP
and their subsidiary entities, and their respective Trustees, directors and officers. In addition, the Trust, Master GP
and their subsidiary entities will each indemnify their respective Trustees, directors and officers from and against
liability and costs in respect of any action or suit brought against them in connection with the execution of their
duties of office.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The Trust and the Trustees

Executive Compensation
The Trust does not pay compensation to its executive officers for services in such capacity to the Trust.

Long Term Incentive Plan, Stock Appreciation Rights and Stock Option Grants
The Trust does not have a Long Term Incentive Plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash compensation has been
paid or distributed to any director or officer. The Trust does not have any Stock Appreciation Rights or Incentive
Plans. The Trust has not issued any stock options to its executive officers or Trustees.
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Pension Plan Benefits
The Trust does not have a pension plan for its executive officers or Trustees and does not intend to establish any
pension plan for its executive officers or Trustees.

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment Contracts
The Trust has not entered into any employment contracts or arrangements with its executive officers or Trustees.

Trustee Compensation
For the period from formation on August 27, 2014 to October 31, 2014, no compensation was paid by the Trust to
the Trustees. Each Trustee, other than Stephen Evans, is entitled to an annual fee of $12,500.
The Master LP and the Master GP

Executive Compensation
The Master GP is a newly incorporated entity and has not completed a financial year. For the period from formation
on February 25, 2014 to October 31, 2014, no compensation was paid by the Master LP to the Master GP or by the
Master GP to its executive officers. The Master GP does not have a chief executive officer or chief financial officer
nor any other executive officer whose total salary and bonus is expected to exceed $50,000, and whose aggregate
salaries are not expected to exceed $75,000, during any financial year unless and until the board of directors of the
Master GP determines it would be appropriate to do so given the extent of the obligations for each such position.

Long Term Incentive Plan, Stock Appreciation Rights and Stock Option Grants
The Master GP does not have a Long Term Incentive Plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash compensation has
been paid or distributed to any director or officer. The Master GP does not have any Stock Appreciation Rights or
Incentive Plans. The Master GP has not issued any stock options to its executive officers or Directors.

Pension Plan Benefits
The Master GP does not have a pension plan for its executive officers or Directors and does not intend to establish
any pension plan for its executive officers or Directors.

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment Contracts
The Master GP has not entered into any employment contracts or arrangements with its executive officers or
Directors.

Director Compensation
The Master GP is a newly incorporated entity and has not completed a financial year. For the period from formation
on February 25, 2014 to October 31, 2014, no compensation was paid by the Master GP to its Directors, Stephen Evans,
James Redekop, Brian R. Canfield and Mark Hewett. The Master GP does not intend to pay any compensation to its
Directors.

Management Agreements
Pursuant to the Asset Management Agreement, Pure Commercial has agreed to provide certain financial, real estate
and management services to the Master LP, including, but not limited to, the following:
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(a)

providing overall management, financial and business planning for the Master LP, including
overseeing the operations of the Properties;

(b)

establishing appropriate legal and accounting systems for the proper control of the Properties;

(c)

maintaining ongoing liaison with the Lenders of the Mortgage Loans and using best efforts to
arrange a refinancing of the Mortgage Loans at the expiration of their terms and any subsequent
refinancings;

(d)

conducting ongoing analysis of market conditions to monitor the Master LP’s investment in the
Properties; and

(e)

advising the Master LP with respect to the disposition of the Properties, and negotiating and
carrying out the disposition of the Properties on such terms and conditions and at such times as
Pure Commercial may determine.

In consideration of the provision of such services, the Master LP will pay the Asset Management Fee to Pure
Commercial. Stephen Evans is the sole director and officer of Pure Commercial. Mr. Evans is also a Trustee, and a
director and officer of each of the Master GP, the Investments GP and the Developments GP (see “Corporate
Structure – Investment Structure”).

Compensation Committee
Neither the Trust nor the Master LP has a compensation committee. To the degree that any compensation matters need
to be addressed for each entity, they will be dealt with by the Trustees and the Directors, respectively.

Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers
None of the directors or executive officers of the Master GP or the Property GPs is indebted to any of the Master GP or
Property GPs.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate Governance
Stephen Evans, Antony Kalla and William Randall are the Trustees. Messrs. Kalla and Randall are independent. Mr.
Evans is not independent as he is the Chair of the Trustees of the Trust. The Trustees facilitate independent
supervision over management through the conflict of interest provisions contained in the Trust Declaration and by
requiring the approval of non-interested Trustees in various transactions with any Related Party. See “Trustees,
Directors and Officers – Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)”.
The Trustees have appointed an Audit Committee.
Audit Committee
The audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) will be comprised of Stephen Evans, Antony Kalla and William
Randall. Messrs. Kalla and Randall are “independent” within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 Audit
Committees. Each member is financially literate within the meaning of applicable securities laws. The audit
committee will assist the Trustees in fulfilling its responsibilities of oversight and supervision of the Trust’s
accounting and financial reporting practices and procedures, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and
procedures, and the quality and integrity of its financial statements. In addition, the audit committee will be
responsible for directing the auditors' examination of specific areas, for the selection of the Trust’s independent
auditors and for the approval of all non-audit services for which its auditors may be engaged.
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Each of the Audit Committee members has an understanding of the accounting principles used to prepare the Trust’s
financial statements, experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating comparable financial statements and
experience as to the general application of relevant accounting principles, as well as an understanding of the internal
controls and procedures necessary for financial reporting. For the education and experience of each member of the
Audit Committee relevant to the performance of his or her duties as a member of the Audit Committee, see
“Trustees, Directors and Officers – Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holdings – Trustees”.
The Trust has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, which sets out the Audit Committee’s
responsibility in reviewing the financial statements of the Trust and public disclosure documents containing
financial information and reporting on such review to the Trust, ensuring that adequate procedures are in place for
the review of the Trust’s public disclosure documents that contain financial information, overseeing the work and
reviewing the independence of the external auditors and reviewing, evaluating and approving the internal control
procedures that are implemented and maintained by management. A copy of the Audit Committee charter is attached
to this Prospectus as Appendix A.
The Trust is relying on the exemption in Section 3.2 of National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees in respect of
the composition of its audit committee.
The Trust is newly established and has not yet had a fiscal year end. As a result, there have been no fees billed to
the Trust by its auditors, KPMG LLP, in respect of the Trust’s last two fiscal years.
Orientation and Continuing Education
Following the initial Closing of the Offering, it is expected that the Trustees will put in place an orientation program
for new trustees under which a new trustee will meet with the Chairman of the Trust and members of the executive
management team of the Trust. A new trustee will be provided with comprehensive orientation and education as to
the nature and operation of the Trust and its business, as to the role of the committees, and as to the contribution that
an individual trustee is expected to make. The Trustees will be responsible for coordinating continuing trustee
development programs to enable the trustees to maintain or enhance their skills and abilities as trustees as well as
ensuring their knowledge and understanding of the Trust and its business remains current.
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
Maximum Offering
The Trust will co-ordinate through the Agents, by this Prospectus, the offer to sell to the public in each of the
provinces of Canada, except Quebec, on a continuing basis, up to a maximum of 30,000 Trust Units at a price of
$1,000 per Trust Unit until the earlier of the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015. Purchasers are
required to acquire a minimum of ten Trust Units.
Minimum Offering
There will be no initial Closing unless a minimum of 10,000 Trust Units are sold pursuant to this Offering.
Assuming that the minimum Offering is achieved, it is expected that the initial Closing will occur on or about
December 30, 2014, or such other date as the Trust and the Co-Lead Agents may agree. One or more
additional Closings may occur until the earlier of the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless an amendment to the Final Prospectus is filed and the British
Columbia Securities Commission, as principal regulator pursuant to Part 3 of Multilateral Instrument 11-102
- Passport System, has issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities will cease within
90 days after the date of the Receipt for the Final Prospectus. If an amendment to the Final Prospectus is
filed and the principal regulator has issued a receipt for the amendment, the distribution of these securities
will cease within 90 days after the date of the receipt for such amendment, unless a further amendment to the
Final Prospectus is filed and the principal regulator has issued a receipt for the further amendment. In any
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case, the total period of distribution must not end more than 180 days from the date of the Receipt for the
Final Prospectus.
Securities Not Listed
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Trust and the Master LP do not have any of their securities listed or quoted,
have not applied to list or quote any of their securities, and do not intend to apply to list or quote any of their
securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United
States including the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by
PLUS Markets Group plc.
Agency Agreement
Pursuant to an Agency Agreement made as of December 22, 2014 among the Trust, the Master GP and the Agents,
the Agents have agreed to offer the Trust Units for sale on a “commercially reasonable best efforts” basis until the
earlier of the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015, in consideration of the Agents’ Commission
equal to 6% of the aggregate purchase price of Trust Units sold under the Offering. Assuming that the minimum
Offering is achieved, it is expected that the initial Closing will occur on or about December 30, 2014, or such other
date as the Trust and the Co-Lead Agents may agree. One or more additional Closings may occur until the earlier of
the maximum Offering being sold and February 27, 2015.
The Agents reserve the right to offer selling group participation, in the normal course of the brokerage business, to
selling groups of other licensed dealers, brokers and investment dealers (“sub-agents”), who may or may not be
offered part of the commissions to be received by the Agents pursuant to the Agency Agreement.
As a further incentive to the Agents or any sub-agents, the Master GP has agreed to pay to the Agents or any subagents a trailer fee equal to 10% of any amounts realized by the Master GP in respect of its Incentive Management
Interest. The Agents may, but are not obligated to, assign all or part of their compensation entitlements to subagents effecting sales of Trust Units.
PRINCIPAL CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
In the view of KPMG, in its capacity as tax advisor to the Trust, and in the opinion of Cassels Brock, counsel to the
Agents, the following is a summary, as of the date hereof, of the principal Canadian federal income tax
considerations generally applicable under the Tax Act to a Trust Unitholder who acquires Trust Units pursuant to
this Offering and who, for purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times, is resident in Canada for purposes of the
Tax Act, deals at arm’s length and is not affiliated with the Trust and holds the Trust Units as capital property.
Generally, the Trust Units will be considered to be capital property to a Trust Unitholder provided that such Trust
Units are not held in the course of carrying on a business and have not been acquired in one or more transactions
considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Trust Unitholders who might not otherwise
be considered to hold their Trust Units as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to have them
treated as capital property by making irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. Such Trust
Unitholder should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular circumstances as such election would
affect the income tax treatment of dispositions of all “Canadian securities” (as defined in the Tax Act) owned by the
Trust Unitholder in the taxation year in which the election is made and in all subsequent taxation years.
This summary is not applicable to a Trust Unitholder: (i) that is a “financial institution” for purposes of the “markto-market rules” in the Tax Act; (ii) that is a “specified financial institution”; (iii) that has elected to determine its
Canadian tax results in a foreign currency pursuant to the “functional currency” reporting rules in the Tax Act; or
(iv) an interest in which is a “tax shelter investment”, as each term is defined in the Tax Act. Such Trust Unitholders
should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax consequences to them of the acquisition, holding and
disposition of Trust Units acquired pursuant to this Offering. In addition, this summary does not address the
deductibility of interest by an investor who has borrowed money to acquire Trust Units under this Offering, and
assumes that no Trust Unitholder has entered into or will enter into a “derivative forward agreement” (as defined in
the Tax Act) with respect to the Trust Units.
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This summary is based on the facts set out in this Prospectus and certain representations as to factual matters made
in a certificate (the “Certificate”) provided to KPMG and to Cassels Brock by the Trust and the Master GP. This
summary assumes that the representations made in the Certificate are true and correct, including the representations
that the Trust has and will at all times comply with the Trust Declaration, that the Trust will file an election under
subsection 132(6.1) of the Tax Act to be deemed to have been a “mutual fund trust” within the meaning of the Tax
Act from the time of its establishment, and that the Trust does and will continue to qualify as a “mutual fund trust”
within the meaning of the Tax Act while the Trust Units remain outstanding.
This summary describes the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations based on the application of
specific provisions of the Tax Act to the transactions described in the Prospectus, and does not address any tax
consequences which could arise as a result of any potential application of the general anti-avoidance rule in
subsection 245(2) of the Tax Act to any particular transaction or series of transactions. This summary is also based
upon the provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof and on KPMG and Cassels Brock’s understanding
of the publicly available administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the
“CRA”) published prior to the date hereof. This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax
Act which have been publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date
hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”). There can be no assurance that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted
in their current form or at all, or that the CRA will not change its administrative policies and assessing practices.
This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law or in administrative policies or
assessing practices, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action. There can be no assurances
that such changes, if made, might not be retroactive. Modification or amendment of the Tax Act or Proposed
Amendments could significantly alter the status of the Trust and the tax consequences of investing in Trust Units.
This summary also does not take into account provincial, territorial, or foreign tax legislation or considerations
(including those relating to the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, and the modifications thereto in the
intergovernmental agreement between Canada and the United States and the Tax Act), which may differ
significantly from those discussed in this summary.
This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations applicable to an
investment in Trust Units. The income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of Trust
Units will vary depending on the particular circumstances applicable to each Trust Unitholder thereof.
Accordingly, this summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be legal or tax advice to any
prospective purchaser of Trust Units. The Trust has not obtained, nor sought, an advance tax ruling from the
CRA in respect of this Offering. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors for advice with
respect to the tax consequences of an investment in Trust Units based on their particular circumstances.
Qualification as a “Mutual Fund Trust”
This summary assumes the Trust will qualify at all times as a “mutual fund trust” within the meaning of the Tax Act
and that the Trust will validly elect under the Tax Act to be a mutual fund trust from the date it was established.
Based on the representations as to factual matters set out in the Certificate, the Trust will meet the requirements
necessary for it to qualify as a mutual fund trust no later than the initial Closing of the Offering, and will continue to
qualify as a mutual fund trust at all times thereafter. If the Trust were not to qualify as a mutual fund trust at all
times, certain of the income tax considerations described below would, in some respects, be materially and adversely
different.
Currently, a trust will not be considered to be a mutual fund trust if it is established or maintained primarily for the
benefit of non-residents, within the meaning of the Tax Act, unless the trust complies with certain restrictions in
respect of its assets. This summary assumes that the Trust was not established and is not maintained primarily for
the benefit of non-resident persons and KPMG and Cassels Brock are of the view that this assumption is reasonable
in light of the restrictions on ownership of Trust Units by Non-Residents which are contained in the Trust
Declaration.
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The SIFT Rules
The Tax Act contains rules which tax certain publicly traded or listed trusts and partnerships in a manner similar to
corporations and which tax certain distributions from such trusts and partnerships as taxable dividends from a
taxable Canadian corporation.
The SIFT Rules apply to any trust or partnership that is a “SIFT trust” or “SIFT partnership” (each defined in the
Tax Act) and its investors. A SIFT trust and a SIFT partnership includes a Canadian resident trust or partnership
“investments” (as defined in the Tax Act) in which are listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market,
and which holds one or more “non-portfolio properties” (as defined in the Tax Act). “Non-portfolio properties”
include certain investments in real properties situated in Canada and certain investments in corporations and trusts
resident in Canada and in partnerships with specified connections in Canada. The effect of the SIFT Rules is that
SIFT trusts and SIFT partnerships would be subject to a special tax on their “non-portfolio earnings” (as defined in
the Tax Act) distributed or allocated to investors of the trust or partnership.
Pursuant to the SIFT Rules, a SIFT trust cannot deduct any part of the amounts payable to unitholders in respect of:
(i) aggregate net income from businesses it carries on in Canada; (ii) aggregate net income (other than taxable
dividends received by the SIFT trust) from its non-portfolio properties; and (iii) aggregate net taxable capital gains
from its disposition of non-portfolio properties. Distributions which a SIFT trust is unable to deduct will be taxed in
the SIFT trust at rates of tax designed to emulate the combined federal and provincial corporate tax rates. Generally,
distributions that are paid as returns of capital will not attract this tax. Similar to a SIFT Trust, a SIFT partnership
will be subject to SIFT tax on its “taxable non-portfolio earnings”, if any.
Distributions of a SIFT trust’s income that are not deductible to the SIFT trust (and the “taxable non-portfolio
earnings” (as defined in the Tax Act) of a SIFT partnership less SIFT tax payable by a SIFT partnership) will be
treated as dividends payable to unitholders of the SIFT Trust (or SIFT partnership) from a taxable Canadian
corporation. Such dividends deemed to be received by an individual (other than certain trusts) will be included in
computing the individual’s income for tax purposes and will be subject to the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax
credit rules normally applicable to eligible dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations. Such dividends
deemed to be received by a holder that is a corporation generally will be deductible in computing the corporation’s
taxable income, and generally will qualify as “eligible dividends” for purposes of computing a Canadian resident
corporation’s “general rate income pool” or “low rate income pool” (each as defined in the Tax Act). Certain
corporations, including “private corporations” or “subject corporations” (as such terms are defined in the Tax Act),
may be liable to pay a refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act of 331/3 % on dividends received or deemed to
be received to the extent that such dividends are deductible in computing taxable income.
One of the conditions for a trust or partnership to be a SIFT trust or a SIFT partnership is that “investments” in the
trust or partnership must be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other “public market” (as defined in the Tax
Act), which includes a trading system or other organized facility on which securities that are qualified for public
distribution are listed or traded, but does not include a facility that is operated solely to carry out the issuance of a
security or its redemption, acquisition or cancellation by the issuer. The Trust Declaration and the Master LP
Agreement contain restrictions to prohibit holders of units of the Trust or the Master LP from transferring such
securities to any person other than to the Trust or the Master LP in the course of a redemption, acquisition or
cancellation by the Trust or Master LP, as the case may be, or to other Permitted Transferees. In addition, the Trust
Declaration and the Master LP Agreement also contain prohibitions to restrict the Trust, the Master LP, the Agents,
and holders of units or other “investments” in the Trust and the Master LP from listing or trading units or other
“investments” in the Trust and the Master LP on a stock exchange or other Public Market. Furthermore, the Trust
has represented in the Certificate that it has informed its transfer agents and registrars, and the Agents and CDS of
such transfer restrictions and of the prohibition against listing or trading, and has further represented in the
Certificate that the Trust has no current plans for the units or other “investments” thereof to be listed or traded on a
stock exchange or other Public Market. The Co-Lead Agents have also advised the Trust, the Master LP, KPMG,
and Cassels Brock that units and other “investments” of the Trust and the Master LP will not trade on any facility or
system organized or operated by the Agents or any other Public Market. In addition, the Trust has also represented
in the Certificate that the issuance and transfer of limited partnership interest in the Investments LP, Developments
LP and any other subsidiary partnerships will only be made in a manner that would not cause such partnership(s) to
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be subject to SIFT tax. Based on the restrictions and prohibitions in the Trust Declaration and the Master LP
Agreement, the representations from the Trust and the advice from the Co-Lead Agents, and assuming that the units
of and other “investments” in the Trust and the Master LP will not otherwise be actually listed or traded on any
stock exchange or other Public Market, the Trust should not be a SIFT trust and the Master LP should not be a SIFT
partnership.
No assurances can be given that, contrary to the aforementioned restrictions, representations and advice, units of or
“investments” in the Trust or the Master LP will not, at a particular time during a taxation year, become listed or
traded on a stock exchange or other “public market” (each as defined in the Tax Act). If units of or investments in
either the Trust or the Master LP are or become listed or traded on a stock exchange or other “public market” at any
time during a taxation year, the Trust and the Trust Unitholders or the Master LP and holders of Master LP Units, as
the case may be, will be subject to the SIFT Rules and shall be taxed accordingly for that taxation year. Generally,
the non-deductible distribution amounts of the Trust or the Master LP, as previously described, would be taxable to
the Trust or Master LP, as the case may be (with the result that the amount of cash available for distribution by the
Trust or Master LP, as the case may be, would be reduced), and such amount would also, depending on the
circumstances, be included in the income of Trust Unitholders or holder of the Master LP Units for purposes of the
Tax Act as taxable dividends.
The summary herein assumes the Trust will not be a SIFT trust and the Master LP will not be a SIFT partnership.
Should the units of or investments in the Trust or Master LP be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other “public
market”, the income tax considerations would in certain respects be materially and adversely different from those
described in this summary. Furthermore, there can be no assurances that the treatment of SIFT trusts and SIFT
partnerships under the Tax Act will not be changed, or that administrative or assessing practices of the CRA will not
develop, in a manner which adversely affects the Trust, the Master LP, or Trust Unitholders. Prospective purchasers
should accordingly consult their own advisors as to the potential application of the SIFT Rules to an investment in
Units.
REIT Exception
The SIFT Rules do not apply in respect of a taxation year to a trust that would otherwise be a SIFT trust but that
qualifies as a “real estate investment trust” for the year (the “REIT Exception”). The REIT Exception contains a
number of technical tests and the determination as to whether the Trust could qualify for the REIT Exception in any
particular taxation year can only be made at the end of the taxation year. As currently structured, and having regard
to the types of properties and revenues that the Trust’s subsidiaries anticipate realizing, the Trust believes that the
Trust is not likely to be able to qualify for the REIT Exception in the event that it becomes a SIFT trust.
Accordingly, if at any time during a taxation year investments in the Trust are listed or traded on a stock exchange
or other public market, within the meaning of the Tax Act, and the Trust does not qualify for the REIT Exception
throughout such year, the Trust will be subject to the SIFT Rules for that year, as described in the preceding section.
Also as described in the preceding section, this summary assumes the Trust will not be a SIFT trust as the Trust does
not intend for units or investments in the Trust to be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other Public Market.
Taxation of the Trust
The Trust will be subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act on its income for the year, including net realized taxable
capital gains and its allocated share of income of the Master LP for its fiscal period ending on or before the year-end
of the Trust, less the portion thereof that it deducts in respect of amounts paid or payable, or deemed to be paid or
payable that year to Trust Unitholders. An amount will be considered to be payable to a Trust Unitholder in a
taxation year if it is paid to the Unitholder in the year by the Trust or if the Trust Unitholder is entitled in that year to
enforce payment of the amount. The taxation year of the Trust is the calendar year.
The Trust will generally not be subject to tax on any amounts received as distributions from Master LP. Generally,
distributions to the Trust in excess of its allocated share of the income of the Master LP for a fiscal year will result in
a reduction of the adjusted cost base of the Trust’s Master LP Units by the amount of such excess. If, as a result, the
Trust’s adjusted cost base at the end of a taxation year of its Master LP Units would otherwise be a negative amount,

94

the Trust would be deemed to realize a capital gain equal to the negative adjusted cost base and the Trust’s adjusted
cost base at the beginning of the next taxation year of its Master LP Units would then be reset to zero.
In computing its income for purposes of the Tax Act, the Trust may generally deduct reasonable administrative
costs, interest and other expenses of a current nature incurred by it for the purpose of earning income. Generally, the
Trust may also deduct on a five-year straight line basis (subject to pro-ration for short taxation years) reasonable
expenses incurred by it in the course of issuing Trust Units.
The Trust will be entitled for each taxation year to reduce (or receive a refund in respect of) its liability, if any, for
tax on its net realized taxable capital gains by an amount determined under the Tax Act based on the redemption of
Trust Units during the year (the “Capital Gains Refund”). In certain circumstances, the Capital Gains Refund in a
particular taxation year may not completely offset the Trust’s tax liability for such taxation year. The Declaration of
Trust provides that all or a portion of the income or capital gains realized by the Trust arising on or in connection
with an in specie redemption of Trust Units may, at the discretion of the Trustees, be paid or made payable to, and as
applicable designated as a taxable capital gain of, the redeeming Unitholders. Any amount so paid or payable must
be included in the income of the redeeming Unitholders and will be deductible by the Trust.
Generally, under the Trust Declaration, unless the Trustees otherwise determine, an amount equal to all of the net
income (including taxable capital gains) of the Trust (determined without reference to paragraph 82(1)(b) and
subsection 104(6) of the Tax Act), together with the non-taxable portion of any net capital gains realized by the
Trust, but excluding income and capital gains arising in connection with a distribution in specie on the redemption
of Trust Units which are designated by the Trust to redeeming Trust Unitholders, and capital gains the tax on which
may be offset by capital losses carried forward from prior years, will be payable in the year to Trust Unitholders by
way of cash distributions, subject to the following exception. Where income of the Trust in a taxation year exceeds
the total cash distributions for that year, such excess income may be distributed to Trust Unitholders in the form of
additional Trust Units. Income of the Trust payable to Trust Unitholders, whether in cash, additional Trust Units or
otherwise, will generally be deductible by the Trust in computing its income.
Losses incurred by the Trust (including losses allocated to the Trust by Master LP and capable of being deducted by
the Trust) cannot be allocated to Trust Unitholders, but may be deducted by the Trust in future years in accordance
with the detailed rules and limitations in the Tax Act.
KPMG and Cassels Brock have been advised that the Trust intends to make sufficient distributions in each year of
its net income for tax purposes and net realized capital gains so that the Trust will not be liable in that year for any
non-refundable tax under Part I of the Tax Act (after taking into account losses or capital losses that may be carried
forward from prior years).
Taxation of the Master LP
The Master LP is not generally subject to tax under the Tax Act provided it does not become a SIFT partnership
under the SIFT Rules. See the discussion above under the heading “SIFT Rules”.
Generally, each partner of the Master LP, including the Trust, is required to include in computing the partner’s
income, the partner’s share of the income (or loss) of the Master LP for its fiscal year ending in, or coincidentally
with, the partner’s taxation year end, whether or not any such income is distributed to the partner in the taxation
year. For this purpose, the income or loss of Master LP will be computed for each fiscal year as if Master LP was a
separate person resident in Canada. In computing the income or loss of Master LP, deductions may generally be
claimed in respect of its administrative and other expenses (including interest in respect of the debt of Master LP, if
any) incurred for the purpose of earning income from business or property to the extent the outlays are not capital in
nature and do not exceed a reasonable amount.
The income or loss of Master LP for a fiscal year will be allocated to the partners of Master LP, including the Trust,
on the basis of their respective share of such income or loss as provided in the Master LP Agreement, subject to the
detailed rules in the Tax Act. Generally, distributions to partners in excess of the income of Master LP for a fiscal
year will result in a reduction of the adjusted cost base of the partner’s units in Master LP by the amount of such
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excess, as described above. If, as a result, a limited partner’s adjusted cost base of its Master LP Units at the end of
a fiscal year would otherwise be a negative amount, the limited partner will be deemed to realize a capital gain equal
to such amount, and the adjusted cost base of its partnership units will be nil immediately thereafter.
If the Master LP incurs losses for tax purposes, a limited partner, including the Trust, will be entitled to deduct in the
computation of its income for purposes of the Tax Act its share of any such losses for any fiscal year to the extent of
that limited partner’s “at–risk amount” in respect of the relevant partnership. In general, the “at-risk amount” of a
limited partner in respect of a limited partnership for any taxation year will be the adjusted cost base of the limited
partner’s partnership interest at the end of the year, plus any undistributed income allocated to the limited partner for
the year, less any amount owing by the limited partner (or a person with whom the limited partner does not deal at
arm's length) to the limited partnership (or a person with whom the limited partnership does not deal at arm's
length), and less the amount of any benefit that the limited partner (or a person with whom the limited partner does
not deal at arm's length) is entitled to receive or obtain for the purpose of reducing, in whole or in part, any loss of
the limited partner from the investment. Certain losses allocated to the Master LP from the Investments LP and the
Developments LP that are limited by the “at-risk” rules may not be available in the Master LP and therefore, may
not be allocable to the partners (including the Trust), subject to the detailed rules in the Tax Act.
The income for purposes of the Tax Act of the Master LP must include its income or loss allocation from the
Investments LP and the Developments LP (the “Subsidiary LPs”) calculated in accordance with the Tax Act. In
computing its income or loss, deductions may generally be claimed by the Subsidiary LPs in respect of their
administrative and other expenses (including interest in respect of the debt of Subsidiary LPs, if any) incurred for the
purpose of earning income from business or property to the extent the outlays are not capital in nature and do not
exceed a reasonable amount. The income for purposes of the Tax Act of the Subsidiary LPs must include their
income realized from the rental of the Properties, any taxable capital gains or recapture of capital cost allowance
arising from dispositions of the Properties that are capital property, and the entire amount of any gains from
dispositions of Properties that are not considered capital property of the Developments LP for purposes of the Tax
Act.
Taxation of Trust Unitholders
Distributions
A Trust Unitholder will generally be required to include in computing income for a particular taxation year the
portion of the net income for tax purposes of the Trust for a taxation year, including net realized taxable capital
gains, that is paid or payable or deemed to be paid or payable to the Trust Unitholder in the particular taxation year
(and that the Trust deducts in computing its income), whether such portion is received in cash, additional Trust Units
or otherwise. Any loss of the Trust for purposes of the Tax Act cannot be allocated to, or be treated as a loss of, the
Trust Unitholder.
The after-tax return to a Trust Unitholder from an investment in Trust Units will depend, in part, on the composition
for tax purposes of distributions paid by the Trust, portions of which may be fully or partially taxable or may
constitute non-taxable returns of capital. The composition for tax purposes of distributions by the Trust may change
over time, thus affecting the after-tax return to such Trust Unitholder.
Provided that appropriate designations are made by the Trust, such portion of the net taxable capital gains and
taxable dividends received or deemed to be received on shares of taxable Canadian corporations as are paid or
payable, or deemed to be paid or payable, to a Trust Unitholder, will effectively retain their character and be treated
as such in the hands of the Trust Unitholder for purposes of the Tax Act. To the extent that amounts are designated
as having been paid to Trust Unitholders out of the net taxable capital gains of the Trust, such designated amounts
will be deemed for tax purposes to be received by Trust Unitholders in the year as a taxable capital gain and will be
subject to the general rules relating to the taxation of capital gains. See “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax
Considerations – Taxation of Trust Unitholders – Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses” below. To the
extent that amounts are designated as having been paid to Trust Unitholders out of taxable dividends received or
deemed to be received on shares of taxable Canadian corporations, the normal (or in the case of eligible dividends,
the enhanced) gross-up and dividend tax credit rules will apply to individuals, the deduction in computing taxable
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income will be available to corporations, and the refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act will be payable by
Trust Unitholders that are “private corporations” or “subject corporations” (as such terms are defined in the Tax
Act). Trust Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the potential application of
these provisions.
The non-taxable portion of any net realized capital gains of the Trust, the taxable portion of which was designated to
a Trust Unitholder that is paid or payable or deemed to be paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder in a taxation year
will not be included in computing the Trust Unitholder’s income for the year and will not reduce the adjusted cost
base of the Trust Units to the Trust Unitholders. Any other amount in excess of the net income and net taxable
capital gains of the Trust that is paid or payable, or deemed to be paid or payable, by the Trust to a Trust Unitholder
in that year will generally not be included in the Trust Unitholder’s income for the taxation year. However, where
such an amount is paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder (other than as proceeds of disposition or deemed disposition
of Trust Units or any part thereof), the Trust Unitholder will generally be required to reduce the adjusted cost base of
the Trust Unitholder’s Trust Units by that amount (except to the extent it represents the Trust Unitholder’s share of
the non-taxable portion of the net realized capital gains of the Trust for the year, the taxable portion of which was
designated by the Trust in respect of the Trust Unitholder). To the extent that the adjusted cost base of a Trust Unit
would otherwise be a negative amount, the negative amount will be deemed to be a capital gain realized by the Trust
Unitholder and the adjusted cost base of the Trust Unit to the Trust Unitholder will immediately thereafter be nil.
See “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Taxation of Trust Unitholders – Taxation of Capital
Gains and Capital Losses”.
Disposition of Trust Units
In general, a Trust Unitholder will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) on a disposition or deemed disposition of
a Trust Unit, whether on a redemption or otherwise, equal to the amount by which the Trust Unitholder’s proceeds
of disposition of the Trust Unit exceed (or are exceeded by) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base of the Trust Unit
to the Trust Unitholder and any reasonable costs of disposition. Proceeds of disposition will not include an amount
payable by the Trust that is otherwise required to be included in the Trust Unitholder’s income, including any capital
gain or income realized by the Trust in connection with a redemption which has been designated by the Trust to the
redeeming Holder. See “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Taxation of Trust Unitholders –
Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”.
The adjusted cost base of a Trust Unit to a Trust Unitholder will include all amounts paid by the Trust Unitholder for
the Trust Unit, subject to certain adjustments. The cost to the Trust Unitholder of additional Trust Units received as
a distribution of income (including net capital gains) will generally be equal to the amount of the distribution. For
the purpose of determining the adjusted cost base to a Trust Unitholder, when a Trust Unit is acquired, the cost of
the newly acquired Trust Unit will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all of the Trust Units owned by the
Trust Unitholder as capital property immediately before the acquisition. The adjusted cost base of Trust Units may
be reduced by distributions made by the Trust to a Trust Unitholder, as described above.
Where Trust Units are redeemed by the distribution by the Trust of Trust Notes, Master LP Units or Debt Securities,
the proceeds of disposition to the redeeming Trust Unitholder will be equal to the fair market value of the Trust
Notes, Master LP Units or Debt Securities so distributed less any income or capital gain realized by the Trust in
connection with such redemption which is paid or payable by the Trust to the redeeming Trust Unitholder. Where
income (including a taxable capital gain) realized by the Trust upon or in connection with an in specie distribution of
property on a redemption of Trust Units has been designated by the Trust to the redeeming Trust Unitholder, the
Trust Unitholder will be required to include in the Trust Unitholder’s income such income (or taxable portion of the
capital gain) so designated to the Trust Unitholder. The cost of any property distributed in specie by the Trust to a
Trust Unitholder upon redemption of Trust Units will be equal to the fair market value of that property at the time of
distribution. The Trust Unitholder will thereafter be required to include in income interest or other income derived
from the property, in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act.
The consolidation of Trust Units of the Trust will not result in a disposition of Trust Units by Trust Unitholders. The
aggregate adjusted cost base to a Trust Unitholder of all of the Trust Unitholder’s Trust Units will not change as a
result of a consolidation of Trust Units; however, the adjusted cost base per Trust Unit will increase.
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Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses
One-half of the amount of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Trust Unitholder on a disposition
or deemed disposition of a Trust Unit and the amount of any net taxable capital gains designated by the Trust in
respect of a Trust Unitholder will generally be included in the Trust Unitholder’s income for the year. One-half of
the amount of any capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) sustained by the Trust Unitholder on the disposition of a
Trust Unit must generally be deducted by such Trust Unitholder against taxable capital gains for the year. Any
excess allowable capital losses over taxable capital gains of the Trust Unitholder for that year may be carried back
up to three taxation years or forward indefinitely and deducted against net taxable capital gains in those other years,
subject to the detailed provisions of the Tax Act.
The amount of any capital loss otherwise realized by a Trust Unitholder that is a corporation or a trust (other than a
mutual fund trust) on the disposition of a Trust Unit may be reduced by the amount of dividends received by the
Trust and previously designated by the Trust to the Trust Unitholder except to the extent that a loss on a previous
disposition of a Trust Unit has been reduced by such amounts. Similar rules may apply where a corporation or trust
(other than a mutual fund trust) is a member of a partnership that disposes of Trust Units. Trust Unitholders to whom
these rules may be relevant should consult their own tax advisors.
Special Tax on Certain Corporations
A Trust Unitholder that is a “Canadian controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to
pay an additional refundable tax of 6 2⁄3% on its “aggregate investment income” (as defined in the Tax Act),
including the Trust Unitholder’s share of taxable capital gains, as well as taxable capital gains from dispositions or
deemed dispositions of Trust Units by the Trust Unitholder.
Alternative Minimum Tax
In general terms, net income of the Trust paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder who is an individual (other than
certain trusts) that is designated as taxable dividends or as net taxable capital gains and capital gains realized on the
disposition of Trust Units by such Trust Unitholder may increase the Trust Unitholder’s liability for alternative
minimum tax.
You should consult your own professional advisors to obtain advice on the tax consequences that apply to
you.
RISK FACTORS
The purchase of securities hereunder involves a number of risk factors. The risks described below are not the only
risks involved with an investment in the Trust Units. If any of the following risks occur, or if others occur, the
Trust’s business, operating results and financial condition could be seriously harmed and Purchasers may lose all of
their investment. Risks affecting the Trust will affect the ability to make distributions on the Trust Units. In
addition to the risk factors set forth elsewhere in this Prospectus, prospective purchasers should consider the
following risks associated with a purchase of such securities:
This is a partial Blind Pool Offering; Reliance on the Property GPs and their Management – Although the
Trustees expect that the net proceeds of this Offering will be applied to the indirect purchase of one or more
Properties, not all of the specific Properties in which the Trust will invest have not yet been determined. In any
event, whether the minimum Offering or up to the maximum Offering of Trust Units is sold, the Trust expects to
apply approximately 97% of the net proceeds of the Offering to the purchase price and other acquisition costs of one
or more Properties, and to the creation of working capital reserves and reserves for renovations and upgrades.
Depending on the return on investment achieved on any Properties that may be acquired by the Trust, the Trust
Unitholders’ return on their respective investments in the Trust Units will vary.
Reliance on Management – Prospective purchasers assessing the risks and rewards of this investment should
appreciate that they will, in large part, be relying on the good faith and expertise of Stephen Evans, James Redekop,
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Brian R. Canfield, Mark Hewett, Robert King and Randy Cockrill as Trustees, directors and officers of the Trust, the
Master GP, the Developments GP and the Investments GP, as applicable. In particular, prospective purchasers will
have to rely on the discretion and ability of the Property GPs and their principals in determining the composition of
the portfolio of Properties, and in negotiating the pricing and other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition
of Properties. The ability of the Property GPs to successfully implement the Trust’s investment strategy will depend
in large part on the continued employment of Messrs. Evans, Redekop, Canfield, Hewett, King and Cockrill.
Neither of the Trust nor the Property GPs maintain key person life insurance for any of these named individuals. If
the Property GPs lose the services of one or more of these individuals, the business, financial condition and results
of operations of the Trust may be materially adversely affected.
Potential Conflicts of Interest – None of the Principals is in any way limited or affected in his ability to carry on
other business ventures for his own accounts and for the accounts of others, and each is now, and intends in the
future to be, engaged in the development of, investment in and management of other real estate properties. None of
these persons will have any obligation to account to the Trust or the Trust Unitholders for profits made in such other
activities (see “Trustees, Directors and Officers – Potential Conflicts of Interest (Trustees, Directors and Officers)”).
No Market for Trust Units – There currently is no market whatsoever for the Trust Units and it is expected that
there will be no market for the Trust Units. Consequently, holders of such securities may not be able to sell them
readily, and Trust Units may not be readily accepted as collateral for a loan. Purchasers should be prepared to hold
these securities indefinitely and cannot expect to be able to liquidate their investment even in the case of an
emergency. Accordingly, an investment in Trust Units is suitable solely for persons able to make and bear the
economic risk of a long-term investment.
Less than Full Offering – In the event that only the minimum Offering is sold, the Trust’s ability to participate in
larger scale, and create diversity across, investment and/or development opportunities may be limited. There can be
no assurance that more than the minimum Offering will be sold. If less than 30,000 Trust Units are sold pursuant to
this Offering, then less than the maximum proceeds will be available to the Trust and, consequently, their business
development plans and prospects could be adversely affected, since fewer Properties will be acquired, developed,
owned and operated.
Return not Guaranteed – The Trust Units are equity securities of the Trust and are not traditional fixed income
securities. A fundamental characteristic that distinguishes the Trust Units from traditional fixed income securities is
that the Trust does not have a fixed obligation to make payments to Trust Unitholders and does not promise to return
the initial purchase price of a Trust Unit on a certain date in the future. The Trust has the ability to reduce or suspend
distributions if circumstances so warrant. The ability of the Trust to make cash distributions, and the actual amount
distributed, will be entirely dependent on the operations and assets of the Trust and its subsidiaries, and will be
subject to various factors including financial performance, obligations under applicable credit facilities, fluctuations
in working capital and capital expenditure requirements. There can be no assurance regarding the amount of income
to be generated by the Trust’s Properties.
Risks of Real Estate Ownership – An investment in Trust Units is an indirect investment in Western Canada’s
North real estate through the Trust’s indirect interest in the Investments LP and Developments LP and the Properties
held therein. Investment in real estate is subject to numerous risks, including the factors listed below and other
events and factors which are beyond the control of the Trust:
(a)

Financing Risks – There is no assurance that the Trust will be able to obtain sufficient Mortgage
Loans to finance the acquisition of Properties, or, if available, that the Trust will be able to obtain
Mortgage Loans on commercially acceptable terms. Further, there is no assurance or guarantee
that any Mortgage Loans, if obtained, will be renewed when they mature or, if renewed, renewed
on the same terms and conditions (including the rate of interest). In the absence of mortgage
financing, the number of Properties which the Trust is able to purchase will decrease and the
projected return from the ownership of Properties will be reduced. Even if the Trust is successful
in obtaining adequate Mortgage Loans, the Trust may not be able to generate sufficient funds
through the operation of the Properties to service the Mortgage Loans. If a default occurs under
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any of the Mortgage Loans, one or more of the Lenders could exercise its rights including, without
limitation, foreclosure or sale of the Properties.
(b)

Interest Rate Fluctuations – The Mortgage Loans may include indebtedness with interest rates
based on variable lending rates that will result in fluctuations in the Investments LP’s and
Developments LP’s cost of borrowing.

(c)

Environmental Matters – The properties in which investments are made are subject to various
federal, provincial, and municipal laws relating to environmental matters. These laws could hold
the developers or property owners liable for the costs of removal and remediation of certain
hazardous substances or wastes released or deposited on or in the operation or development of
such properties or disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or remediate such
substances, if any, could adversely affect the ability to sell such properties or to borrow using real
estate as collateral, and could potentially result in claims or other proceedings against the owner.
Further, environmental laws and regulations can change rapidly and owners may become subject
to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in the future. Compliance with more
stringent environmental laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on an owner or a
particular property, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s business, financial
condition or results of operations.

(d)

Uninsured Losses – The Property GPs will, under the terms of the Investments LP Agreement and
Developments LP Agreement, respectively, arrange for comprehensive insurance, including fire,
liability and extended coverage, of the type and in the amounts customarily obtained for properties
similar to those to be owned by the Trust and will endeavour to obtain coverage where warranted
against earthquakes and floods. However, in many cases certain types of losses (generally of a
catastrophic nature) are either uninsurable or not economically insurable. Should such a disaster
occur with respect to any of the Properties, the Trust could suffer a loss of capital invested and not
realize any profits which might be anticipated from the disposition of such Properties.

(e)

Reliance on Property Management – The Investments GP will rely upon independent management
companies to perform this function. The employees of the management companies will devote so
much of their time to the management of the Properties as in their judgment is reasonably required
and may have conflicts of interest in allocating management time, services and functions among
the Properties and their other development, investment and/or management activities.

(f)

Competition for Real Property Investments – The Investments LP and Developments LP will
compete for suitable real property investments with other individuals, corporations, real estate
investment trusts and similar vehicles, and institutions which are presently seeking or which may
seek in the future real property investments similar to those sought by the Investments LP and
Developments LP. Such competition would tend to increase purchase prices of real estate
properties and reduce the yield on such investments.

(g)

Revenue Shortfalls – Revenues from the Properties may not increase sufficiently to meet increases
in operating expenses or debt service payments under the Mortgage Loans or to fund changes in
the variable rates of interest charged in respect of such loans.

(h)

Fluctuations in Capitalization Rates – As interest rates fluctuate in the lending market, generally
so too do capitalization rates which affect the underlying value of real estate. As such, when
interest rates rise, generally capitalization rates should be expected to rise. Over the period of
investment, capital gains and losses at the time of disposition can occur due to the increase or
decrease of these capitalization rates.

(i)

Joint Ventures – The Investments LP and Developments LP may invest in or be a participant in
joint ventures and partnerships with third parties in respect of the Properties. A joint venture or
partnership involves certain additional risks, including: (i) the possibility that such co-
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venturers/partners may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that will be
inconsistent with the Investments LP’s and Developments LP’s or take actions contrary to the
Investments LP’ and Developments LP’s instructions or requests or to the Investments LP’s and
Developments LP’s policies or objectives with respect to the Properties; (ii) the risk that such coventurers/partners could experience financial difficulties or seek the protection of bankruptcy,
insolvency or other laws, which could result in additional financial demands to maintain and
operate such Properties or repay the co-venturers’/partners’ share of property debt guaranteed by
the Investments LP and Developments LP or for which the Investments LP or Developments LP
will be liable and/or result in the Investments LP or Developments LP suffering or incurring
delays, expenses and other problems associated with obtaining court approval of joint venture or
partnership decisions; (iii) the risk that such co-venturers/ partners may, through their activities on
behalf of or in the name of, the ventures or partnerships, expose or subject the Investments LP or
Developments LP to liability; and (iv) the need to obtain co-venturers’/partners’ consents with
respect to certain major decisions, including the decision to distribute cash generated from such
properties or to refinance or sell a property. In addition, the sale or transfer of interests in certain
of the joint ventures and partnerships may be subject to rights of first refusal or first offer and
certain of the joint venture and partnership agreements may provide for buy-sell or similar
arrangements. Such rights may be triggered at a time when the Investments LP or Developments
LP may not desire to sell but may be forced to do so because the it does not have the cash to
purchase the other party’s interests. Such rights may also inhibit the Investments LP’s and
Developments LP’s ability to sell an interest in a property or a joint venture/partnership within the
time frame or otherwise on the basis it desires.
(j)

Return on Invested Capital – The estimated percentage return on invested capital in respect of an
Investment Property is based on the actual cost of the property and management’s reasonable
assumptions, based on current market and management’s experience, as applicable, of capital cost
expenditures, leverage ratios, current and future interest rates, income growth and capitalization
rates on sale. There is no assurance that any Investment Properties will generate a positive return
on invested capital or achieve any target goals of the Property GPs.

Risks of Property Development – Investment in real estate development is subject to numerous risks, which
include, but are not limited to, the following:
(a)

Cyclical Industry – The real estate development industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by
changes in general and local economic and industry conditions, such as consumer confidence,
employment levels, availability of financing and interest rates, availability and terms of senior
financing, levels of new and existing properties for sale, demographic trends and demand.

(b)

Delays on Returns – Development projects have lengthy project completion timelines.
Development Properties in which capital is invested may not provide a return for a period of three
to four years after the initial investment. These extended timelines present the possibility that
markets will deteriorate between the time of the initial investment and the return of capital or
project completion which could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s business, financial condition
or results of operation.

(c)

Development delays and Budget Overruns – The real estate development business involves
significant risks that could adversely affect the Trust’s business, financial condition and results of
operations, including: the development may not be completed on schedule or within budget,
resulting in increased debt service expense and construction costs; inability to obtain, or delays in
obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and other governmental permits and
authorizations for properties; construction costs, total investment amounts and funding to
complete development may exceed estimates and projects may not be completed and delivered as
planned.
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(d)

Reliance on Development Management – The Developments GP will primarily rely upon Randy
Cockrill and James Redekop to manage and develop Development Properties. The officers,
management and employees of the Developments GP will devote so much of their time to the
management and development of the Development Properties as in their judgment is reasonably
required and may have conflicts of interest in allocating management time, services and functions
among the Development Properties and their other development activities.

(e)

Environmental Matters – The development properties in which investments are made are subject
to various federal, provincial, and municipal laws relating to environmental matters. These laws
could hold the developers or property owners liable for the costs of removal and remediation of
certain hazardous substances or wastes released or deposited on or in the development properties
or disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or remediate such substances, if any, could
adversely affect the ability to sell the development properties or to borrow using real estate as
collateral, and could potentially result in claims or other proceedings against the developer.
Further, environmental laws and regulations can change rapidly and the developers may become
subject to more stringent environmental laws and regulations in the future. Compliance with more
stringent environmental laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on a developer or a
particular Development Property, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on the Trust’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.

(f)

Labour Shortages – The Developments GP may have difficulty attracting and retaining qualified
local personnel to work on its projects due to shortages of qualified workers and intense
competition for their services. It may also be difficult to attract, employ and retain qualified
expatriate workers as a result of legal and political restrictions applying to the use of foreign
workers or the socio-economic and security situations in the jurisdictions in which the
Developments GP operates. In the event of a labour shortage, the Developments GP could be
forced to increase wages in order to attract and retain personnel, which would result in higher
operating costs and reduced profitability. A failure by the Developments GP to attract and retain a
sufficient number of qualified workers could have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s results
of operations, business, prospects and financial condition.

(g)

Return on Invested Capital – The estimated percentage return on invested capital in respect of a
Development Property, is based on the actual cost of land, actual lease rates payable under any
pre-leasing and management’s reasonable assumptions of future lease rates, actual construction
costs, if known or management’s reasonable assumption of construction costs, lease up costs,
leverage ratios, current and future interest rates, income growth and capitalization rates on sale.
There is no assurance that any Development Properties will generate a positive return on invested
capital or achieve any target goals of the Property GPs.

Aboriginal title claims and rights – Aboriginal title claims and rights against the Trust’s properties or against
properties in the areas in which the Trust operates may have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s business,
financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations. The Trust’s operations may be delayed or interrupted to
the extent that they are deemed to encroach on, or are otherwise affected by, the traditional rights of aboriginal
people associated with the subject lands and natural resources. In June 2014, the Court released its decision on the
aboriginal title claim by the Tsilhqot’in First Nation of British Columbia, regarding land outside their traditional
reserve area. The Court recognized Tsilhqot’in title to the area in dispute, including rights to decide how the land
will be used, occupancy, and economic benefits. The court ruling held that while the provincial government had the
constitutional authority to regulate certain activity on aboriginal title lands, it had not adequately consulted with the
Tsilhqot’in. While the decision does not directly impact the Trust’s business at this time, aboriginal title claims may
potentially impact the Trust’s business. The Trust’s business may be affected if the Trust’s properties or properties
in the areas in which the Trust operates are subject to claims of aboriginal title.
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Reliance on Assumptions – The Trust’s business plan and investment strategy have been formulated based on the
Trustees’ analysis and expectations regarding future economic developments of Western Canada’s North and oil and
gas, and other commodity, prices. Such analysis may be incorrect and such expectations may not be realized, in
which event any potential returns may be at risk.
No Maximum Time for Investment of Net Proceeds – There is no maximum time period for the full investment of
the net proceeds of the Offering in Properties and the timing of such investment will depend upon the Property GPs’
identification of Properties meeting its criteria for acquisition. There is a risk that the Investments LP and
Developments LP may not invest all proceeds of the Offering in Properties and not be able to generate sufficient
funds to pay returns to the Trust Unitholders.
Liability of Trust Unitholders – There is a risk that a Trust Unitholder could be held personally liable for obligations
in connection with the Trust (to the extent that claims are not satisfied by the Trust). The Trust Declaration provides
that no Trust Unitholder shall be held to have any personal liability as such for satisfaction of any obligation in respect
of or claim arising out of or in connection with any contract or obligation of the Trust or the Trustee (to the extent that
claims are not satisfied by the Trust). In any event, the Trust Declaration requires the Trustee to ensure that any written
contract or commitment of the Trust includes an express limitation of liability except where not reasonably possible.
Risks Associated with Redemptions
(a)

Use of Available Cash – The payment in cash by the Trust of the redemption price of Trust Units
will reduce the amount of cash available to the Trust for the payment of distributions to the
holders of Trust Units, as the payment of the amount due in respect of redemptions will take
priority over the payment of cash distributions.

(b)

Limitation on Payment of Redemption Price in Cash – The total cash amount available for the
payment of the redemption price of Trust Units by the Trust is limited to $100,000 in each
calendar quarter and is also limited in any twelve month period to 3/4 of 1% of the aggregate
subscription price of all Trust Units that were issued and outstanding at the start of such twelve
month period.

(c)

Payment of Redemption Price in Kind – As a result of the foregoing limitations, the redemption of
Trust Units may be paid by way of a Trust Note, Debt Security or an Master LP Unit. Trust Notes
and Debt Securities are payable over a term of five years or less with annual interest at the Canada
Five-Year Yield. Trust Notes, Debt Securities and Master LP Units received as a result of
redemptions of Trust Units may not be liquid. Further, they generally will not be qualified
investments for Plans and may be prohibited investments for TFSAs, which will generally give
rise to adverse consequences to a Plan and the annuitant or holder thereunder. Accordingly, Plans
that propose to invest in Trust Units should consult their own tax advisors before doing so and
before deciding to exercise the redemption rights attached to such Trust Units.

Tax–Related Risk Factors
(a)

Mutual Fund Trust – If the Trust does not qualify or ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust”
under the Tax Act, adverse consequences may arise including that: (i) the Trust may become liable
to pay certain additional tax liabilities (with the result that the amount of cash available for
distribution by the trust would be reduced and Trust Unitholders may otherwise be adversely
affected), and (ii) the Trust Units may not be or may cease to be qualified investments for Plans
(with the result that a Plan, its annuitant, beneficiary thereunder or its holder thereat will generally
become subject to additional tax or penalties or may be otherwise adversely affected).

(b)

SIFT Rules – The exposure of the Trust to tax imposed by the SIFT Rules will depend in part on
whether or not the Trust Units, Master LP Units, or units of any other subsidiary partnerships will
be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other Public Market. Where the Trust Units, the Master
LP Units, or units of any other subsidiary partnerships are listed or traded on a stock exchange or

103

Public Market, adverse consequences could arise including that the non-deductible distributions
amount or the taxable non-portfolio earnings, as previously described, could be taxable to the
Trust, to the Master LP or such subsidiary partnerships, as the case may be (with the result that the
amount of cash available for distribution by the Trust would be reduced), and such amount would
also, depending on the circumstances, be included in the income of Trust Unitholders for purposes
of the Tax Act as taxable dividends.
(c)

Non-Resident Ownership – Under current law, a trust may lose its status under the Tax Act as a
mutual fund trust if it can reasonably be considered that the trust was established or is maintained
primarily for the benefit of non-resident persons, except in limited circumstances. Accordingly,
the Trust Declaration provides that Non-Residents may not be the beneficial owners of more than
49% of the Trust Units. The Trustees will also have various powers that can be used for the
purpose of monitoring and controlling the extent of Non-Resident ownership of the Units. See
“Description of the Securities Distributed  The Trust  Limitations on Non-Resident Ownership
of Units”.

(d)

Tax Treatment – The after-tax return from an investment in Trust Units to Trust Unitholders who
are subject to Canadian income tax can be made up of both a return on and a return of capital, and
will depend in part on the composition for tax purposes of distributions paid by the Trust (portions
of which distributions may be fully or partially taxable or may be tax-deferred). Subject to the
SIFT Rules, income of the Trust distributed to a Trust Unitholder is generally taxed in the hands
of the Trust Unitholder as ordinary income, capital gains, or dividends. Amounts in excess of the
income of the Trust that are paid or payable by the Trust to a Trust Unitholder are generally nontaxable to a Trust Unitholder (but reduce the Trust Unitholder’s adjusted cost base of the Trust
Units for purposes of the Tax Act). The extent to which distributions will be tax deferred in the
future will depend on the extent to which the Trust can reduce its taxable income by claiming
available non-cash deductions such as capital cost allowances. Trust Unitholders are advised to
consult their own tax advisors with respect to the implications of the foregoing in their own
circumstances.

(e)

Additional Trust Units – The Trust Declaration provides that the Trust shall, subject to the
Trustees resolving otherwise, distribute to Trust Unitholders in each year an amount of net income
and net realized capital gains in order to eliminate the Trust’s liability for tax under Part I of the
Tax Act. Where the amount of net income and net realized capital gains of the Trust in a taxation
year exceeds the cash available to the respective trust for distribution in the year, such excess net
income and net realized capital gains may be distributed to Trust Unitholders in the form of
additional Trust Units. Trust Unitholders will generally be required to include an amount equal to
the fair market value of those Trust Units in their taxable income notwithstanding that they do not
directly receive a cash distribution.

(f)

Changing Tax Laws – There can be no assurance that income tax laws (or the judicial
interpretation thereof or the administrative and assessing practices of CRA) and/or the treatment of
“mutual fund trusts” or SIFTS will not be changed in a manner which would adversely affect the
Trust Unitholders, including on a retroactive basis.

(g)

Investors Should Consult Their Own Advisors – The rules governing the Canadian federal income
taxation of Trust Unitholders are complex. The summary in “Principal Canadian Federal Income
Tax Considerations” does not address or consider all aspects of Canadian federal income tax of an
investment in the Trust and does not consider provincial, territorial, U.S., State, or other foreign
tax legislation or considerations. Prospective investors should consult their own professional
advisors as to the tax consequences to them of making an investment in, and of holding, Trust
Units offered herein.
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For all of the aforesaid reasons and others set forth herein, the Trust Units involve a certain degree of risk.
Any person considering the purchase of Trust Units should be aware of these and other factors set forth in
this Prospectus and should consult with his or her legal, tax and financial advisors prior to making an
investment in the Trust Units. The Trust Units should only be purchased by persons who can afford to lose
all of their investment.
PROMOTER
The Master GP may be considered to be the promoter of the Trust by reason of its initiative in organizing the
business of the Trust and taking the steps necessary for the public distribution of the Trust Units. As at the date
hereof, neither the Master GP nor any of its Directors, officers or shareholders beneficially owns, controls or directs,
directly or indirectly, any Trust Units. Other than dividends or the return of capital which may be received by the
Master GP as a holder of Master LP Units, Investments LP Units and/or Developments LP Units, the Master GP is
not entitled to the payment of any consideration, money, property, contracts, options or rights of any kind from the
Trust or any subsidiary of the Trust.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
There are no outstanding legal proceedings to which the Trust is a party, nor are any such proceedings known to be
contemplated.
INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
The Trust and the Master LP were only recently formed and have carried on only minimal business to date. Neither
the Master GP nor any of its Directors, executive officers or shareholders, or any of their associates or affiliates has
a material interest in any transaction carried out by the Trust, the Master LP or their subsidiaries within the three
years before the date of this Prospectus that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the
Trust or the Master LP or any of their subsidiaries.
AUDITORS
The auditors of the Trust and the Master LP are KPMG LLP, of Vancouver, British Columbia.
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
The transfer agent and registrar for the Trust Units is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office located
in Vancouver, British Columbia. Registration and transfers of Trust Units will be effected only through the bookentry only system administered by CDS. A purchaser of Trust Units will receive only customer confirmation from
the registered dealer which is a CDS participant and from or through which Trust Units are purchased (see “Plan of
Distribution”).
MATERIAL CONTRACTS
The following are the only material agreements, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business,
which the Trust has entered into during the last two years, and the material agreements to which Purchasers will be
required to become a party. Copies of these agreements are available for inspection during regular business
hours at the offices of the Trust, located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3L2.
Particulars of Material Contracts
1.

Trust Declaration – described in “Description of the Securities Distributed – The Trust”.

2.

Master LP Agreement - described in “Description of the Securities Distributed – The Master LP”.
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3.

Investments LP Agreement – described in “Description of the Securities Distributed – The Investments
LP”.

4.

Developments LP Agreement – described in “Description of the Securities Distributed – The
Developments LP”.

5.

Asset Management Agreement – described in “Executive Compensation – The Master LP and the Master
GP – Management Agreements”.

6.

Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement – an agreement dated as of November 14, 2014 between the Trust
and the Master LP pursuant to which the Master LP has agreed to bear all of the costs of this Offering
incurred by the Trust, as a cost of issuing Master LP Units.

7.

Agency Agreement – described in “Plan of Distribution – Agency Agreement”.

8.

TFI Lease – described under “Development of the Business of the Trust – The Transforce Property”.

Inspection of Contracts and Reports
There are no material contracts except as disclosed in this Prospectus or entered into in the ordinary course of the Trust’s
business, all of which may be inspected at the registered office of the Trustee, 900 – 885 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3H1, during normal business hours while the Offering under this Prospectus is in
progress, and for a period of thirty days thereafter.
EXPERTS
No professional person providing an opinion in this Prospectus expects to be elected, appointed or employed as a
director, senior officer or employee of the Trust or of an associate of the Trust, or is a promoter of the or of any associate
of the Trust.
Certain legal matters in connection with this Offering will be passed upon on the Trust’s behalf by Clark Wilson LLP,
and on behalf of the Agents by Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP. As at the date of this Prospectus, partners and
associates of Clark Wilson LLP, as a group, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the
outstanding securities of the Trust and its affiliates. As at the date of this Prospectus, partners and associates of
Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP, as a group, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the
outstanding securities of the Trust and its affiliates.
KPMG LLP, in its capacity as tax advisor to the Trust, and Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP, counsel to the Agents,
have jointly prepared the summaries set out under “Principal Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” and
under “Eligibility for Investment”. As of the date of this Prospectus, KPMG LLP does not beneficially own, directly
or indirectly, any securities of the Trust and its affiliates. KPMG LLP is also the auditors of the Trust and has
confirmed that it is independent with respect to the Trust within the meaning of the relevant rules and related
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any applicable legislation or regulation.
PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS
Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides Purchasers with the right to
withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities within two Business Days after receipt or deemed receipt of a
prospectus and any amendment. In several of such provinces and territories, securities legislation further provides a
Purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and any amendment
contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the Purchaser, provided that such remedies for rescission or
damages are exercised by the Purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the
applicable province or territory. The Purchaser should refer to the securities legislation in the province or territory in
which the Purchaser resides for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Trustees of REALnorth Opportunities Fund
We have audited the accompanying financial statement of REALnorth Opportunities Fund, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at September 30, 2014, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this financial statement in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of the financial statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statement based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statement is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statement. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statement in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statement.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects the financial position of REALnorth
Opportunities Fund as at September 30, 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

(signed) KPMG
Chartered Accountants
December 22, 2014
Vancouver, Canada
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REALnorth Opportunities Fund
Statement of Financial Position
Expressed in Canadian dollars
As at September 30, 2014

ASSETS
Cash

$ 10

UNITHOLDER’S EQUITY
Units:
Authorized: unlimited
Issued: 1 unit

$ 10

See accompanying notes to financial statement.
Approved on behalf of REALnorth Opportunities Fund by its Trustees:
“Antony Kalla”
Antony Kalla

Trustee

“Stephen J. Evans”
Stephen J. Evans
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REALnorth Opportunities Fund
Notes to Financial Statement
Expressed in Canadian dollars
September 30, 2014
1.

TRUST INFORMATION
REALnorth Opportunities Fund (the “Trust”) is an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust formed
pursuant to the Declaration of Trust dated August 27, 2014 under and governed by the laws of the Province
of British Columbia and resident in Canada. The Trust’s head office is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L2, Canada.
The principal business of the Trust is to invest the proceeds from the issuance of Trust units in the acquisition
of REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership (the “Master LP”) units. The Master LP will invest
the proceeds from the issuance of Master LP units in:
 REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) Limited Partnership (the “Investments LP”) units. The
Investments LP will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Investments LP units in the acquisition
of properties, other than development properties in northwestern Canada. The general partner of the
Investments LP is REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) GP Ltd. (the “Investments GP”); and
 REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) LP (the “Developments LP”) units. The Developments LP
will invest the proceeds from the issuance of the Developments LP units in the acquisition of
development properties in northwestern Canada. The general partner of the Developments LP is
REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) GP Ltd. (the “Developments GP”).
There has been no activity in the Trust between its formation on August 27, 2014 and September 30, 2014,
except for the receipt of an initial contribution in the amount of $10 made by the settlor. Accordingly, no
statement of operations or statement of cash flows for this period have been presented.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
a. Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) incorporating
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2014, or issued and early adopted.
b. Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Trust’s functional currency.
c. Presentation of financial statements
The Trust uses a classified statement of financial position. The statements of financial position distinguish
between current and non-current assets and liabilities. Current assets and liabilities are those expected to
be recovered or settled within twelve months of the reporting date and non-current assets and liabilities
are those where the recovery or settlement is expected to occur more than twelve months from the
reporting date. The Trust will classify the statements of income and comprehensive income using the
function of expense method, which classifies expenses according to their functions, such as costs of
operation or administrative activities.
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REALnorth Opportunities Fund
Notes to Financial Statement
Expressed in Canadian dollars
September 30, 2014
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The preparation of these financial statements is in conformity with IFRS.
Income taxes
The Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) contains rules regarding the taxation of certain types of
publicly listed or traded trusts and partnerships in a manner similar to corporations and which tax certain
distributions from such trusts and partnerships as taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian corporation (the
“SIFT Rules”). The SIFT Rules apply to any trust or partnership that is a “SIFT trust” or “SIFT partnership”
(each defined in the Tax Act) and its investors.
The Trust expects to be a mutual fund trust and the trustees believes that the Trust will not be a SIFT trust.
Under current tax legislation, a mutual fund trust that is not a SIFT trust is entitled to deduct distributions of
taxable income such that it is not liable to pay income taxes, provided that its taxable income is fully
distributed to its unitholders. The Trust intends to qualify as a mutual fund trust that is not a SIFT trust and to
make distributions not less than the amount necessary to ensure that it will not be liable to pay income taxes.
The Master LP, together with the Investments LP and Developments LP are subsidiary partnerships of the
Trust (“Subsidiary Partnerships”). The Trust will own a majority of the Subsidiary Partnerships. The
Subsidiary Partnerships are not subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act. Each partner of the Subsidiary
Partnerships is required to include in computing the partner’s income for a particular taxation year the
partner’s share of the income or loss of such Subsidiary Partnerships for their fiscal years ending in or on the
partner’s taxation year-end, whether or not any income or loss is distributed to the partner in the taxation
year.
One of the conditions for a trust or partnership to be a SIFT trust or a SIFT partnership is that “investments”
(as defined in the Tax Act) in the trust or partnership must be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other
“public market” (as defined in the Tax Act). The Trust and the Subsidiary Partnerships have no current plans
for their units or other “investments” thereof to be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other “public
market”. In addition, the issuance and transfer of units of the Trust or the Subsidiary Partnerships will only be
made in a manner that would not cause such entities to be subject to SIFT tax. As a result, the Trust does not
account for current or deferred taxes.

4.

UNITHOLDER’S EQUITY
Unitholder’s equity represents the initial capital contribution to the Trust made by the settlor. The Trust is
authorized to issue an unlimited number of redeemable units of beneficial interest. Each Trust unit entitles the
Trust unitholder to the same rights and obligations as any other Trust unitholders and no Trust unitholder is
entitled to any privilege, priority or preference in relation to any other Trust unitholders.
Each Trust unitholder is entitled to participate equally with respect to any and all distributions of net income
and net realized capital gains, subject to an adjustment in a Trust unit's proportionate share as a result of the
date of first issue of a Trust unit in the first fiscal year of the Trust. On termination, the Trust unitholders of
record are entitled to receive all of the assets of the Trust remaining after payment of all debts, liabilities and
liquidation expenses of the Trust.
The Trust intends to make periodic distributions to Trust unitholders.
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REALnorth Opportunities Fund
Notes to Financial Statement
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5.

MANAGEMENT AND OTHER SERVICES
REALnorth Opportunities Inc. (the “Master GP”) is the general partner of the Master LP. The Trust is
related to the Master GP by virtue of having officers and directors or trustees in common.
The Trust through the Master LP has entered into the Asset Management Agreement with Pure Commercial
Real Estate Advisors Inc. (“Pure Commercial”), whereby Pure Commercial will provide asset management,
administrative and reporting services to the Master LP. In consideration of these services, the Trust will pay
to Pure Commercial an annual asset management fee equal to 1.0% of the net asset value. Net asset value is
equal to the greater of the total gross cash proceeds from the Offering and the total purchase price of the
properties including all fees, expenses and cash reserves, less outstanding mortgage debt.
Since the Trust will invest in the Master LP, the Trust will indirectly be a limited partner in the Investments
LP and Developments LP. Trust unitholders are entitled, by way, and to the extent, of the Trust’s investment
in Master LP units to a minimum non-compounded annual return of 7% of the net equity then outstanding
and a return of capital before any amount is paid to the Master GP on account of the Master GP’s incentive
management interest.
In each period, the Master LP will distribute available cash flow and other receipts, as cash flow permits, as
follows:
(a) first, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, in an
amount equal to the minimum return. The minimum return will be calculated at 7% per annum on the
limited partners’ net equity on a cumulative, non-compounded basis such that in the years when the
minimum return is not available from cash flow, it will accumulate and be paid from cash flow in
subsequent years;
(b) second, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, in
repayment of their net equity;
(c) third, to the Master GP, an amount equal to the Master GP catch-up return. The Master GP catch-up
return means an allocation and distribution to be made, subject to the payment of the minimum return and
a full return of net equity, to the Master GP from the Master LP in an amount equal to 20/80ths of the
total payments made to the date of such allocation and distribution to the limited partners holding Master
LP units in respect of the minimum return, thereby providing the Master GP with a 20% share of the total
amounts allocated and distributed to the limited partners and Master GP by the Master LP up to such date;
(d) fourth, 80% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, and
20% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which, when aggregated with
all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a) and (d) is equal to (but not in
excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 10% annual return on their net equity;
(e) fifth, 70% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, and
30% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which, when aggregated with
all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses (a), (d), and (e) is equal to (but not in
excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 15% annual return on their net equity; and
(f) thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares,
and 35% to the Master GP.
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6.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Trust entered into an agency agreement dated December 22, 2014 pursuant to which it filed a prospectus
dated December 22, 2014 in each of the provinces of Canada, except Quebec, in connection with its initial
public offering (the “Offering”) to sell a minimum of 10,000 Trust units and a maximum of 30,000 Trust
units at a price of $1,000 per Trust unit. Costs relating to the Offering include agents’ fees of $60 per Trust
unit. The proceeds from the Offering will be used by the Trust to acquire Master LP units.
Pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement, the Master LP will ultimately bear all costs and
expenses in respect of the Offering.
Pursuant to the agency agreement, the agents will receive commissions equal to 6% of the gross proceeds of
the Offering. In consideration of ongoing services provided by the agents and sub-agents to the Trust, and as
a further incentive to the agents or any sub-agents, the Master GP has agreed to pay to the agents or any subagents a trailer fee equal to 10% of any amounts realized by the Master GP in respect of its incentive
management interest.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the General Partner of REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited
Partnership, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2014, the
consolidated statements of partners’ capital, income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the
period from formation on July 31, 2014 to September 30, 2014, and notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the consolidated financial
position of REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership as at September 30, 2014, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period from formation on July 31, 2014 to September
30, 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

(signed) KPMG
Chartered Accountants
December 22, 2014
Vancouver, Canada
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REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Expressed in Canadian dollars
As at September 30, 2014
September 30, 2014
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment property (note 4)

$

6,200,000

Current assets
Prepaid expenses
Amounts receivable
Cash

41,437
25,225
176,047
242,709

TOTAL ASSETS

$

6,442,709

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Mortgage payable (note 5)

$

4,478,137

Current liabilities
Mortgage payable - current portion (note 5)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

94,301
265,173
359,474

TOTAL LIABILITIES

4,837,611

PARTNERS' CAPITAL
Non-controlling interest (note 6)
General partner’s capital (note 7)
Limited partners' capital (note 7)

(75)
(75)
1,605,248

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL

$

6,442,709

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership by its general partner,
REALnorth Opportunities Inc.:
“Brian R. Canfield”
Brian R. Canfield

Director

“Stephen J. Evans”
Stephen J. Evans
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Director

REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership
Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital
Expressed in Canadian dollars

Contributions
Unit issuance costs
Net loss for the period

Limited Partners
Units
Amount
1,938
$ 1,802,340
(32,992)
(164,100)

Balance, September 30, 2014

1,938

$ 1,605,248
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General Partner
Units
Amount
1
$ 10
(85)
1

$ (75)

Non-controlling
Interest
Amount
$ 10
(85)

Total
Amount
$ 1,802,360
(32,992)
(164,270)

$ (75)

$ 1,605,098

REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership
Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Expressed in Canadian dollars
For the period from
July 31, 2014 to
September 30, 2014
REVENUES
Rental

$

OPERATING EXPENSES
Insurance
Management fees
Property taxes

34,009

552
460
8,558
9,570

NET RENTAL INCOME

24,439

NET FINANCE EXPENSE
Mortgage interest

9,004

NET OTHER EXPENSES
Fair value adjustments to investment property (note 4)
Professional fees

173,360
6,345
179,705

LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS BEFORE NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST
Non-controlling interest
LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD
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164,270
85
$

164,185

REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
Expressed in Canadian dollars
For the period from
July 31, 2014 to
September 30, 2014
Cash provided by (used in)
OPERATIONS
Loss for the period
Items not involving cash:
Fair value adjustments to investment property
Mortgage interest
Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Increase in receivables
Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

(164,270)
171,933
9,004
(25,225)
(41,437)
256,169
206,174

INVESTING
Acquisitions of investment properties

(6,371,933)

FINANCING
Mortgage proceeds received
Payment of mortgage transaction costs
Contributions from limited partners
Contributions from general partner
Contributions from non-controlling interest
Unit issuance costs

4,650,000
(77,562)
1,802,340
10
10
(32,992)
6,341,806

Change in cash during the period
Cash, beginning of period

176,047
-

CASH, END OF PERIOD

$

176,047

Significant non-cash transactions for the period ended September 30, 2014 consisted of the following:
 Accrued rental revenue in the amount of $(1,427) was included in the change of fair value of investment
property on the consolidated statement of cash flow.
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Notes to Financial Statement
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September 30, 2014
1.

LIMITED PARTNERSHIP INFORMATION
REALnorth Opportunities Master Limited Partnership (the “Master LP”) is a limited partnership formed
pursuant to and governed by the laws of British Columbia and created by the Master LP agreement on July
31, 2014. The Master LP’s head office is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia, V6C 3L2. The Master LP was established, among other things, to:
 acquire REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) Limited Partnership (the “Investments LP”) units and
REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) Limited Partnership (the “Developments LP”, together with
the Investments LP and the Master LP, the “Partnerships”) units; and
 temporarily hold cash and investments for the purposes of paying the expenses and liabilities of the
Master LP and making distributions to the holders of the Master LP units.
The general partner of the Master LP is REALnorth Opportunities Inc. (the “Master GP”), a corporation
incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act in British Columbia on February 25, 2014, having
its office at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L2.
The principal business of the Master LP is to invest the proceeds from the issuance of Master LP units in:
 Investments LP units - REALnorth Opportunities (Investments) GP Ltd. (the “Investments GP”) was
incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on June 19, 2014 and is engaged in
identifying investment opportunities in revenue-producing real estate located in northwestern Canada. In
order to take advantage of such investment opportunities, the Investments GP established the Investments
LP on August 28, 2014 pursuant to the laws of British Columbia for the purposes of owning and
operating a diversified portfolio of high quality, real estate investment trust (“REIT”) eligible revenueproducing properties in northwestern Canada (or proportionate interests in such properties). The principal
business of the Investments LP will be to issue Investments LP units, to invest the proceeds from such
issuance in the properties, and to own and operate such properties; and
 Developments LP units - REALnorth Opportunities (Developments) GP Ltd. (the “Developments GP”)
was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on August 29, 2014 and is
engaged in identifying investment opportunities in developing revenue-producing real estate located in
northwestern Canada. In order to take advantage of such investment opportunities, the Developments GP
established the Developments LP on August 29, 2014 pursuant to the laws of British Columbia for the
purposes of developing high quality REIT-eligible revenue-producing properties in northwestern Canada
(or proportionate interests in such properties). The principal business of the Developments LP will be to
issue Developments LP units, to invest the proceeds from such issuance in the properties, and to develop
such properties.
The allocation of the net proceeds received by the Master LP from the issuance of Master LP units between
Investments LP units and Developments LP units will be determined by the Master GP from time to time
based upon the individual economic fundamentals of the prospective investment opportunities.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
A. Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) incorporating
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”) and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2014, or issued and early adopted.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (continued)
B. Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
investment property which has been measured at fair value.
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Master LP’s
accounting policies. Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3(L).
C. Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Master LP’s
functional currency.
D. Presentation of financial statements
The Master LP uses a classified statement of financial position. The statement of financial position
distinguishes between current and non-current assets and liabilities. Current assets and liabilities are
those expected to be recovered or settled within twelve months of the reporting date and non-current
assets and liabilities are those where the recovery or settlement is expected to occur more than twelve
months from the reporting date. The Master LP will classify the consolidated statements of income (loss)
and comprehensive income (loss) using the function of expense method, which classifies expenses
according to their functions, such as costs of operation or administrative activities.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.
A. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Master LP and its
subsidiaries, over which the Master LP has control. Control exists when the Master LP has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities. The noncontrolling interest is included in the Master LP partners’ capital. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date that control commences and continue to be consolidated until the date that
control ceases.
On September 12, 2014, the Master LP invested $1,802,340 in the Investments LP, which results in the
Master LP having control of the Investments LP.
Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of
the Master LP and its interests in its subsidiary (99.95% interest in the Investments LP). REALnorth
Opportunities (Investments) GP Ltd. (the general partner of the Investments LP) owns one unit of the
Investments LP, representing the non-controlling interest of the Master LP.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
B. Property acquisitions and business combinations
Where property is acquired, management considers the substance of the agreement in determining
whether the acquisition represents an asset acquisition or a business combination. The basis of the
judgment is set out in note 3(L).
Where such acquisitions are not determined to be a business combination, they are treated as an asset
acquisition. The cost to acquire the property is allocated between the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their relative fair values at the acquisition date. Otherwise, acquisitions are
accounted for as a business combination.
C. Investment properties
Investment properties comprise property held to earn rental revenue or for capital appreciation or both.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost including acquisition costs. Acquisition costs include
transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to
the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value and related gains or
losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference between net disposal
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset on the date the transaction occurred. The Master LP defines
fair value to be the price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Therefore, the fair value of recently acquired
investment property would be the purchase price. Any subsequent valuations performed on an investment
property, after acquisition date, would be the new basis for the fair value recorded on the investment
property. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of
income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which they arise.
To avoid double counting assets, the Master LP includes the accrued rental revenue in the fair value of
investment property instead of recognizing it as a separate asset.
Investment property is derecognized when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or
disposal of investment property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income (loss) and
comprehensive income (loss) in the year of retirement or disposal.
D. Leases
The Master LP is the lessor in all leasing arrangements. Leases are classified according to the substance
of the transaction. Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership from the
Master LP to the lessees are accounted for as finance leases. The current lease of the Master LP is
operating lease.
E. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash consists of cash on hand and cash held at banks. Cash equivalents include short-term investments
with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date.
F. Revenue recognition
Rental revenue is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term subject to ultimate
collection being reasonably assured. Revenue includes recoveries of specified operating expenses, in
accordance with the terms of the lease agreements. Recoveries are recognized in the period in which the
related operating expense was incurred and collectability is reasonably assured.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
G. Finance income (expenses)
Finance income consists of interest earned on deposit from bank accounts, which is recognized in the
period in which it is earned.
Finance expense consists of mortgage interest, which is recognized in the period in which it is incurred.
H. Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair
value, and their subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described below. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or issued, their
characteristics and the Master LP’s designation of such instruments.
The Master LP classifies its financial instruments as follows:
Cash
Amounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Mortgage payable

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Amounts receivable are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. These assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are accounted for at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method, less any impairment losses.
Non-derivative financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and mortgage
payable. These liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost,
using the effective interest rate method.
I. Fair value
The Master LP measures investment properties at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. In
certain circumstances, the initial fair value may be based on other observable current market transactions,
without modification or on a valuation technique using market based inputs.
Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position are categorized in
accordance with the following levels:
 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or valuation techniques where
significant inputs are based on observable market data.
 Level 3: Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.
Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
J. Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, the Master LP assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired. If a financial asset carried at amortized cost is impaired, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The loss is
recognized in impairment expense.
K. Income taxes
The Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) contains rules regarding the taxation of certain types of
publicly listed or traded trusts and partnerships in a manner similar to corporations and which tax certain
distributions from such trusts and partnerships as taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian corporation
(the “SIFT Rules”). The SIFT Rules apply to any trust or partnership that is a “SIFT trust” or “SIFT
partnership” (each defined in the Tax Act) and its investors.
The Partnerships are not subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act. Each partner of the Partnerships is
required to include in computing the partner’s income for a particular taxation year the partner’s share of
the income or loss of such Partnerships for their fiscal years ending in or on the partner’s taxation yearend, whether or not any income or loss is distributed to the partner in the taxation year.
One of the conditions for a trust or partnership to be a SIFT trust or a SIFT partnership is that
“investments” (as defined in the Tax Act) in the trust or partnership must be listed or traded on a stock
exchange or other “public market” (as defined in the Tax Act). The Partnerships have no current plans
for their units or other “investments” thereof to be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other “public
market”. In addition, the issuance and transfer of units of the Partnerships will only be made in a manner
that would not cause such entities to be subject to SIFT tax. As a result, the Master LP does not account
for current or deferred taxes.
L. Significant accounting judgments and estimates
Judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
a. Judgments
In the process of applying the Master LP’s accounting policies, management has made the following
critical judgments, which have the most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements:
(i) Asset acquisitions
The Master LP acquires individual real estate properties. At the time of acquisition, the Master LP
considers whether or not the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business. The Master LP
accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities is
acquired in addition to the property. More specifically, consideration is made to the extent to
which significant processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of ancillary services
provided by the property (e.g., maintenance, cleaning, security, bookkeeping, etc.).
When the acquisition of a property does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an
acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets
and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is
recognized.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
L. Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)
a. Judgments (continued)
All acquisitions to date have been determined to be asset acquisitions.
(ii) Lease contracts
The Master LP has entered into a property lease on its investment property portfolio. The Master
LP makes judgments in determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases with long
contractual terms, are operating or finance leases. The Master LP must assess each lease
separately against land and building. The Master LP has determined that its sole lease of land and
building is an operating lease.
b. Estimates
The significant areas of estimation include the following:
(i) Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of the investment properties is determined by management, using recognized
valuation techniques supported, in certain instances, by independent real estate valuation experts.
The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates such as
future cash flows from assets (based on factors such as tenant profiles, future revenue streams and
overall repair and condition of the property), capitalization rates and discount rates applicable to
those assets. These estimates are based on market conditions existing at the reporting date.
The following approaches, either individually or in combination, are used by management,
together with the appraisals, in their determination of the fair value of the investment properties:
The Income Approach derives market value by estimating the future cash flows that will be
generated by the property and then applying an appropriate capitalization rate or discount rate to
those cash flows. This approach can utilize the direct capitalization method and/or the discounted
cash flow analysis.
The Direct Comparison Approach involves comparing or contrasting the recent sale, listing or
optioned prices of properties comparable to the subject and adjusting for any significant
differences between them.
Management reviews each appraisal obtained and ensures the assumptions used by the appraisers
are reasonable and the final fair value amount reflects those assumptions used in the various
approaches above. Where an appraisal is not obtained at the reporting date, management reviews
the approaches described above, for each investment property, and estimates the fair value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
M. Future accounting policy changes
a. Financial instruments: classification and measurement
The IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which will replace IAS 39, Financial
Instrument: Recognition and Measurements (“IAS 39”), on November 12, 2009. The new standard
provides guidance on the classification and measurement of financial asset and financial liabilities. In
November 2013, the IASB amended IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures,
to include the new hedge accounting requirements. In July 2014, the IASB completed the final
element – hedge accounting with enhanced disclosures about risk management activities. The new
standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier
adoption permitted. The Master LP has not yet reviewed the impact of IFRS 9 on the consolidated
financial statements.
b. Revenue recognition
The IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) in May 2014. The
new standard provides a comprehensive five-step revenue recognition model for all contracts with
customers and requires management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect
revenue recognition. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017,
with earlier adoption permitted. The Master LP has not yet reviewed the impact of IFRS 15 on the
consolidated financial statements.

4.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
On September 12, 2014, the Master LP, through the Investments LP, completed the acquisition of 3851 22nd
Avenue, Prince George, British Columbia (“22nd Avenue”), for a purchase price of $6,200,000 plus standard
closing costs and adjustments. 22nd Avenue is a 39,494 square foot industrial property.
The balance of the investment property as at September 30, 2014 is determined as follows:

Investment property purchase price
Acquisition costs
Accrued rental revenue
Fair value adjustments to investment property

September 30, 2014
$
6,200,000
171,933
1,427
(173,360)

Balance, September 30, 2014

$

6,200,000

The fair value of the investment property has been determined based on market value. As set out in note 3, in
arriving at their estimates of market values, management and the independent appraiser have used their
market knowledge and professional judgment and did not rely solely on historical transactional comparisons.
The appraisal was performed by an accredited independent appraiser with recognized and relevant
professional qualifications and with recent experience in the location and category of the investment property
being valued. Management reviews each appraisal and ensures that the assumptions used are reasonable and
the final fair value amount reflects those assumptions, which are used in the determination of the fair market
values of the properties.
Where the Master LP does not obtain an appraisal for a specific investment property at the reporting date,
management reviews specific indicators (i.e. market conditions, discount rate changes, etc.) and determines
whether a change in fair value has occurred.
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4.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
Management estimates the fair value of each investment property using direct capitalization income method.
The fair value is determined by applying a capitalization rate to stabilized net operating income. The result is
further adjusted for potential leasing costs, capital expenditures, and costs to stabilize the income. Since
significant adjustments are made to the key inputs – capitalization rate and stabilized net operating income,
the Master LP measures the fair value of investment property under level 3 fair value hierarchy.
September 30, 2014
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
$
- $
- $6,200,000

Investment properties

The significant assumptions made relating to the valuation are set out below:
September 30, 2014
Weighted average
Range
7.00%
6.75% - 7.00%

Capitalization rate

Valuations determined by direct capitalization income method are most sensitive to changes in capitalization
rates. The table below summarizes the sensitivity of the fair value of investment property to changes in the
capitalization rate as at September 30, 2014.
Change in capitalization rate
- 0.75%
- 0.50%
- 0.25%
September 30, 2014
+ 0.25%
+ 0.50%
+ 0.75%

5.

Fair value
$ 6,910,000
6,640,000
6,390,000
6,200,000
5,950,000
5,750,000
5,570,000

Change in fair value
$ 710,000
440,000
190,000
(250,000)
(450,000)
(630,000)

Percentage change
11.45%
7.10%
3.06%
(4.03%)
(7.26%)
(10.16%)

MORTGAGE PAYABLE
On September 12, 2014, the Master LP through the Investments LP financed the acquisition of 22nd Avenue
with cash and a term loan in the amount of $4,650,000 bearing interest at 3.72% and maturing in 2019. The
term loan is secured by a mortgage on the property and an indemnity by Mr. Stephen Evans in the amount of
$930,000.
Mortgage payable is recorded at amortized cost and bears a weighted effective interest rate of 3.78% as at
September 30, 2014. Mortgage payable is secured by charges on the Master LP’s investment property.
The amount of mortgage payable on September 30, 2014 was $4,572,438. Included in mortgage payable is
the related unamortized mortgage transaction cost of $77,562 as at September 30, 2014, which is amortized
over the term of the mortgage, using the effective interest rate method.
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5.

MORTGAGE PAYABLE (continued)
Principal repayments, as of September 30, 2014, based on scheduled repayments to be made on the mortgage
payable over the next five years are as follows:
Remaining in 2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

$

$

6.

7,591
116,155
120,550
125,112
129,846
4,150,746
4,650,000

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
On September 12, 2014, the Master LP purchased 1,938 Investments LP units at $930 per unit for total
amount of $1,802,340, which results in the Master LP having control of the Investments LP. Since the
Investments GP contributed $10 to acquire one unit of the Investments LP, it represents the non-controlling
interest of the Master LP.
According to the Investments LP agreement, the net income or loss is allocated between the Investments LP
and the Investments GP as following:
Allocation of Net Income/Taxable Income
The net income/taxable Income of the Investments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following
basis:
a. first, to each of the partners, pro rata an amount, if any, in proportion to and to the extent of any net
loss/taxable loss previously allocated to each such partner in the previous fiscal years, less the cumulative
amount allocated to each such partner in previous fiscal years; and
b. second, the balance:
(i) 0.01% to the Investments GP, to a maximum of $100; and
(ii) 99.99% to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their proportionate share.
Allocation of Net Loss/Taxable Loss
The net loss/taxable loss of the Investments LP shall be allocated among the partners on the following basis:
a. to the limited partners, pro rata in accordance with their proportionate share, an amount which, when
aggregated with all previous allocations, is equal to but not in excess of the equity account of such limited
partners; and
b. to the Investments GP, in an amount equal to the balance of the net loss/taxable loss.
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7.

PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
The capital of the Master LP consists of an unlimited number of units of the Master LP and the interest held
by the Master GP. The Master GP has made a capital contribution of $10 to the Master LP and has no further
obligation to contribute capital. The initial limited partners purchased 1,072 units at $930 per unit for total of
$996,960 on July 31, 2014 and purchased additional 866 units at $930 per unit for a total of $805,380 on
September 11, 2014. The limited partners have the rights to exercise one vote for each unit held by the limited
partners in respect of all matters to be decided by the limited partners. No unit has any preference or right in
any circumstances over any other unit.
Cash flow distributions
In each period, available cash flow and other receipts shall be distributed, as cash flow permits, as follows:
a. first, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, in an
amount equal to the minimum return. The minimum return will be calculated at 7% per annum on the
limited partners’ net equity on a cumulative, non-compounded basis such that in the years when the
minimum return is not available from cash flow, it will accumulate and be paid from cash flow in
subsequent years;
b. second, to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, in
repayment of their net equity;
c. third, to the Master GP, an amount equal to the Master GP catch-up return. The Master GP catch-up
return means an allocation and distribution to be made, subject to the payment of the minimum return and
a full return of net equity, to the Master GP from the Master LP in an amount equal to 20/80ths of the
total payments made to the date of such allocation and distribution to the limited partners holding Master
LP units in respect of the minimum return, thereby providing the Master GP with a 20% share of the total
amounts allocated and distributed to the limited partners and Master GP by the Master LP up to such date;
d. fourth, 80% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, and
20% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which, when aggregated with
all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses a and d is equal to (but not in excess
of) a cumulative, non-compounded 10% annual return on their net equity;
e. fifth, 70% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares, and
30% to the Master GP, until the limited partners have received an amount which, when aggregated with
all previous distributions to the limited partners pursuant to clauses a, d, and e is equal to (but not in
excess of) a cumulative, non-compounded 15% annual return on their net equity; and
f. thereafter, 65% to the limited partners, pro rata as a group in accordance with their proportionate shares,
and 35% to the Master GP.

8.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Master LP defines capital as the aggregate of partners’ capital and mortgage payable. The Master LP’s
objectives in managing capital are to maintain a level of capital that complies with investment and debt
restrictions pursuant to the initial offering prospectus, complies with existing debt covenants, funds its
business strategies and builds long-term partners’ value. The Master LP’s capital structure is approved by the
board of directors of the Master GP through its periodic reviews.
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8.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
The Master LP monitors on a monthly basis the “loan to value ratio”, which is defined as overall mortgage
loans divided by the purchase price of the properties plus the amount of any property improvement reserve
account approved by the lenders as a whole and serves as an indicator of the Master LP’s financial leverage.
The maximum loan to value ratio is targeted at 70% (as indicated in the Trust’s (herein defined) prospectus
dated December 22, 2014). However, if deemed appropriate by the Master GP, having regard to all of the
circumstances including the potential value of the properties identified for investment, the Master GP may
cause the overall loan to value ratio of the mortgage loans to exceed this threshold. The Master LP’s loan to
value ratio was 74% as at September 30, 2014. The Master LP was in compliance with all restrictions during
the period ended September 30, 2014.

9.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value of financial instruments
For certain of the Master LP’s financial instruments, including cash, amounts receivable, and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate their fair values due to the immediate or
short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
The fair values of amounts due for mortgage payable are determined by discounting the future contractual
cash flow under current financing arrangements at discount rates which represent borrowing rates presently
available to the Master LP for loans with similar terms and maturity and measured under level 2 fair value
hierarchy since the discount rates are either provided by the lenders or are observable on the open market.
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Master LP’s financial instruments:

Financial instruments
Mortgage payable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Amounts receivable
Cash

10.

Fair value
hierarchy
Level 2
Level 2
Level 2
Level 1

September 30, 2014
Carrying Amount
Fair Value
$ 4,572,438
$ 4,650,000
265,173
265,173
25,225
25,225
176,047
176,047

RISK MANAGEMENT
The board of directors of the Master GP has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
the Master LP’s risk management framework. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions and in response to the Master LP’s activities. In the normal course of
business, the Master LP is exposed to a number of risks from its use of financial instruments. These risks
include, but are not limited to, credit risk, interest risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, environmental risk and
limited partnership unit redemption risk.
In the normal course of business, the Master LP through the Investments LP is exposed to a number of risks
from its use of financial instruments. These risks and the actions taken to manage them are as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Master LP if a tenant or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Master LP’s
receivables from tenants and investment securities.
The Master LP’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
tenant. Currently, the Master LP is facing higher credit risk since it has only one tenant. The Master LP
will minimize the risk by checking tenants’ credit histories, requesting security deposits and initiating a
prompt collection process when the Master LP acquires more properties.
b. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Master LP is exposed to
interest rate risk from the interest rate differentials between the market rate and the rates used on these
financial instruments.
The Master LP manages its financial instruments and interest rate risks based on its cash flow needs and
with a view to minimizing interest expense. The interest rate on the current mortgage is fixed. Whenever
possible, the Master LP tries to obtain fixed rate mortgages. Therefore, the Master LP is not exposed to
significant interest rate risk.
c. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Master LP will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. Real estate property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally
fluctuating in relation to demand for and the perceived desirability of such investments. Such illiquidity
may tend to limit the Master LP’s ability to vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing economic
or investment conditions. If the Master LP were required to liquidate a real estate property investment,
the proceeds to the Master LP might be significantly less than the aggregate carrying value of such
property.
The Master LP’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient cash available
to meet its liabilities when due. In addition, the Master LP intends to refinance any mortgages which
mature within six months.

MORTGAGE PAYABLE

Nominal interest rate

22nd Avenue
Total mortgage principal payable
Unamortized mortgage transaction cost
Total carrying value of mortgage payable

3.72%

Year of maturity
2019

September 30, 2014
Face value
$

$

4,650,000
4,650,000
(77,562)
4,572,438

d. Currency risk
The Master LP is not exposed to currency risk since there are no foreign subsidiaries and the Master LP
does not enter into foreign currency transactions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
e. Environmental risk
The Master LP is subject to various federal, provincial and municipal laws relating to the environment.
The Master LP’s ongoing environmental management program includes regular reviews of its tenant
business uses and inspections of its properties to ensure compliance, as well as appropriate testing by
qualified environmental consultants when required. A Phase I environmental audit was performed on
properties considered for acquisition.

11.

LEASES
The Master LP through the Investments LP has entered into a lease agreement with the tenant of 22nd
Avenue. The lease is for seven years and the tenant has the option to renew for two terms of three years each
at prevailing market rates.
Future minimum rental revenue receivable under non-cancellable operating lease is as follows:
As at September 30, 2014
$
442,060
1,858,438
985,901
$ 3,286,399

Within one year
After one year, but not more than five years
More than five years

12.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with Pure Commercial Real Estate Advisors Inc.
Pure Commercial Real Estate Advisors Inc. (“Pure Commercial”) is related to the Master LP by virtue of
having officers and directors in common. The Master LP has entered into the Asset Management Agreement
with Pure Commercial, whereby Pure Commercial will provide asset management, administrative and
reporting services to the Master LP. In consideration of these services, the Master LP will pay to Pure
Commercial an annual asset management fee equal to 1.0% of the net asset value. Net asset value is equal to
the greater of the total gross cash proceeds from the Offering (here defined) and the total purchase price of
the properties including all fees, expenses and cash reserves, less outstanding mortgage debt.
The Master LP also agrees to pay Pure Commercial property management fees which are collected from
tenants. As at September 30, 2014, $460 was owing to Pure Commercial.
Transactions with Triple E Ventures Inc.
Triple E Ventures Inc. (“Triple E”) is related to the Master LP by virtue of having officers and directors in
common. Triple E paid deposits for the acquisition of the property and the commitment fee for the mortgage
on the property in the aggregate amount of $123,250 in September 2014. This amount was still outstanding
as at September 30, 2014.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
REALnorth Opportunities Fund (the “Trust”) entered into an agency agreement dated December 22, 2014
pursuant to which it filed a prospectus dated December 22, 2014 in each of the provinces of Canada, except
Quebec, in connection with its initial public offering (the “Offering”) to sell a minimum of 10,000 Trust
units and a maximum of 30,000 Trust units at a price of $1,000 per Trust unit. Costs relating to the Offering
include agents’ fees of $60 per Trust unit. The proceeds of the Offering will be used by the Trust to acquire
Master LP units.
Pursuant to the Cost Sharing and Recovery Agreement, the Master LP will ultimately bear all costs and
expenses in respect of the Offering.
Pursuant to the agency agreement, the agents will receive commission equal to 6% of the gross proceeds of
the Offering. In consideration of ongoing services provided by the agents and sub-agents to the Trust, and as
a further incentive to the agents or any sub-agents, the Master GP has agreed to pay to the agents or any subagents a trailer fee equal to 10% of any amounts realized by the Master GP in respect of its incentive
management interest.
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APPENDIX A
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
PURPOSE
REALnorth Opportunities Fund (the “Trust”) shall appoint an audit committee (the “Committee”) to assist the
board of trustees (the “Board”) of the Trust in fulfilling its responsibilities of oversight and supervision of the
accounting and financial reporting practices and procedures of the Trust and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Entities”), the adequacy of internal accounting controls and procedures, and the quality and
integrity of the financial statements of the Entities. In addition, the Committee is responsible for directing the
auditors’ examination of specific areas, for the selection of the independent auditors of the Entities and for the
approval of all non-audit services for which the auditors of the Entities may be engaged.
I.

STRUCTURE AND OPERATIONS

The Committee shall be comprised of three members, each of whom shall be a trustee of the Trust and a majority of
whom shall be “independent” within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52110”).
Each member of the Committee shall satisfy the “financial literacy” requirement of NI 52-110, by having the ability
to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of the issues that
can reasonably be expected to be raised by the financial statements of the Trust.
The members of the Committee shall be annually appointed by the Board and shall serve until such member’s
successor is duly elected and qualified or until such member’s earlier resignation or removal. The members of the
Committee may be removed, with or without cause, by a majority of the Board.
II.

CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE

Unless the Board elects a Chair of the Committee, the members of the Committee shall designate a Chair by the
majority vote of the full Committee membership.
The Chair of the Committee shall:

III.

(a)

Call and conduct the meetings of the Committee;

(b)

Be entitled to vote to resolve any ties;

(c)

Prepare and forward to members of the Committee the agenda for each meeting of the Committee,
and include, in the agenda, any items proposed for inclusion in the agenda by any member of the
Committee;

(d)

Review with the acting Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Trust and the auditors for the Trust
any matters referred to the Chair by the CFO or the auditors of the Trust;

(e)

Appoint a secretary, who need not be a member of the Committee, to take minutes of the meetings
of the Committee; and

(f)

Act in a manner that the Committee meetings are conducted in an efficient, effective and focused
manner.

MEETINGS

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its goal to foster
open communication, the Committee shall periodically meet with management and the external auditors in separate
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sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee or each of these groups believes should be discussed privately.
The Committee may meet privately with outside counsel of its choosing and the acting CFO of the Trust, as
necessary. In addition, the Committee shall meet with the external auditors and management quarterly to review the
Trust’s financial statements in a manner consistent with that outlined herein.
The Committee may invite to its meetings any partners of the Trust, management and such other persons as it deems
appropriate in order to carry out its responsibilities. The Committee may exclude from its meetings any persons it
deems appropriate in order to carry out its responsibilities.
A majority of the Committee members, but not less than two, shall constitute a quorum. A majority of members
present at any meeting at which a quorum is present may act on behalf of the Committee. The Committee may meet
by telephone or videoconference and may take action by unanimous written consent with respect to matters that may
be acted upon without a formal meeting.
The Committee shall maintain minutes or other records of meetings and activities of the Committee.
Notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing or electronic communication to each member
of the Committee at least 24 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting provided however, that a member may in
any manner waive a notice of a meeting. Attendance of a member at a meeting is a waiver of notice of the meeting,
except where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on
the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called.
IV.

RESPONSIBILITIES, DUTIES AND AUTHORITY

The following functions shall be the common recurring activities of the Committee in carrying out its
responsibilities outlined herein. These functions should serve as a guide with the understanding that the Committee
may carry out additional functions and adopt additional policies and procedures as may be appropriate in light of
changing business, legislative, regulatory, legal and other conditions. The Committee shall also carry out any other
responsibilities and duties delegated to it by the Board from time to time related to the purposes of this Committee.
The Committee in discharging its oversight role is empowered to investigate any matter of interest or concern that
the Committee deems appropriate. In this regard, the Committee shall have the authority to retain outside counsel,
accounting or other advisors for this purpose, including authority to approve the fees payable to such advisors and
other terms of retention. In addition, the Committee shall have the authority to communicate directly with both
external and internal auditors of the Trust.
The Committee shall be given full access to the Board, management, employees and others, directly and indirectly
responsible for financial reporting, and independent accountants, as necessary, to carry out these responsibilities.
While acting within the scope of this stated purpose, the Committee shall have all the authority of the Board.
The Committee shall be responsible for assessing the range of risks that the Board shall focus on, and make
recommendations to the Board about how appropriate responsibilities for continuing to identify, monitor and
manage these risks are to be delegated. In addition, the Committee shall encourage continuous improvement of, and
foster adherence to, the Trust’s financial policies, procedures and practices at all levels in the organization; and
provide an avenue of communication among the independent auditors, management and the Board.
Absent actual knowledge to the contrary (which shall promptly reported to the Board), each member of the
Committee shall be entitled to rely on: (i) the integrity of those persons or organizations within and outside the Trust
which it receives information; (ii) the accuracy of the financial and other information provided to the Committee by
such persons or organizations; and (iii) representations made by management and the external auditors, as to any
information technology, internal audit and other non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Trust and
its subsidiaries.
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V.

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACTIVITIES

A.

Document Reports/Reviews

1.

Annual Financial Statements. The Committee shall review with management and the external auditors,
both together and separately, prior to public dissemination:
(a)

the annual audited consolidated financial statements;

(b)

the external auditor’s review of the annual consolidated financial statements and their report;

(c)

any significant changes that were required in the external audit plan;

(d)

any significant issues raised with management during the course of the audit, including any
restrictions on the scope of activities or access to information; and

(e)

those matters related to the conduct of the audit that are required to be discussed under generally
accepted auditing standards applicable to the Trust.

Following completion of the matters contemplated above, the Committee shall make a recommendation to
the Board with respect to the approval of the annual financial statements with such changes contemplated
and further recommended, as the Committee considers necessary.
2.

Interim Financial Statements. The Committee shall review with management and the external auditors,
both together and separately, prior to public dissemination, the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements of the Trust, including a discussion with the external auditors of those matters required to be
discussed under generally accepted auditing standards applicable to the Trust.

3.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. The Committee shall review with management and the external
auditors, both together and separately prior to public dissemination, the annual and interim Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”).

4.

Approval of Annual MD&A, Interim Financial Statements and Interim MD&A. The Committee shall make
a recommendation to the Board with respect to the approval of the annual MD&A with such changes
contemplated and further recommended by the Committee as the Committee considers necessary. In
addition, the Committee shall approve the interim financial statements and interim MD&A of the Trust, if
the Board has delegated such function to the Committee. If the Committee has not been delegated this
function, the Committee shall make a recommendation to the Board with respect to the approval of the
interim financial statements and interim MD&A with such changes contemplated and further recommended
as the Committee considers necessary.

5.

Press Releases. With respect to press releases by the Trust:

6.

(a)

The Committee shall review the Trust’s financial statements, MD&A and annual and interim
earnings press releases before the Trust publicly discloses this information.

(b)

The Committee shall review with management, prior to public dissemination, the annual and
interim earnings press releases (paying particular attention to the use of any “pro forma” or
“adjusted non-IFRS” information) as well as financial information and earnings guidance provided
to analysts and rating agencies.

Reports and Regulatory Returns. The Committee shall review and discuss with management, and the
external auditors to the extent the Committee deems appropriate, such reports and regulatory returns of the
Trust as may be specified by law.
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7.

Other Financial Information. The Committee shall review the financial information included in any
prospectus, annual information form or information circular with the management and the external auditors,
both together and separately, prior to public dissemination, and shall make a recommendation to the Board
with respect to the approval of such prospectus, annual information form or information circular with such
changes contemplated and further recommended as the Committee considers necessary.

B.

Financial Reporting Processes

1.

Establishment and Assessment of Procedures. The Committee shall satisfy itself that adequate procedures
are in place for the review of the public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the
financial statements of the Trust and assess the adequacy of these procedures annually.

2.

Application of Accounting Principles. The Committee shall assure itself that the external auditors are
satisfied that the accounting estimates and judgements made by management, and their selection of
accounting principles reflect an appropriate application of such accounting principles.

3.

Practices and Policies. The Committee shall review with management and the external auditors, together
and separately, the principal accounting practices and policies of the Trust.

C.

External Auditors

1.

Oversight and Responsibility. In respect of the external auditors of the Trust:
(a)

The Committee shall recommend to the Board the external auditors nominated for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the
issuer; and the compensation of the external auditors.

(b)

The Committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors engaged for
the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest
services for the Trust, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the
external auditors regarding financial reporting.

2.

Reporting. The external auditors shall report directly to the Committee and are ultimately accountable to
the Committee.

3.

Performance and Review. The Committee shall annually review the performance of the external auditors
and recommend to the Board the appointment of the external auditors or approve any discharge of the
external auditors when circumstances warrant, for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or
performing other audit, review or attest services for the Trust.

4.

Annual Audit Plan. The Committee shall review with the external auditors and management, together and
separately, the overall scope of the annual audit plan and the resources the external auditors will devote to
the audit. The Committee shall annually review and approve the fees to be paid to the external auditors with
respect to the annual audit.

5.

Non-Audit Services
(a)

“Non-audit services” means all services performed by the external auditors other than audit
services. The Committee shall pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the REIT LP or
its subsidiaries entities by the REIT LP’s external auditor and permit all non-audit services, other
than non-audit services where:
(i)

the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services that were not pre-approved is
reasonably expected to constitute no more than five per cent of the total amount of fees
paid by the issuer and its subsidiary entities to the Trust’s external auditor during the
fiscal year in which the services are provided;
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(ii)

the issuer or the subsidiary entity of the Trust, as the case may be, did not recognize the
services as non-audit services at the time of the engagement; and

(iii)

the services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee and approved, prior
to the completion of the audit, by the Committee or by one or more of its members to
whom authority to grant such approvals had been delegated by the Committee.

(b)

The Committee may delegate to one or members of the Committee the authority to grant such preapprovals for non-audited services. The decisions of such member(s) regarding approval of “nonaudit” services shall be reported by such member(s) to the full Committee at its first scheduled
meeting following such pre-approval.

(c)

The Committee shall adopt specific policies and procedures for the engagement of the non-audit
services if:
(i)

the pre-approval policies and procedures are detailed as to the particular services;

(ii)

the Committee is informed of each non-audit service; and

(iii)

the procedures do not include delegation of the Committee’s responsibilities to
management.

6.

Independence Review. The Committee shall review and assess the qualifications, performance and
independence of the external auditors, including the requirements relating to such independence of the law
governing the Trust. At least annually, the Committee shall receive from and review with the external
auditors, their written statement delineating all relationships with the Trust and, if necessary, recommend
that the Board takes appropriate action to satisfy themselves of the external auditors’ independence and
accountability to the Committee.

D.

Reports to Board

1.

Reports. In addition to such specific reports contemplated elsewhere in these Terms, the Committee shall
report regularly to the Board regarding such matters, including:
(a)

with respect to any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the financial
statements of the Trust, compliance with legal or regulatory requirements by the Trust, or the
performance and independence of the external auditors of the Trust;

(b)

following meetings of the Committee; and

(c)

with respect to such other matters as are relevant to the Committee’s discharge of its
responsibilities.

2.

Recommendations. In addition to such specific recommendations contemplated elsewhere herein, the
Committee shall provide such recommendations as the Committee may deem appropriate. The report to the
Board may take the form of an oral report by the Chair or any other member of the Committee designated
by the Committee to make such report.

E.

Whistle-Blowing

1.

Procedures. The Committee shall establish procedures for:
(a)

the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Trust regarding questionable
accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and
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(b)

2.

the confidential, anonymous submission by employees and of concerns regarding questionable
accounting or auditing matters.

Notice to Employees.
(a)

To comply with the above, the Committee shall ensure each of the Entities advises all employees,
by way of a written code of business conduct and ethics (the “Code”), or if such Code has not yet
been adopted by the respective board, by way of a written or electronic notice, that any employee
who reasonably believes that questionable accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing
matters have been employed by the Entities, or their external auditors is strongly encouraged to
report such concerns by way of communication directly to the Chair. Matters referred may be done
so anonymously and in confidence.

(b)

None of the Entities shall take or allow any reprisal against any employee for, in good faith,
reporting questionable accounting, internal accounting, or auditing matters. Any such reprisal shall
itself be considered a very serious breach of this policy.

(c)

All reported violations shall be investigated by the Committee following rules of procedure and
process as shall be recommended by outside counsel.

F.

General

1.

Access to Counsel. The Committee shall review, periodically, with outside counsel of its choosing, any
legal matter that could have a significant impact on the financial statements, the Trust’s compliance
policies and any material reports or inquiries received from regulators or governmental agencies.

2.

Hiring of Partners and Employees of External Auditors. The Committee shall annually review and approve
the Trust’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present
and former external auditors of the Trust.

3.

General. The Committee shall perform such other duties and exercise such powers as may, from time to
time, be assigned or vested in the Committee by the Board, and such other functions as may be required of
an audit committee by law, regulations or applicable stock exchange rules.

VI.

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Evaluation
1.

The Committee shall perform a review and evaluation, annually, of the performance of the Committee and
its members, including a review of the compliance of the Committee with these Terms. In addition, the
Committee shall evaluate, annually, the adequacy of these Terms and recommend any proposed changes to
the Board.

2.

The Committee shall annually review transactions involving directors and officers, including a review of
travel expenses and entertainment expenses, related party transactions and any conflicts of interests.

3.

Management shall be required to provide the Committee, at least annually, a report on internal controls,
including reasonable assurance that such controls are adequate to facilitate reliable and timely financial
information. The Committee shall also review and follow-up on any areas of internal control weakness
identified by the external auditors with the auditors and management.

140

CERTIFICATE OF THE TRUST AND THE PROMOTER
DATED: December 22, 2014
This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this
prospectus as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces of Canada except Québec.

REALNORTH OPPORTUNITIES FUND

(Signed) BRIAN R. CANFIELD
Acting Chief Executive Officer

(Signed) STEPHEN EVANS
Acting Chief Financial Officer

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

(Signed) WILLIAM RANDALL
Trustee

(Signed) ANTONY KALLA
Trustee

REALNORTH OPPORTUNITIES INC.
(as Promoter)

(Signed) BRIAN R. CANFIELD
President and Director

(Signed) STEPHEN EVANS
Chair of the Board and Director

C-1

CERTIFICATE OF THE AGENTS
DATED: December 22, 2014
To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all
material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus as required by the securities legislation of each of
the provinces of Canada except Québec.

DUNDEE SECURITIES LTD.

SCOTIA CAPITAL INC.

(Signed) BRAD CUTSEY

(Signed) BRYCE STEWART

BMO NESBITT BURNS INC.

CANACCORD GENUITY CORP.

(Signed) ROBIN G. TESSIER

(Signed) JUSTIN BOSA

GMP SECURITIES L.P.
(Signed) ANDREW KIGUEL

NATIONAL BANK FINANCIAL INC.
(Signed) TIMOTHY EVANS

BURGEONVEST BICK SECURITIES LTD.

RAYMOND JAMES LTD.

(Signed) VILMA JONES

(Signed) LUCAS ATKINS

INTEGRAL WEALTH SECURITIES LIMITED
(Signed) JOHN GIBSON

C-2

